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Financial Highlights

MBHE

Operating Results
Revenue

— e-print segment

— e-banner segment

Operating profit before other losses
including impairment losses on
financial assets — net

— e-print segment
— e-banner segment

Other (losses)/gain (including
impairment losses on
financial assets) — net

— e-print segment

— e-banner segment

Operating profit

— e-print segment

— e-banner segment

Profit for the period attributable to

— equity holders of company

— non-controlling interests

Net profit margin %
(Attributable to equity holders of
company)

Gross profit margin %

Basic earnings per share (HK Cents)

Financial Position
Total assets

Total equity

Cash and cash equivalents
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For the year ended 31 March
BE=A=+—HLEE

2020

—E_EF
HK$’million
BERBTT

365.8
282.3
83.5

15.5
14.5
1.0

(9.6)
(9.6)
0.0
5.9

4.9
1.0

5.7
(0.2)

1.6%
34.8%

1.03

327.6
230.0

101.5

2019
—E-NF
HK$ million
BEBTT

408.7
3141
94.6

20.9
211
0.2)

17.4
0.2)

4.3%
32.7%

3.16

310.7
234.5

123.7

-10.5%
-10.1%
-11.7%

-25.8%
-31.3%
-600.0%

405.3%
284.0%
-100.0%
-68.9%

-73.7%
150.0%

-67.2%
0.0%

-67.4%

5.4%

-1.9%

-17.9%



Operating Results

The financial year ended 31 March 2020 was a challenging
year for eprint Group Limited (the “Company”, together with its
subsidiaries, the “Group”) as we were facing different challenges
during the year including keen competition within the industries,
increasing operating costs in Hong Kong, the novel coronavirus
disease (“COVID-19”) outbreak (the “Coronavirus Outbreak”) and
macroeconomic downturn.

COVID-19 is spreading globally and in Hong Kong during the last
quarter of the financial year. The Coronavirus Outbreak and the
macroeconomic downturn had adversely impacted the overall
market demand which resulted in the decrease in sales volume
compared with same period of last year. Although we were facing a
challenging business environment, we have taken actions to control
the operating costs and explored different business opportunities
in order to maintain our profitability and maximize the stakeholders’
interest.

Both paper printing segment and banner printing segment
reported a decrease in revenue of approximately 10.1% and 11.7%
respectively during the year ended 31 March 2020. Although
the overall market demand and sales volume being affected by
the deteriorating business environment, we continuously closely
monitored the situation and taken actions to minimize the impact.
With the drop in the sales orders, we changed our strategy by
eliminating the outsourced processing to subcontractors, as a
result, the subcontracting costs of the group decreased from
approximately HK$146.2 million for the year ended 31 March 2019
to approximately HK$111.3 million for the year ended 31 March
2020, representing a decrease of approximately HK$34.9 million or
24%. By implementing the cost control measures, the gross profit
of the Group as a whole decreased by 4.6% compared with same
period of last year.

During the financial year ended 31 March 2020, the Group recorded
a decrease in profit by 67.2%, which was mainly caused by the
fair value loss of approximately HK$5.3 million on the listed equity
investment, representing approximately 45.4% of the decrease in
profit and the drop in revenue of the paper printing of 10.1% and
banner printing of 11.7%. As at 31 March 2020, the Group held
900,000 shares of SingAsia Holdings Limited (stock code: 8293)
(“SingAsia”), the issued shares of which are listed on GEM of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) as
listed equity investment, and the fair value loss was caused by the
significant drop in the share price of SingAsia during the year.

Chairman’s Statement
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Chairman’s Statement
FERE

Prospects

The macroeconomic environment as a whole remains uncertain, the
possibility of deterioration of the Coronavirus Outbreak may pose
more uncertainties to our future economic prospects. Therefore, we
have lowered our expectations for growth in the market demand
as well as sales volume this year, especially in the first quarter.
The Group will continue to take actions to control costs and drive
efficiency to maintain our profitability and competitiveness in the
market. We will continue to monitor the Coronavirus Outbreak very
closely. Our priority is always the well-being of our customers and
staff and we will continue to do all we can to ensure their safety
and support them through this difficult time.

With the effective cash management, the Group maintained a
healthy cash balance which can be used for further expansion and
investment. We also open to different business projects, no matter
where they are and what they are, as long as they can create value
for the Group. Our prior investments in Sakura Japan Property
(Hong Kong) Limited and e-print Solutions Sdn. Bhd has already
proved that we are willing to diversify our business to other industry
and nation.

During the year, we have invested in Top Success Investment
Group Limited (“Top Success BVI”), Top Success BVI is principally
engaged in provision of finance leasing in Hong Kong and other
parts of Asia. The investment provides us with the opportunity
to further diversify into the business. We believe that these
investments would bring long terms of interest to the Group and the
shareholders.

Appreciation

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”)
of the Company, | would like to extend our sincere gratitude to our
shareholders, customers and business partners for their unlimited
supports throughout the year. In addition, | would like to take this
opportunity to thank all the hardworking and talented management
and staff for their persistent contribution to the Group.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Business Review

The Company is an investment holding company principally
engaged in the provision of printing services to a diversified
customer base in Hong Kong. The Company is also engaged in
the provision of solutions on advertisement, bound books and
stationeries.

The Board presents to its shareholders the results of the Group
for the year ended 31 March 2020. In the current financial year,
the Group’s revenue decreased by 10.5%, from HK$408.7 million
to HK$365.8 million. However the costs of sales decreased in a
higher degree and hence the gross profit dropped by 4.6%. The
Group’s audited profit attributable to equity holders for the year
ended 31 March 2020 was HK$5.7 million, representing a decrease
of 67.2% when compared with that of last year. The declining net
profit was mainly attributed to (i) the fair value loss of approximately
HK$5.3 million on the listed equity investment held by the Group
and (i) the decline in sales volume of the Group due to the
coronavirus outbreak and the macroeconomic downturn having
adversely impacted the overall market demand.

For the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019, the revenue of the
Group’s paper printing segment were approximately HK$282.3
million and HK$314.1 million respectively, representing a decrease
of HK$31.8 million or 10.1%. Affected by the coronavirus outbreak
and the macroeconomic downturn, the market demand for the
paper printing services decreased, hence the sales volume for the
year ended 31 March 2020 declined as compared with that of
the year ended 31 March 2019. The advertising printing was still
the major contributor of the segment’s revenue and recorded the
amount of HK$114.1 million, representing 31.2% to the revenue
for the year. The segment’s gross profit margin slightly increased
from 32.1% to 34.2%, as the cost control on subcontracting fee
decreased by 22.9%.

For the Group’s banner printing segment, similar to paper printing
segment, the revenue decreased by HK$11.0 million or 11.7%.
Similarly, due to the coronavirus outbreak and the macroeconomic
downturn, there was a drop in market demand, hence the revenue
decreased during the year. Nevertheless, due to the cost control,
the gross profit only slightly dropped by 5.1%.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

=R EC i

Outlook

The Group’s printing business faced challenging conditions during
the reporting period, the Group’s sales volume was impacted by
the coronavirus outbreak and the macroeconomic downturn. With
the current economic condition and coronavirus outbreak, the
management of the Group expects that the operating environment
in Hong Kong will remain difficult in the coming year. While external
conditions are challenging, the Board believes that the Group can
overcome these challenges and increase the shareholders value by
developing the business strategy to make it well positioned through
fast services with high quality in order to improve the customers’
confidence as well as their experience. Moreover, the Company
will proactively explore different business opportunities for business
development through diversifying the business portfolio into new
businesses.

Under the leadership of the Board, the management of the Group
has formed a broad consensus in response to the key improvement
areas in the existing business operation and market expansion in
order to further enhance the Group’s overall competitiveness. The
Group will continue to strengthen its market position and increase
its market share by adopting the following approaches:

° Strengthening the cost control to maintain the competitive
pricing strategy.

° Developing the new business line and customized products
and services to meet the market demand.

° Continuously improving the value added services, including
but not limited to the e-print app, self-service platform, phone
ordering system, self checkout and collecting counters and
the storage and delivery system.

8 eprint Group Limited Annual Report 2019/20
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Financial Review

Revenue

Revenue from the provision of printing and other services
significantly decreased by HK$42.9 million or 10.5% from
HK$408.7 million to HK$365.8 million. The overall market demand
was impacted by the macroeconomic downturn and coronavirus
outbreak, and thus the sales volume of the Group decreased during
the year ended 31 March 2020.

The following table sets forth a breakdown of the revenue by service
category and their respective percentage of the total revenue for
the years indicated.

Management Discussion and Analysis
EIRE R kAT

Bt %5 O B

Wz

RENR X EMRBE S AAUKZEH
408,700,000 7T X i@ J& 442,900,000%
JT 8 10.5% %F 365,800,000/ ;T - B8 ™
BEXKZINZBLEETSERERRER
EENTZE Bt REBE_Z_FF=

A=Z+t—HLEE AEENHEE TR

TREHIZ RS H S o U as B AR K
HEBERARFENBRSET DL -

2020 2019

—E-EHE —E-NF

HK$’000 HK$’000

TEx FHT
Advertising printing & BN 114,129 31.2% 128,136 31.4%
Bound book printing B EE R 80,910 22.1% 87,471 21.4%
Stationery printing X EEN 73,139 20.0% 84,788 20.7%
Banner printing & = E il 73,212 20.0% 83,084 20.3%
Other services H AR %5 24,411 6.7% 25,244 6.2%
Total Rt 365,801 100% 408,723 100%

The contribution to the sales mix remained stable. The advertising
printing was still the major contributor of the revenue, which
accounted for 31.2% of the total revenue for the year ended
31 March 2020.

HERAEMBERREFEE -EEHRDA
BRFZFERR HHE - _ZTF=A
—+—HIEFELKRZFH31.2% -

2020 2019

—E-EF ZE-NF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FTHExT FHET
Stores s 61,997 16.9% 93,475 22.9%
Websites Rk 192,257 52.6% | 186,024 45.5%
Others (Note) Hh (B5E) 111,547 30.5% | 129,224 31.6%
Total Rt 365,801 100% \ 408,723 100%

Note: “Others” refers to revenue derived from orders received over the telephone,
through e-mail, e-print mobile application and “Photobook” program.

M M NERBERE EB - e-printB B EAER
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2019/20%F % eprint EEERAF 9



Management Discussion and Analysis

EREHHRAN

Financial Review continveq)

Revenue (continued)

Websites remained the Group’s major sales channel and it
contributed 52.6% of total revenue for the year ended 31 March
2020, represented an increase of 7.1% when compared with last
year. The sales contributed by stores decreased from 22.9% to
16.9%.

Other income

Other income of the Group mainly consisted of sales of scrap
materials and interest income from unlisted bond securities
investments. The Group’s other income decreased from HK$3.1
million for the year ended 31 March 2019 to HK$2.3 million for the
year ended 31 March 2020 representing a decrease of HK$0.8
million. Such decrease was mainly due to the material decrease in
interest income received from unlisted bond securities investments
by HK$0.7 million.

Other losses - net

For the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group recorded a net loss
of HK$8.5 million representing an increase in loss of HK$8.2 million
as compared to HK$0.3 million for the year ended 31 March 2019.
The significant increase in loss was mainly attributable to the fair
value loss of HK$5.3 million on the listed equity investment held by
the Group during the year ended 31 March 2020 which was caused
by significant decrease in the share price of SingAsia Holdings
Limited (“SingAsia”), being a company incorporated in the Cayman
Islands and the shares of which are listed on GEM of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”), recorded
a daily decrease in its share of approximately 96.5% on 25 June
2019.
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Financial Review continveq)

Selling and distribution expenses

Selling and distribution expenses mainly consisted of staff costs,
handling charges for electronic payments, and rental charges.
Selling and distribution expenses represented 9.1% and 8.5% of the
revenue for the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019 respectively.
The decrease of HK$1.5 million was the result of the decreased
staff cost.

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses mainly included staff costs and outsourced
customer support expenses. Administrative expenses represented
22.1% and 19.8% of the total revenue for the years ended
31 March 2020 and 2019 respectively. The amount remained at
same level of approximately HK$80.8 million for the years ended
31 March 2020 and 2019.

Finance income

Finance income mainly represented the interest income generated
from bank deposits and the loan receivables. The income increased
by HK$1.4 million as the Group allocated more funds to the bank
deposits as well as individual third party during the year ended
31 March 2020.

Management Discussion and Analysis
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEE R

Financial Review continveq)

Finance costs

Finance costs primarily consisted of interest expenses on bank
borrowings, finance charges on obligations under finance lease and
lease liabilities. The amount was significantly increased by HK$1.3
million when compared with that of last year because of the effect
of new accounting standard resulted in the recognition of interest
expenses on lease liabilities in the amount of HK$1.5 million for the
year ended 31 March 2020. If excluding the effect of the recognition
of interest expenses on lease liabilities, the finance costs would be
HK$0.6 million for the year ended 31 March 2020 (2019: HK$0.7
million).

Share of profits of joint ventures

Share of profits of joint ventures represented the share of results
of the Group’s joint ventures. As at 31 March 2020, the Group
had two joint ventures in Malaysia and Hong Kong, namely e-print
Solutions Sdn. Bhd and Top Success Investment Group Limited
respectively.

Share of losses of associates

Share of losses of associates represented the share of results of
the Group’s associates in Hong Kong and the People’s Republic
of China (“PRC”), which are Sakura Japan Property (Hong Kong)
Limited, E-post Limited and Shenzhen Yi Yun Hu Wang Tong
Technology Company Limited respectively.

Profit for the year attributable to equity holders of
the Company

Profit for the year attributable to equity holders of the Company
decreased by HK$11.7 million or 67.2%, from HK$17.4 million for
the year ended 31 March 2019 to HK$5.7 million for the year ended
31 March 2020. Net profit margin also dropped by 2.7%. The
decrease in the profit for the year attributable to equity holders of
the Company was mainly due to the fair value loss of approximately
HK$5.3 million on the listed equity investment held by the Group
during the year ended 31 March 2020 and the decrease in the
sales volume of the Group compared with that of same period of
last year.
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Financial Review continveq)

Liquidity and Financial Information

As at 31 March 2020, the Group’s bank balances and cash was
HK$101.5 million, represented a decrease of HK$22.1 million when
compared with that as at 31 March 2019. The decrease was mainly
due to the cash outflow used in investing activities. As at 31 March
2020 and 31 March 2019, the financial ratios of the Group were as

Management Discussion and Analysis
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liabilities.

2) Gearing ratio is calculated based on total bank overdraft, borrowings,
obligation under finance leases and leases liabilities divided by total equity and
multiplied by 100%.

Borrowings

The Group’s bank borrowings balance as at 31 March 2020
and 31 March 2019 were HK$21.2 milion and HK$25.9 million
respectively. All bank borrowings were made from banks in Hong
Kong and were repayable within one year, except a mortgage loan
with the carrying amount of HK$19.9 million which will be matured
in 2036. No financial instruments were used for hedging purposes,
nor were there any foreign currency net investments hedged by
current borrowings and/or other hedging instruments. The weighted
average interest rates (per annum) were 2.3% for the years ended
31 March 2020 and 31 March 2019.
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Financial Review continveq)

Treasury Policies

The Group has adopted a prudent financial management approach
towards its treasury policies and thus maintained a healthy liquidity
position throughout the year. The Board closely monitors the
Group’s liquidity position to ensure that the liquidity structure of
the Group’s assets, liabilities and other commitments can meet
its funding requirements from time to time. Surplus cash will be
invested to meet the Group’s cash need in support of the Group’s
strategy direction from time to time.

Capital Structure

The capital of the Company comprises ordinary shares and other
reserves. The shares of the Company have been listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange since 3 December 2013. As at
31 March 2020, the total number of issued ordinary shares of the
Company was 550,000,000 shares.

Capital Commitments

As at 31 March 2020 and 2019, the Group had capital
commitments totaling HK$4.1 million and HK$4.4 million
respectively for investment in an associate and purchase of
computer equipment.

Significant Investments Held

In addition to the investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and
associates, the Group also hold an equity investment of the
Company listed on the Stock Exchange. As at 31 March 2020, the
Group held 900,000 shares of SingAsia as listed equity investment,
which was classified as financial asset at fair value through profit or
loss.
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Financial Review continveq)

Future Plans for Material Investments and Capital
Assets

Except for the aforesaid capital commitment to the investment
in an associate, the Group did not have other plans for material
investments and capital assets as at 31 March 2020.

Material Acquisitions

On 17 March 2020, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
(the “Subsidiary”) has formulated a joint venture in Top Success
Investment Group Limited (“Top Success BVI”) with Mr. Cheng Hiu
Man, Elliott. Immediately upon completion of the subscription, the
Subsidiary is the beneficial owner in Top Success BVI, representing
50% of the issued shares of Top Success BVI. The formation of the
joint venture provides a good opportunity for the Group to diversify
the business portfolio into a new business. Save as the formation of
joint venture, the Group did not have any other material acquisition
or disposal of associates, joint ventures or subsidiaries for the year
ended 31 March 2020.

Exposure to Foreign Exchange Risk

The Group operates principally in Hong Kong and its business is
supported by an information technology support services centre
located in the PRC. The Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk
mainly arising from the exposure of Renminbi against Hong Kong
dollars. The Group does not hedge its foreign exchange risk as its
exposure to foreign exchange risk is low as the Group’s cash flows
mainly denominated in Hong Kong dollars.

Charge of Assets

At 31 March 2020 and 2019, the Group pledged the plant and
machinery with a carrying value of HK$4.3 million and HK$4.4
million respectively, as collaterals to secure the Group’s obligation
under finance leases. As at 31 March 2020 and 2019, the Group
pledged two properties with the total carrying value of HK$60.3
million and HK$62.5 million respectively, as collaterals to secure the
Group’s mortgage loan.
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Financial Review continveq)

Capital Expenditure

During the year, the Group invested HK$17.0 million (2019: HK$5.2
million) in property, plant and equipment, which represented an
increase of HK$11.8 million in capital expenditure than last year.

Employees and Emolument Policies

At 31 March 2020, the Group had 312 (2019: 328) full time
employees. There is no significant change in the Group’s
emolument policies. On top of basic salaries, bonuses may be paid
by reference to the Group’s performance as well as individual’s
performance. Other staff benefits, such as contributions to
Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefits scheme in Hong
Kong, provision of pension funds, medical insurance, unemployment
insurance and other relevant insurance for employees who are
employed by the Group pursuant to the PRC rules and regulations
and the prevailing regulatory requirements of the PRC, and the
Employees Provident Fund and contributions to Social Security
Organization for employees who are employed by the Group
pursuant to the Malaysian rules and regulations and the prevailing
regulatory requirements of Malaysia.

Dividends

The Board does not recommend the payment of final dividend for
the year ended 31 March 2020 (2019: HK$1.60 cents per ordinary
share, totaling HK$8,800,000).
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Corporate Governance Report

The Company is committed to maintaining good corporate
governance standard and procedures to ensure the integrity,
transparency and quality of disclosure in order to enhance the
shareholders’ value.

Corporate Governance Practice

The Company has adopted the code provisions set out in the
Corporate Governance Code (‘CG Code”) in Appendix 14 to the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on the
Stock Exchange as its own code of corporate governance.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Company was in
compliance with the code provisions set out in the CG Code except
for the deviation as explained below.

Code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code provides that the roles of
the chairman and chief executive officer should be separated and
should not be performed by the same individual. The Company
does not at present separate the roles of the chairman and chief
executive officer. Mr. She Siu Kee William is the chairman and chief
executive officer of the Company. The Board believes that vesting
the roles of both chairman and chief executive officer in the same
person has the benefit of ensuring consistent leadership within the
Group and enables more effective and efficient overall strategic
planning for the Group. The Board further believes that the balance
of power and authority for the present arrangement will not be
impaired and is adequately ensured by the current Board which
comprises experienced and high calibre individuals with sufficient
number thereof being non-executive Directors and independent
non-executive Directors.

Save as the aforesaid and in the opinion of the Directors, the
Company had met all code provisions set out in the CG Code
during the year ended 31 March 2020.

The Board will continue to review and further improve the
Company’s corporate governance practices and standards, so as
to ensure its business activities and decision-making processes are
regulated in a proper and prudent manner.
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Model Code For Securities Transactions By
Directors

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set
out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as the code of conduct
regarding securities transactions by the Directors. Having made
specific enquiry of all Directors, the Company confirmed that all
Directors had complied with the required standard set out in the
Model Code throughout the year.

Board of Directors

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the
Company, and is responsible for setting up the overall strategy as
well as reviewing the operation and financial performance of the
Group. The Board reserved for its decision or consideration matters
covering overall Group strategy, major acquisitions and disposals,
annual budgets, annual and interim results, recommendations on
Directors’ appointment or re-appointment, approval of major capital
transactions and other significant operational and financial matters.
The management was delegated the authority and responsibility
by the Board for the daily management of the Group. In addition,
the Board had also delegated various responsibilities to the Board
committees. Further details of these committees are set out in this
report.

The Board currently consists of seven Directors including two

executive Directors, two non-executive Directors and three
independent non-executive Directors:

Executive Directors

Mr. She Siu Kee William (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Chong Cheuk Ki

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Leung Wai Ming
Mr. Cai Qiang

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Poon Chun Wai

Mr. Fu Chung
Mr. Ma Siu Kit
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Board of Directors (continued)

A deed of confirmation was entered into, among others, Mr. She
Siu Kee William, Mr. Lam Shing Kai (a former Director who retired
on 16 August 2019), Mr. Leung Wai Ming and Mr. Chong Cheuk
Ki on 2 July 2013 (the “Deed of Confirmation”) confirming the
existence of their acting in concert arrangement to jointly control
their respective interest in the Company held through eprint
Limited. Save as aforesaid, the Board members have no financial,
business, family or other material/relevant relationships with each
other. Such balanced board composition is formed to ensure
strong independence exists across the Board. The composition of
the Board reflects the balanced skills and experience for effective
leadership. The biographical information of the Directors are set out
on pages 80 to 82 under the section headed “Biographical Details
of Directors and Senior Management” in this annual report.

The Board decides on corporate strategies, approves overall
business plans and evaluates the Group’s financial performance
and management. Specific tasks that the Board delegates to the
Group’s management include the implementation of strategies
approved by the Board, the monitoring of operating budgets, the
implementation of internal control procedures, and the ensuring of
compliance with relevant statutory requirements and other rules and
regulations.

Board Meetings

During the year ended 31 March 2020, five Board meetings were
held. All Directors were given an opportunity to include any matters
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in the agenda for regular Board meetings, and were also given %4 FHEAIE2FTMNEEMATHES
sufficient time to review documents and information relating to QQE% WEEP BETERMEREEL
matters to be discussed in Board meetings in advance. ENERARKRESE R LTREIEDN
X RER -
Number of
attendance
Name of Director o R #
Mr. She Siu Kee William NEBETAE 5/5
Mr. Lam Shing Kai (Note 1) MAFEAES A (KIET) 11
Mr. Chong Cheuk Ki HEHEA 5/5
Mr. Leung Wai Ming D ETRR S A 5/5
Mr. Deng Xiaen (Note 1) BE B &LE (HaEl) \ 11
Mr. Cai Qiang (Note 2) 2R £ (K5E2)
Mr. Poon Chun Wai & R B 5 A
Mr. Fu Chung BRELE
Mr. Ma Siu Kit BkREE
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Board Meetings (continueq)

Notes:

1. Mr. Lam Shing Kai and Mr. Deng Xiaen retired on 16 August 2019, one Board
meeting was held before their retirement.

2. Mr. Cai Qiang was appointed on 16 August 2019, three Board meetings were
held after his appointment.

Board minutes are kept by the company secretary of the Company
(the “Company Secretary”) and are open for inspection by the
Directors. Every Board member is entitled to have access to Board
papers and related materials, and has unrestricted access to the
advice and services of the Company Secretary, and has the liberty
to seek external professional advice if so required.

General Meetings

During the year ended 31 March 2020, two general meetings were
held, being the extraordinary general meeting held on 6 April 2019
and the 2019 annual general meeting of the Company held on
16 August 2019.
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Number of

attendance
Name of Director R B
Mr. She Siu Kee William SEBESLE 2/2
Mr. Lam Shing Kai (Note 1) MAEEL A (HFE1) 11
Mr. Chong Cheuk Ki HEHASE 2/2
Mr. Leung Wai Ming REREE 2/2
Mr. Deng Xiaen (Note 1) HEBLE (HiE1) 1/1
Mr. Cai Qiang (Note 2) 2R S AE (MEE2) N/A 7 i F
Mr. Poon Chun Wai EIRE A& 2/2
Mr. Fu Chung BREE 2/2
Mr. Ma Siu Kit BIRARFEE 2/2

Notes: B 5

1. Mr. Lam Shing Kai and Mr. Deng Xiaen retired on 16 August 2019, one general
meeting was held before their retirement.

2. Mr. Cai Qiang was appointed on 16 August 2019, no general meeting were
held after his appointment.
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General Meeting (continueq)

The Board is responsible for maintaining an on-going dialogue
with shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”) and in
particular, uses annual general meeting or other general meetings
to communicate with them and encourage their participation. The
Board notes that the Chairman of the Board and the chairmen or,
in their absence, other members of the audit committee (the “Audit
Committee”), nomination committee (the “Nomination Committee”)
and remuneration committee (the “Remuneration Committee”) of
the Company should attend the annual general meeting to answer
questions and collect views of Shareholders.

Directors’ Training

According to code provision A.6.5 of the CG Code, all directors
should participate in continuous professional development to
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure that their
contribution to the board remains informed and relevant.

All Directors have participated in continuous professional
development by way of attending seminars relating to their role as a
Director.

The individual training record of each Director received for the year
ended 31 March 2020 is set out below:

Name of Director

Mr. She Siu Kee William %?ﬂ%?ﬁi
Mr. Chong Cheuk Ki HEmAELE
Mr. Leung Wai Ming 7'?%?%1 BASE A
Mr. Cai Qiang BEoRAAE

Mr. Poon Chun Wai IR BT
Mr. Fu Chung BREE

Mr. Ma Siu Kit BREE
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Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Mr. She Siu Kee William, the Chairman of the Company, was also
appointed as the Chief Executive Officer of the Company. The
Board believes that vesting the roles of both chairman and chief
executive officer in the same person has the benefit of ensuring
consistent leadership within the Group and enables more effective
and efficient overall strategic planning for the Group. The Board
further believes that the balance of power and authority for the
present arrangement will not be impaired and is adequately ensured
by current Board which comprises experienced and high calibre
individuals with sufficient number thereof being non-executive
Directors and independent non-executive Directors.

Independent Non-executive Directors and
Non-executive Directors

The three independent non-executive Directors are persons of
high calibre, with working experience, academic and professional
qualifications in the fields of accounting, company secretaryship,
printing or management. With their experience gained from
various sectors, they provide strong support towards the effective
discharge of the duties and responsibilities of the Board. Each
independent non-executive Director gives an annual confirmation
of his independence to the Company, and the Company considers
each of them to be independent under Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules.

All non-executive Directors and independent non-executive
Directors are appointed for a specific term of three years and are
subject to retirement by rotation in accordance with the articles of
association of the Company (the “Articles”).

Nomination Committee

In considering the nomination of new Directors, the Board will
take into account the qualification, ability, working experience,
leadership and professional ethics of the candidates, especially their
experience in the printing business and/or other professional area.
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Nomination Committee continueq)

The Company established the Nomination Committee on
13 November 2013 with written terms of reference which was
revised on 25 February 2019 to comply with the CG Code. The
terms of reference of the Nomination Committee is currently made
available on the Stock Exchange’s website and the Company’s
website.

The Nomination Committee consists of two independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Fu Chung (as chairman) and
Mr. Poon Chun Wai, and an executive Director, namely Mr. She
Siu Kee William. The functions of the Nomination Committee are
to review the structure, size, composition and diversity of the
Board and make recommendations on any proposed changes
to the Board to complement the Group’s strategy; to identify
qualified individuals to become members of the Board; to assess
the independence of independent non-executive Directors; and
to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or
re-appointment of Directors and succession planning for Directors,
in particular the Chairman and the chief executive officer. The
Company adopted the board diversity policy (the “Policy”) on
13 November 2013 whereby it recognises and embraces the
benefits of a diversity of Board members. The Company endeavour
to ensure that the Board has a balance of skills, experience and
diversity of perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the
Company’s business. The Board delegated certain duties under
the Policy to the Nomination Committee. The Company seeks to
achieve Board diversity through the consideration of a number of
factors, including but not limited to age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge
and length of service. The Company will also take into consideration
its own business model and specific needs from time to time in
determining the optimum composition of the Board.

The Nomination Committee will review the necessity for setting
measurable objectives for implementing the Policy from time to
time.

To ensure changes to the Board composition can be managed
without undue disruption, there should be a formal, prudent
and transparent procedure for selection, appointment and
re-appointment of Directors, as well as plans in place for orderly
succession (if considered necessary), including periodical review
of such plans. The appointment of a new Director (to be an
additional Director or fill a casual vacancy as and when it arises)
or any re-appointment of Directors is a matter for decision by the
Board upon the recommendation of the proposed candidate by the
Nomination Committee.

Corporate Governance Report
PEREAWmE

REZEGw

KRR -_E—Z=ZF+—A+=ZBKZ
REZEBEG URBEHEAGEEARTA —

BHNEEBESEE (R_Z—hLF_A
Z+RHEEER]) RELZESHNEBESR
BB RBEIMBE AR NS
BY -

REZECEHMBBUFRTESTER
%EGUW&%%W%EM& BT
EERBERTEAK -REZEENRE
RRTESENRBE A -EAXEEZ T
L2 - X SR /5 7% B 7K 52 [ SRR i 46
HEFSFLNEDRIEZ VEAR

Amﬁ%T#Ei%MAt BREE- AV
MITEFNBYIME URREFTZEXE

ﬁ%&u&i%(tﬁ%if&ﬁﬁwﬁ)
BEITIMEFERLEZZ -AQANZ
;*E¢+*H+EHﬁMT%$@ﬁ
BZeBR([HEK]) &t A

%ﬁi/f§$AﬂﬁyEMm¢A°$
RAIMNBREFTSABHEORE &R
RETILAEANNAARRBIEBTE -&
FECLZBERBRTMETRETRA
REE-ARABNERBEBRZRARE
HEFEeKEZ T BR(EAER)
Fit XERBEER Bk FELR-
R EXAMBEREFEH I EIR
TEFEXENKEEARKREK AR ﬂﬁ@
TREEAFNEXGRALAETE -

S

B i R A

%%;%@ﬂﬁTHT&AE
= = tdb
T2 A

AJ RE L E L

REREZTENETAKERNETIT
BOBRATET BUE ZEREEES
MBREESEAEREMAERE LA
Fiat ST (MRRBELE)  EH
ERENEEZ S -IwHES (8]
NEFIRBERARBE 2R XEH
ZIESF VUHESTEREREZEBEY
BEREEANNEBSRFELRE -

_4

2019/205 3 eprint KEHRAT 23



Corporate Governance Report
PERERWME

Nomination Committee continueq)

The criteria to be applied in considering whether a candidate
is qualified shall be his/her ability to devote sufficient time and
attention to the affairs of the Company and contribute to the
diversity of the Board as well as the effective discharge by the
Board of the responsibilities which, in particular, are set out as
follows:

(@) participating in Board meetings to bring an independent
judgment on issues of strategy, policy, performance,
accountability, resources, key appointments and standards of
conducts;

(b) taking the lead where potential conflicts of interests arise;

(c) serving on the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee
and the Nomination Committee (in the case of candidate for
non-executive Director) and other relevant Board committees,
if invited;

(d) bringing a range of business and financial experience to
the Board, giving the Board and any committees on which
he/she serves the benefit of his/her skills, expertise, and
varied backgrounds and qualifications and diversity through
attendance and participation in the Board/committee
meetings;

(e) scrutinising the Company’s performance in achieving agreed
corporate goals and objectives, and monitoring the reporting
of performance;

() ensuring the committees on which he/she serves to perform
their powers and functions conferred on them by the Board;
and

(@ conforming to any requirement, direction and regulation
that may from time to time be prescribed by the Board or
contained in the constitutional documents of the Company or
imposed by legislation or the Listing Rules, where appropriate.
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Nomination Committee coninveq)

If the candidate is proposed to be appointed as an independent
non-executive Director, his/her independence shall be assessed
in accordance with, among other things, the factors as set out
in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, subject to any amendments as
may be made by the Stock Exchange from time to time. Where
applicable, the totality of the candidate’s education, qualifications
and experience shall also be evaluated to consider whether he/
she has the appropriate professional qualifications or accounting
or related financial management expertise for filing the office of
an independent non-executive Director with such qualifications or
expertise as required under Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Nomination Committee
held two meetings for (1) reviewing the Board composition, (2)
reviewing the independence of the independent non-executive
Directors, (3) assessing the necessity to set measurable objectives
for implementing the Policy and (4) considering the proposed
nomination of Directors.

Nomination Committee member
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Mr. Fu Chung (chairman) HRLE (EFE)
Mr. She Siu Kee William RIBELE
Mr. Poon Chun Wai EIRE A&

Remuneration Committee

The Company established the Remuneration Committee on
13 November 2013 with written terms of reference, which
was aligned with the CG Code. The terms of reference of the
Remuneration Committee is currently made available on the Stock
Exchange’s website and the Company’s website.

The Remuneration Committee consists of two independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Poon Chun Wai (as chairman)
and Mr. Fu Chung and one executive Director, namely Mr. She Siu
Kee William.
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Remuneration Committee (continuea)

The functions of the Remuneration Committee are to make
recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and
structure on the remuneration packages for all Directors’ and
senior management and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for developing remuneration policy. The
model of Remuneration Committee described in code provision
B.1.2(c)(ii) of the CG Code has been adopted by the Remuneration
Committee, which is to make recommendations to the Board on
the remuneration packages of individual executive directors and
senior management, including benefits in kind, pension rights and
compensation payments, including any compensation payable for
loss or termination of their office or appointment.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Remuneration
Committee held 2 meetings for (i) reviewing the policy and structure
of the remuneration for the Directors and senior management, and
(i) reviewing the proposed remuneration of Directors.
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Remuneration Committee member FMEEERE
Mr. Poon Chun Wai (chairman) BIRE AL (F/FE)
Mr. She Siu Kee William SEBESLE

Mr. Fu Chung BREE

The Company has adopted a share option scheme on
13 November 2013. The purpose of the share option scheme is
to recognize and acknowledge the contributions of the eligible
participants to motivate them and to optimize their performance
and efficiency for the benefit of the Group and to attract or retain or
otherwise maintain on-going business relationships with the eligible
participants whose contributions are or will be beneficial to the
long-term growth of the Group. Details of the share option scheme
are set out in the Report of the Directors.

The emolument payable to Directors will depend on their respective
contractual terms under employment contracts or service contracts,
if any, and will be fixed by the Board based on the recommendation
of the Remuneration Committee, the performance of the Group
and the prevailing marketing conditions. Details of the Directors’
emoluments for the year ended 31 March 2020 are set out in Note
36 to the financial statements.
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Audit Committee

The Company established an Audit Committee on 13 November
2013 with written terms of reference which was revised on
25 February 2019 to comply with the CG Code. The primary duties
of the Audit Committee are to review and supervise the financial
reporting system and to review the risk management and internal
control systems of the Group. The Audit Committee has reviewed
the audited financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 March 2020.

The Audit Committee comprises three independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Ma Siu Kit (as chairman), Mr. Poon Chun Wai
and Mr. Fu Chung.

The Audit Committee is mainly responsible for making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment, re-appointment
and removal of the external auditor and to approve the remuneration
and terms of engagement of the external auditor, and any questions
of resignation or dismissal of such auditor; reviewing the interim
and annual reports and accounts of the Group; and overseeing
the Company’s financial reporting system (including the adequacy
of resources, qualifications and experience of staff in charge
of the Company’s financial reporting function and their training
arrangement and budget) and supervising the risk management and
the internal control systems.

The Audit Committee meets the external auditor regularly to discuss
any area of concern during the audit. The Audit Committee reviews
the interim and annual reports before submission to the Board. The
Audit Committee focuses not only on the impact of the changes in
accounting policies and practices but also on the compliance with
accounting standards, the Listing Rules and the legal requirements
in the review of the Company’s interim and annual reports.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Audit Committee held
two meetings.
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Audit Committee (Continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Audit Committee
reviewed, among others, the annual results of the Group for the
year ended 31 March 2019 and interim results of the Group for the
six months ended 30 September 2019, which were in the opinion
of the Audit Committee that the preparation of such consolidated
financial statements and results complied with the applicable
accounting standards and the Listing Rules.

The Audit Committee noted the existing risk management and
internal control systems of the Group and also noted that review of
the same shall be carried out annually.

Corporate Governance Functions

The Company’s corporate governance functions are carried out
by the Board pursuant to the code provisions as set out in the CG
code.

The corporate governance functions currently performed by
the Board are to develop and review the Company’s policies
and practices on corporate governance to comply with the CG
Code and other legal or regulatory requirements; to oversee the
Company’s orientation program for new Directors; to review and
monitor the training and continuous professional development of
Directors and senior management; to develop, review and monitor
the code of conduct and compliance manual (if any) applicable to
employees and Directors; and to review the Company’s disclosure
in the Corporate Governance Report.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Board had reviewed the
training and continuous professional development of Directors and
senior management, reviewed the Company’s compliance with the
CG Code and reviewed the Company’s disclosure in the Corporate
Governance Report.
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Auditors’ Remuneration

For the year ended 31 March 2020, the remuneration payable or
paid to the Company’s auditor, PricewaterhouseCoopers (‘PwC”),
was as follows:
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HK$’000
FHET

Services rendered RRHER
— Audit services — RS 1,107
— Non-audit services (Note) —JIEFE AT ARE (BIsE) 277

Note: the non-audit services comprised tax services and other related services
provided by PwC.

Company Secretary

Mr. Mok Chun Wa (“Mr. Mok”) was appointed as the Company
Secretary on 30 September 2016. The biographical details of
Mr. Mok are set out under the section headed “Biographical Details
of Directors and Senior Management”.

According to the requirements of Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules,
Mr. Mok had taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional
training for the year ended 31 March 2020.

Dividend Policy

In considering the payment of dividends, there shall be a balance
between retaining adequate reserves for the Group’s future growth
and rewarding the Shareholders.

The Board shall also take into account, among other things, the
following factors when considering the declaration and payment of
dividends:

- the Group’s overall results of operation, financial condition,
expected working capital requirements and capital expenditure
requirements, liquidity position and future expansions plans;

- the amount of retained profits and distributable reserves of the
Company;

- general economic conditions, business cycle of the Group's
business and other internal or external factors that may have
an impact on the business or financial performance and
position of the Group; and

- any other factors that the Board deems relevant.
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Dividend POIicy (Continued)

The declaration and payment of dividends by the Company is
subject to any restrictions under the Companies Law of the Cayman
Islands, the Company’s memorandum and Articles, the Listing
Rules and any other applicable laws and regulations.

The Company does not have any pre-determined dividend
distribution ratio. The Company’s dividend distribution record in the
past may not be used as a reference or basis to determine the level
of dividends that may be declared or paid by the Company in the
future.

The Dividend Policy shall in no way constitute a legally binding
commitment by the Group in respect of its future dividend and/or in
no way obligate the Group to declare a dividend at any time or from
time to time.

The Board will continually review the Dividend Policy and reserves
the right in its sole and absolute discretion to update, amend and
modify the Dividend Policy at any time.

Shareholders’ Rights

The general meetings of the Company provide an opportunity
for communication between the shareholders and the Board. An
annual general meeting of the Company shall be held in each year
and at the place as may be determined by the Board. Each general
meeting, other than an annual general meeting, shall be called an
extraordinary general meeting.

Shareholders to convene an extraordinary general
meeting

According to the Articles, extraordinary general meetings shall be
convened on the requisition of one or more Shareholders holding,
at the date of deposit of the requisition, not less than one tenth
of the paid up capital of the Company having the right of voting
at general meetings. Such requisition shall be made in writing to
the Board or the Company Secretary for the purpose of requiring
an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board for
the transaction of any business specified in such requisition. Such
meeting shall be held within 2 months after the deposit of such
requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit, the Board fails to
proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself
(themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure
of the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the
Company.
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Shareholders’ Rights (continueq)

Putting enquiries by shareholders to the Board

Shareholders may send written enquiries to the Company for the
attention of the Company Secretary at the Company’s principal
place of business in Hong Kong. The relevant address is as follows:

Flat A3, 1st Floor, Phase 3
Kwun Tong Industrial Centre
448-458 Kwun Tong Road
Kwun Tong, Kowloon

Hong Kong

Procedures for putting forward proposals by
shareholders at shareholders’ meetings

Shareholders should follow the procedures set out in the
sub-section headed “Shareholders to convene an extraordinary
general meeting” above for putting forward proposals for discussion
at general meetings.

Voting by Poll

Pursuant to Rule 13.39(4) of the Listing Rules, any vote of
shareholders at a general meeting must be taken by poll except
where the chairman, in good faith, decides to allow a resolution
which relates purely to a procedural or administrative matter to be
voted on by a show of hands. As such, all the resolutions to be set
out in the notice of 2020 annual general meeting will be voted by
poll.

Investor Relations

The Company is committed to a policy of open and regular
communication and reasonable disclosure of information to its
shareholders.

Information of the Company is disseminated to the shareholders in
the following manner:

° Delivery of annual and interim results and reports to all
shareholders;

° Publication of announcements on the annual and interim
results on the Stock Exchange’s website, and issue of other
announcements and shareholders’ circulars in accordance
with the continuing disclosure obligations under the Listing
Rules; and
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Investor Relations (continueq)

° General meeting of the Company is also an effective
communication channel between the Board and shareholders.

Directors’ Responsibilities for the
Consolidated Financial Statements

The Board acknowledges its responsibility to prepare the
Company’s consolidated financial statements for each financial year
which give a true and fair view of financial position of the Group and
the Group’s financial performance and cash flows for that period. In
preparing the consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 March 2020, the Board has selected suitable accounting policies
and applied them consistently; made judgments and estimates that
are prudent, fair and reasonable and prepared the accounts on a
going concern basis.

The Directors are responsible for taking all reasonable and
necessary steps to safeguard the assets of the Group and to
prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities.

The Directors, having made appropriate enquiries, consider that the
Group has adequate resources to continue in operational existence
for the foreseeable future and that, for this reason, it is appropriate
to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the consolidated
financial statements.

Risk Management and Internal Control

The Board acknowledges that it is responsible for monitoring the
risk management and internal control systems of the Group on
an ongoing basis and reviewing their effectiveness. Such systems
are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to
achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable but
not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Board, through the Audit Committee, conducted an annual
review of both design and implementation effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group for the
year ended 31 March 2020, covering material controls, including
financial, operational and compliance controls, with a view to
ensuring that resources, staff qualifications and experience, training
programmes and budget of the Group’s accounting, internal audit
and financial reporting functions are adequate. In this respect, the
Audit Committee communicates any material issues to the Board.
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Risk Management and Internal Control
(Continued)

The Directors have reviewed the need for an internal audit function
and are of the view that in light of the size, nature and complexity
of the business of the Group, it would be more cost effective to
appoint external independent professionals to perform internal audit
function for the Group in order to meet its needs.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group appointed BT
Corporate Governance Limited (“BTCGL”) to:

o assist in identifying and assessing the risks of the Group
through a series of interviews; and

° independently perform internal control review and assess
effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems.

The results of the independent review and assessment were
reported to the Audit Committee and the Board. Moreover,
improvements in internal control and risk management measures
as recommended by BTCGL to enhance the risk management
and internal control systems of the Group and mitigate risks of
the Group were adopted by the Board. Based on the findings and
recommendations of BTCGL as well as the comments of the Audit
Committee, the Board considered the internal control and risk
management systems effective and adequate.

Enterprise Risk Management Framework

The Group established its enterprise risk management framework.
While the Board has the overall responsibility to ensure that sound
and effective internal controls are maintained, management is
responsible for designing and implementing an internal control
system to manage all kinds of risks faced by the Group.

Through the risk identification and assessment processes, risks
are identified, assessed, prioritized and allocated treatments. The
Group’s risk management framework follows the COSO Enterprise
Risk Management — Integrated Framework, which allows the Board
and management to manage the risks of the Group effectively. The
Board receives regular reports through the Audit Committee that
oversees risk management and internal audit functions.
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PERERWME

Enterprise Risk Management Framework

(Continued)

Principal Risks

For the year ended 31 March 2020, the following principal risks
of the Group were identified and classified into strategic risks,
operational risks, financial risks and compliance risks.

Risk Areas Principal Risks
[ B A 5 FERR

Strategic Risks
RS A b
Operational Risks
EERR
Financial Risks

Outbreak of coronavirus disease
HAHE KR SRES
No significant risk identified

B 15 R B ARERERNER
Compliance Risks No significant risk identified
AR AERBBARER

Risk Control Mechanism

The Group adopts a “three-layer” corporate governance structure
with operational management and controls performed by operations
management, coupled with risk management monitoring carried out
by the finance team and independent internal audit outsourced to
and conducted by BTCGL. The Group maintains a risk register to
keep track of all identified major risks of the Group. The risk register
provides the Board, the Audit Committee, and management with a
profile of its major risks and records management’s actions taken
to mitigate the relevant risks. Each risk is evaluated at least annually
based on its likelihood of occurrence and potential impact upon
the Group. The risk register is updated by management as the risk
owners with addition of new risks and/or removal of existing risks,
if applicable, at least annually, after the annual risk evaluation has
been performed. This review process can ensure that the Group
proactively manages the risks faced by it in the sense that all risk
owners have access to the risk register and are aware of and alert
to those risks in their area of responsibility so that they can take
follow up actions in an efficient manner.
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Risk Control Mechanism (continueq)

The Group’s risk management activities are performed by
management on an ongoing process. The Company has adopted
risk management policy and procedures (the “Risk Management
Policy”). The effectiveness of the Group’s risk management
framework will be evaluated at least annually, and periodic
management meeting is held to update the progress of risk
monitoring efforts. Management is committed to ensure that risk
management forms part of the daily business operation processes
in order to align risk management with corporate goals in an
effective manner.

The Company will continue to engage external independent
professionals to review the Group’s system of internal controls and
risk management annually to further enhance the Group’s internal
control and risk management systems as appropriate.

Handling and Dissemination of Inside
Information

The Company regulates the handling and dissemination of inside
information according to the “Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside
Information” published by the Securities and Future Commission
in June 2012 to ensure inside information remains confidential
until the disclosure of such information is appropriately approved,
and the dissemination of such information is efficiently and
consistently made. The Company regularly reminds the Directors
and employees about due compliance with all policies regarding
the inside information. Also, the Company keeps Directors, senior
management and employees appraised of the latest regulatory
updates. The Company shall prepare or update appropriate
guidelines or policies to ensure the compliance with regulatory
requirements.

Constitutional Documents

There is no change in the Company’s constitutional documents
during the year ended 31 March 2020.
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RS dERERHRE

Approach

eprint Group Limited (hereafter called the “Company”) is committed
to promoting transparency of the Company’s operations and
its impact on the environment and society in which it operates,
and also communicating with its stakeholders. The results of the
Environmental, Social and Governance (‘ESG”) review shown in this
report demonstrate the importance of environmental protection we
place on top of our business development target, and explain how
we seek to continually improve our ESG strategy in line with global
standards. This report also illustrates the focus of our resources
utilized for our core operations in order for the Company to become
the leading printing company for creating a highly efficient and
balanced business profile.

With both integrity and determination, we look at issues that
may have a reputational impact on, or that may pose a risk to,
the Company and its subsidiaries (hereafter called the “Group”)
in the short-, medium- or long-term. Issues that are important to
our stakeholders, including but not limited to, our customers and
employees, as well as non-governmental organizations (“NGOs”),
are also crucial to us. We are positive in developing opportunities
with a focus on work ethics to ensure that the Group’s success in
business development is sustainable with the benefits to be passed
on to our employees, customers and the environment.

We see the integration of sustainability into our business strategy as
well as daily operations as a must to pursue our business model.
To deal with the ESG issues effectively, understanding of, and
interaction with, our employees, customers and other stakeholders
are of the highest priority. We believe that effective management
of ESG issues is important to our long-term success in a rapidly
changing world. With thorough understanding of the ESG risks
and opportunities, the Group will be better positioned in allocating
its resources to reduce and recycle different kinds of waste, and
responding to the increasing demand for higher standards of waste
treatment by regulators. Thus, with all the aforementioned factors,
the Group expects itself to face greater challenges. In addition,
we believe that our expertise, capabilities, and ownership model
can form part of the solutions to some of the challenges that
organizations around the world are already facing. We are confident
that as part of the business decision-making process, by involving
all relevant stakeholders in the ESG management process, we
will be able to better monitor the ESG issues, and the long-term
success of the Group will be assured.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Approach continueq)

Finally, our sustainability strategy in the following aspects applies to
all the work streams:

1. To promote environmental sustainability;
2. To attract, retain and support employees;
3. To engage with stakeholders;

4. To sustain local communities;

5. To strengthen community relations;

6. To grow suppliers’ commitment.

About this report

Report Profile

This ESG report (“Report”) focuses on the Group’s main operations
in Hong Kong, PRC and Malaysia, for the financial year ended
31 March 2020 (“Reporting Period”). It describes the Group’s
progress on its way towards creating sustainable value for its
shareholders and other stakeholders. During the process of
preparing this Report, we have conducted thorough review and
evaluation of the existing ESG practices of the Group with the aim
of achieving better performance results in the future.

Report Scope and Boundary

This Report contains information that is material to understand the
Group’s ESG practices and performance in its daily operations in
Hong Kong, PRC and Malaysia.

In addition to the internal factors such as our core values, strategy
and competency that contribute to our sustainable development,
we have communicated with our stakeholders and considered the
ESG challenges as reported by other market players, to decide and
prioritize material topics in this Report.
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RE HERELHRE

About this report (Continued)

Report Scope and Boundary (continued)

The material ESG issues are considered as those which have or
may have a significant impact on:

° the various branches of the Group in Hong Kong, PRC and
Malaysia;

° current and future environment and/or society;
° our financial and/or operational performance; and
° our stakeholders’ assessments, decisions and actions.

This Report is prepared in accordance with the Stock Exchange’s
ESG Reporting Guide as set out in Appendix 27 to the Rules
Governing the Listing Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”).

Should you wish to provide comments or recommend
improvements on our ESG reporting, please reach us through our
feedback hotline (telephone no. at (852) 2319 7121). Although
there were no specific programs to engage stakeholders outside
the Group when this Report was being prepared, we have included
the key issues which are of different stakeholder groups’ concerns,
based on our continual communication with them. Alternatively,
you are also welcome to send your comments and suggestions
regarding our ESG performance to our Company Secretary and
Chief Financial Officer, Mr. Mok Chun Wa, by mail.

Our Stakeholders

The Group is actively looking for every opportunity to understand
and engage our stakeholders to ensure that improvement of our
products and services can be implemented. We strongly believe
that our stakeholders play a crucial role in sustaining the success of
our business.
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Our Stakeholders (Continued)

HKEXx

ERRXZ R

Government

B

Suppliers

HER

Investors

rEE

Media & Public

HEEAR

Customers

EF

Employees

’E

Community

H&E

Compliance with listing rules, timely and
accurate announcements.

S ETTRA] R R A o

Compliance with laws and regulations,
preventing tax evasion, and social welfare.

BPRRER  BRARBEAL RN -
Payment schedule, stable demand.
NHRE - BEF K-

Corporate governance system, business
strategies and performance, investment
returns.

CEERBR EBRBREER RER
?#:EO

Corporate governance, environmental
protection, human right.

EER BRE A

Product quality, service delivery schedule,
reasonable prices, service value, personal
data protection

EmEE REXME - SEER RS
BE EAEFRE-

Rights and benefits, employee
compensation, training and development,
work hours, working environment, labour
protection and work safety

A A B EFM  HI R ER - TH
B TERR STRELTIER 2

Community environment, employment and
community development, social welfare.

HEBRE BEMERER LSRN -

R % 0

Meetings, training, workshops, programs,
website updates and announcements.

g B HEe RiE BEEHLL

%0

Interaction and visits, government
inspections, tax returns and other
information.

EHRRE  BIFRS  BHRRE AR -

Site visits.

HiG5HE -

Seminars, interviews, shareholders’ mestings,

financial reports or operation reports for
investors, media and analysts.

RREE BREAOTEFARNMEE w5

HOBRAE MERERLERS -

Newsletters on the Company’s web site.

TAZR X B) 48 U 3% 4 &9 7 78 o

Site visits, after-sales services.

BRigHE S8 RG-

Team building activities, training, interviews

with employees, internal memos, employees’

suggestion boxes.

B ERAE H - EBEESEK RERN

MEERETIERME-

Community activities, employee voluntary

activities and community welfare subsidies

and donations.
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BIE e REARS

Environmental

Overview

We understand that a healthy environment is the foundation for
economic progress and well-being of the society. Thus, our priority
is to protect the environment and minimize adverse impact on the
environment.

The Group has established a set of management policies and
measures regarding environmental protection to help ensure
sustainable development and efficient operations of the Group. The
Group strives to enhance the efficiency in the use of energy, water
and materials, and also to comply with relevant local environmental
regulations and international general practices, with an aim to
reduce the use of natural resources and protect the environment.

We aim at striking a balance between sustainable corporate
development and environmental protection, and thus, we closely
monitor greenhouse gas emissions and resources consumption
rates to minimize our impact on the environment and natural
resources.

Compliance and Grievance

As far as the Group is concerned, there were no reported
non-compliance incidents or grievances noted by the Group in
relation to environmental aspects during the Reporting Period.

Emissions

The Group has established the “Environmental Protection and Use
of Resources Policy & Procedures” by which we pay full attention
to environmental protection standards and guidelines to help fulffil
our commitment to environmental protection and efficient use of
resources.

The Group has implemented a number of internal environmental
protection measures, with appropriate equipment installed to help
reduce the adverse impact brought to the environment. At the
same time, we are committed to achieving environmental protection
and energy conservation by cooperating with other environmental
protection units and by promoting them to the public.
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Environmental (continueq)

Emissions (continuea)

In order to achieve the above objectives, we have adopted the
following working principles:

° To comply with the regulations

The Group ensures that internal guidelines and procedures
are in place for all its business operations to follow in order to
comply with the relevant laws and regulations in Hong Kong,
PRC and Malaysia.

° To prevent pollution

The Group does its best to avoid, reduce and control
environmental pollution caused by its daily operations.

° To reduce the wastes

While there is no wastewater discharge from its operations in
the PRC and Malaysia, the Group has installed an automatic
wastewater treatment system to ensure that any effluent
discharged to the drainage complies with the relevant
regulatory requirements in Hong Kong. The Group also
engages external agencies to perform waste discharge testing
annually to ensure that the pH value of the discharge fulfils the
environmental protection standard set by the government.

In addition, the Group closely cooperates with qualified
environmental recyclers to recycle solid wastes produced
during the production process in Hong Kong (including,
but not limited to, waste paper, waste zinc, waste plastic
materials, etc.).

° To reduce consumption of resources

The Group aims at implementing convenient and
cost-effective waste management; and upholding sustainable
development by reducing consumption of resources, reducing
manufacturing waste, as well as reusing and recycling of
reusable wastes.
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Environmental continueq)

Emissions (continued)

° To improve the Group’s performance

Based on the changes in internal and external factors,
management reviews the objectives relating to environmental
protection, use of resources, and sustainable development
and operations of the Group in order to continuously improve
the Group’s performance.

Besides, the Group has obtained a Discharge Licence (Licence No.
WT00032965-2018) which is valid until 31 January 2024 in relation
to the Water Pollution Control Ordinance (Cap. 358). The Group
has also been granted with the Registration of Waste Producer
(Producer No.: 3422-295-1.2857-02) under the Waste Disposal
(Chemical Waste) (General) Regulation (Cap. 354C).

For details regarding emissions during the Reporting Period,
please refer to the section of “Key Performance Indicators — A.
Environmental — Emission Indicators KPI A1.1 & KPI A1.2”,

Total Hazardous Wastes and Non-Hazardous Wastes
& Results Achieved by Mitigating Emissions

Hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are generated during the
course of our production and daily operations.

Hazardous wastes include, but are not limited to, chemical
wastewater, cloths stained with chemicals, wasted zinc, photograph
potions, Isopropyl alcohol (IPA) and Polyvinyl Chloride (PVC).
Non-hazardous wastes include, but are not limited to, paper, foam
board, synthesized paper, lightbox film, canvas and sticker.

During the Reporting Period, we complied with all relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on our business, including,
but not limited to, Waste Disposal Ordinance in Hong Kong, Solid
Waste and Public Cleansing Management Act 2007 in Malaysia,
and the Law of China on Prevention and Control of Environmental
Pollution by Solid Waste in China.
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Environmental (continueq)

Total Hazardous Wastes and Non-Hazardous Wastes
& Results Achieved by Mitigating Emissions (continued)

In order to mitigate the emission of wastes, the Group has
configured the wastewater recycling system and has engaged
qualified recyclers to recycle wastes. Wastes being recycled include
chemical wastewater, wasted zinc, photograph potions and paper.

For details regarding the production of wastes during the Reporting
Period, please refer to the section of “Key Performance Indicators
— A. Environmental — Hazardous Waste Indicators KPI A1.3 &
Non-hazardous Waste Indicators KPI A1.4”,

Use of Resources

The Group has established the “Environmental Protection and Use
of Resources Policy & Procedures” to ensure that the concept of
environmental sustainability is integrated into every part of our daily
business operations by complying with all environmental protection
policies, practices and initiatives.

The Group complies with the policies in the efficient use of
resources, including energy, water and raw materials.

It is very important for the Group to monitor water quality and air
quality, and strengthen the investigation, assessment and reporting
processes and procedures as for the impact of our production on
the ecosystem in order to prevent any environmental accidents from
happening.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
BIE e REARS

Environmental continueq)

The Environment and Natural Resources

The Group has established a comprehensive environment pollution
prevention and control system, adopted measures against solid
waste to prevent environmental pollution and clarify management
responsibility.

As a paper printing and banner printing service provider, there
is no significant consumption of natural resources and therefore
the Group’s activities do not have any significant impact on the
environment. Notwithstanding, the Group strives to enhance
environmental sustainability and environmental awareness among
its employees.

In addition to the measures implemented to reduce the use of
resources and disposal of waste (see sections headed “Total
Hazardous Wastes and Non-Hazardous Wastes & Results Achieved
by Mitigating Emissions” above), the Group has taken actions to
manage its activities and minimise its impact on the environment
and natural resources, such as implementing applicable systems
and policies to monitor use of natural resources and circulating
notices regarding how to save energy and resources.

In addition, we will continue to assess the environmental risks of our
business, review the environmental practices and adopt preventive
measures as necessary to reduce the risks and ensure compliance
with relevant laws and regulations to the Group’s emissions and the
use of resources.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Environmental (continueq)

Direct/indirect usage of electricity/water and raw
materials

The practices that reduce the use of resources include:

Electricity:

Support the “Indoor Temperature Savings Charter” program
to maintain the average indoor temperature from 24 to 26
degrees Celsius.

Use compact fluorescent lamps, T5, T8 light tubes or LED
lights.

Turn off the electrical appliances e.g. air conditioners, lights,
and computers, etc., when they are not in use e.g. during
non-office hours, and lunch time.

Turn off lights and air conditioners in the office/production
plant when members of staff are not in the office/production
plant e.g. Saturday afternoon.

Ensure that all lights, air conditioners and electrical appliances
that are not in use are turned off properly when the last
colleague leaves the office/production plant.

Water:

Report matters related to water dripping to the Administration
Department for follow-up.

Turn off the water source after use, even though there is no
difficulty in sourcing water.

Use recycled water instead of running water for rinsing zinc
plates.

Install filters in printing machines to recycle water.

Configure a wastewater treatment system which helps to
dilute the wastewater produced during the pre-press stage
of production to ensure that the pH value of the wastewater
meets the required standard before the wastewater is
discharged.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RE HERELHRE

Environmental continueq)

Direct/indirect usage of electricity/water and raw
materials (continued)

Raw materials:
o Use non-alcoholic printing to reduce air pollution.

° Use environmental-friendly paper during each production
process.

° Provide FSC (Forest Certification) paper as one of the choices
which the customers can choose from.

° Clean regularly the parts of the production machine
contaminated with color ink to reduce cases of reprint.

° If some parts can still be reused after they have been taken
out from the machine, they will be reserved as spare parts.

° Use kraft paper instead of carton packaging for some of the
packaging.

° Encourage customers to bring their own shopping bags
(BYOB).

° Use the printing ink in the production process that is made of
soybeans.

° Hand over most of the wastes produced in the production
process to the qualified recyclers for recycling.

For details regarding the consumption of energy and water
during the Reporting Period, please refer to the section of “Key
Performance Indicators — A. Environment — Energy and Water
Consumption Indicators KPI A2.1 & KPI A2.2”

Packaging materials used for finished products

To reduce the carbon footprint and contribute to saving the planet,
the Group encourages our customers to minimize the use of plastic
bags. We suggest our customers to bring their own shopping bags.
Besides, the majority of the packaging materials used by the Group
are recyclable and biodegradable.

For details regarding the consumption of packaging materials
during the Reporting Period, please refer to the section of “Key
Performance Indicators — A. Environment — Packaging Materials
Indicators KPI A2.5”.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Social

Workplace

The key to our success depends on the well-organized team of
qualified and experienced talents. We focus on assisting our staff
to achieve their career goals and self-development. We provide
training through seminars and forums, and encourage our staff to
grow with the Group together.

The Group’s team profile

As at 31 March 2020, we had 312 employees in total. For the
statistics related to our employment structure and employee
turnover rate as at the year ended March 2020 and March 2019,
please refer to the section of “Key Performance Indicators — B.
Social — Employment Indicators — KPI B1.1 & KPI B1.2”.

The Group maintains an Employees’ Handbook which stipulates
the policies of recruitment, dismissal, promotion, remuneration
and benefits of employees. Every employee gets a copy of the
Employees’ Handbook to make sure that they are aware of their
rights and responsibilities. All new employees have an employment
contract signed with the Group, setting out the rights and
responsibilities of both parties in order to safeguard the interests of
both parties.

Besides, “Human Resources Operation Procedures” has been
established by the Human Resources Department as the guidelines
in relation to monitoring of human resources of the Group. The
“Human Resources Operation Procedures” helps management
to comply with labour laws and relevant regulations that have a
significant impact on the Group’s internal procedures relating to
recruitment and promotion, working hours, and holidays, etc. For
example, employees should normally work for 8-9 hours per day
and they can apply for overtime claims or compensation leave,
subject to the approval of department supervisors.

Moreover, employees are entitled to have annual leave according
to their grades and the departments which they belong to. For
instance, staff at officer grade and managerial grade are entitled
to have 11 days and 14 days of annual leave respectively in their
first year of employment. Furthermore, all our employees are
entitled to 5 days of marriage leave and 2 days of compassionate
leave for their close family members i.e. parents/children/spouse/
grandparents.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
BIE e REARS

SOCiaI (Continued)

The Group’s team profile (coniinved)

In addition, the Group strictly complies with all relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on its business, including
but not limited to the following:

1. The Group is in compliance with the local laws and
regulations, such as enforcing the terms of employment under
the Employment Ordinance (Chapter 57) as for recruitment,
and provision of reasonable working conditions.

2. The Group provides MPF benefits to our staff in accordance
with the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance.

3. In determining the remuneration of employees, the Group

”

complies with the “Minimum Wage Ordinance” (Chapter 608).

4.  For both recruitment and dismissal, the Group prohibits
practice of discrimination by complying with the Sex
Discrimination Ordinance (Chapter 480), the Disability
Discrimination Ordinance (Chapter 481) and Race
Discrimination Ordinance (Chapter 602).

5.  The Group follows the “Employees’ Compensation Ordinance”
(Chapter 282) in regard to the work injury of employees.

Protecting Health and Safety

We focus on providing a safe and enjoyable working environment
for all of our employees.

During the Reporting Period, we complied with all relevant laws
and regulations regarding industrial health and safety, such as
Factories and Industrial Undertaking Ordinance (Chapter 59) and
Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance (Chapter 509) in Hong
Kong. In the case that an employee encounters an industrial
accident, the Group will take all necessary measures to ensure that
adequate compensation is granted to the employee concerned
in accordance with the requirements stipulated in the Employees’
Compensation Ordinance.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

SOCiaI (Continued)

Protecting Health and Safety (continueq)

We signed a “Health and Safety Policy” statement in 2013 to
emphasize that occupational safety is the first priority of our Group.
In this respect, we encourage our employees to attend relevant
training and we provide sufficient guidance and supervision to the
employees.

During the Reporting Period, we organized fire safety training to
e-print production staff and e-banner production staff in Hong Kong
Office, aiming to reinforce fire safety awareness to our staff. Upon
the completion of the fire safety training, our staff are equipped with
basic fire safety knowledge and skills, such as proper way of using
fire extinguishers.

In addition, during the Reporting Period, we arranged an electricity
safety training session for e-print production staff in Hong Kong,
covering safety measures in electrical works.

The Group has also established “Internal Safety Rules” and “Safety
and Health Management Policies and Procedures” to standardize
the occupational safety procedures of various departments of
the Group, with an aim to protect employees from occupational
hazards.

Furthermore, a Safety Committee has been established to
meet regularly and supervise the occupational safety of various
departments, as well as coordinate and implement training on
occupational safety for the employees.

For the number of work-related fatalities and lost days due to
work injury during the Reporting Period, please refer to the section
of “Key Performance Indicators — B. Social — Health and Safety
Indicators — KPI B2.1 & KPI B2.2”.

Development and Training

We believe that our staff members are the valuable assets of the
organization. By investing in our employees, we improve the service
quality of the Group. We also believe that by organizing training
through seminars and forums for our employees, job satisfaction
would be promoted and staff motivation would be increased,
thereby lowering staff turnover rate.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RE HERELHRE

SOCiaI (Continued)

Development and Training (continued)

Training is arranged for new employees during the probation with
regard to the skills required for that particular position. For example,
the Customer Service Department conveys the knowledge about
product specifications, technology for production, work flows of
order placement, and customer service technique, etc. to the
responsible staff. Before the end of the probation, management
assesses the performance of the new employees in order to
ensure that the new employees are equipped with the required
job knowledge and skills. The assessment criteria include, but not
limited to, sense of responsibility, interpersonal skills and work
attitude, etc.

We also encourage our employees to enhance their knowledge
and skills through pursuing continual education. Employees who
have been employed for over one year are entitled to “Continuing
Education Assistance” if they enrol on courses which are relevant to
their jobs. In order to increase flexibility, there is no pre-defined list
for restricting the courses to be chosen, and so, our employees can
select the most suitable courses by themselves.

For the percentage of employees trained and average training
hours completed per employee during the Reporting Period, please
refer to the section of “Key Performance Indicators — B. Social —
Development and Training Indicators — KPI B3.1 & KPI B3.2”.

Zero Tolerance

During the Reporting Period, the Group complied with all relevant
laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the Company
relating to preventing child and forced labour.

The Group has established an “Anti-discrimination Policy” to
ensure that all our employees understand that harassment and
discrimination are not tolerated. The Group is committed to
providing a fair working environment where all employees are
treated equally. All employees are assessed based on their ability,
performance and contribution, irrespective of their nationality, race,
religion, gender, age or family status.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

SOCiaI (Continued)

Zero Tolerance (continued)

The Group has adopted the following three measures to avoid
recruiting child labour and forced labour during the recruitment
process:

A.

During the recruitment process, the recruitment
advertisements set out the job responsibilities for candidates’
reference in order to avoid potential misunderstanding and
disputes arising from the requirements of the job duties. In
addition, the Group generally does not select any persons
aged 16 or below during the stage of shortlisting candidates.

Candidates are required to fill in a job application form before
the interview and provide identity documents to ensure that
the candidates can be legally employed in Hong Kong.

At the time of appointment, the Group enters into an
employment contract with the new employee, prescribing
the terms of the employment, including basic salary, working
hours, days of annual leave, overtime allowance, meal
allowance, etc., for preventing future disputes over the
employment terms.

According to the Employees’ Handbook issued by the Group,
employees who are in breach of rules, or commit serious dereliction
of duty, malpractice or criminal offence would be immediately
dismissed. In addition, according to the “Human Resources
Operations Procedures” issued by the Human Resources
Department, the following steps would be taken against the
employees who are dismissed:

A.

The department manager or the Human Resources
Department informs the employee directly of the dismissal,
explains the reasons for the dismissal, and completes the
“Employee Termination Form”;

Before an employee leaves the Group, the Human Resources
Department collects the items which are the Group’s assets,
such as mobile phone, laptop, business cards, chops, and
locker key, etc.;

Arrangement of the last salary payment to the employee within
one week after termination of the employment.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
BIE e REARS

SOCiaI (Continued)

Complaints

The “Human Resources Operations Procedures” issued by the
Human Resources Department of the Group stipulates that the
Group provides employees with a number of channels of lodging
complaints. For example, when a staff member encounters any
unreasonable treatment, he/she can report it to the department
head and Human Resources Department of the Group.

Cultural activities

In order to promote work-life balance for our staff, various kinds of
recreational activities are provided.

For example, the Group has formed a basketball team and a
football team. Sports training sessions are provided to increase the
bonding among employees.

Education

The Group is in good relationship with the Hong Kong Design
Institute (“HKDI”), Pro-Act Training and other tertiary institutions,
and invites their students to visit our printing production line from
time to time to pass on the basic knowledge of the printing industry
to them.

We believe that education is the most effective means of
propagating and sustaining community investments. During the
Reporting Period, the Group made printing sponsorship to different
charitable organizations regarding children education, such as
Seedland Educational Charitable Foundation, The Hub Children and
Youth Centre, etc.

Environment
As a result of our continual efforts made on environmental

sustainability, we have been awarded “BOCHK Corporate
Environmental Leadership” by Federation of Hong Kong Industries.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

SOCiaI (Continued)

Cultural activities (continuea)

Environment (Continuead)

In addition to the environmental certifications, the Group is also
actively involved in various types of environmental protection
activities, such as the “Paper Towel Reduction Scheme” organized
by the World Green Organization, “Earth Hours 2019” organized by
WWEF, and “Lai See Reuse and Recycle Program 2020” organized
by the Greeners Action.

Labour demand

We deeply understand the importance of giving back to the society.
Internship and full-time employment opportunities are offered to
university students, such that they can gain hands-on experience in
the printing industry.

Moreover, we believe happiness at work helps to improve staff
morale. During the Reporting Period, the Group has won the
“Happiness at Work Promotional Scheme 2019”.

Aiming for more suppliers complying with our Code
of Conduct

We stress the importance of minimizing the environmental
impact caused by our production. For instance, we adopt
green procurement practices by using printing ink that is made
of soybeans in our production. As compared to the traditional
Petroleum-based ink, soy-based ink is more environmentally friendly
and makes paper easier for recycle.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
BIE e REARS

SOCiaI (Continued)

Aiming for more suppliers complying with our Code
of Conduct (continuea)

Moreover, we continuously monitor the performance of our supply
chain so as to ensure the quality of products provided to our
customers. We have set criteria for assessing suppliers such
as price, quality, relationship, stability on goods supply, delivery
time, and payment terms, etc. For the number of our suppliers by
geographical region during the Reporting Period, please refer to the
section “Key Performance Indicators — B. Social — Supply Chain
Management Indicators — KPI B5.1”.

Every year, the Purchasing Department assesses the primary
suppliers of raw materials by filing in an evaluation report. The
assessment criteria include, but not limited to, incidents of goods
return, price fluctuation, delivery time, company background, and
stability of goods supply, etc. Besides, the Group maintains an
approved vendor list to include all qualified suppliers. For each
procurement order, the Group selects the suppliers from the
approved vendor list and requests two to three suppliers for price
quotations.

In addition, the Group requires the suppliers to declare if there
is any close personal or business relationship with the Group’s
directors, employees or agents. If any suppliers and contractors
are found guilty in breaching any legal requirements, the Group has
the right to terminate all outstanding contracts with the relevant
suppliers or contractors immediately, while the relevant supplier
or contractor is not able to recover any compensation or claim for
loss.
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SOCiaI (Continued)

Product Responsibility

During the Reporting Period, the Group strictly complied with laws
and regulations in regard to product responsibility in Hong Kong,
Malaysia and PRC that have a significant impact on our business,
including, but not limited to, Copyright Ordinance (Chapter 528)
in Hong Kong; Trademark Law of the PRC, the Copyright Law
of the PRC and the Rules of Protection on Information Network
Dissemination Rights in the PRC; and the Consumer Protection Act
1999 in Malaysia.

We have established procedures in relation to monitoring and
protection of intellectual property rights.

For the orders placed by the customers at the retail shops or the
self-service platform or through the customer service hotline, the
Customer Service Department is responsible for checking the files
against infringement of intellectual property rights or any other
issues.

If the file to be printed is suspected of possible infringement of
intellectual property rights, the Group would not start printing unless
the customer can provide the authorization proof of the intellectual
property for verification. In case the customer fails to provide such
authorization/proof, the Group has the right to reject the order.

Moreover, the Group reserves the rights to any claims or litigation
in respect of infringement of intellectual property rights arising from
printing of documents provided by the customers.

In order to safeguard product safety, the printing ink used in the
production process is made of non-hazardous substance such
as soybean, and vegetable oil, and therefore, is free from toxic
chemicals like lead. Test reports which list out the composition
of the ingredients of printing ink are obtained from the ink
manufacturers for our reference. The test reports show that no
hazardous components are contained in the printing ink.

If customers are not satisfied with the quality of the products
delivered, the staff of the retail shops have to conduct preliminary
assessment, and will pass the products to the Quality Control
Department for further checking, if necessary.
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SOCiaI (Continued)

Product Responsibility (continueq)

If reprinting, discount or refund arises due to quality issue, the
retail shops would recall part of the products and send them to
the Quality Control Department for quality checking. A report
will then be prepared with information such as checking results,
the responsible department involved, and recommendations for
rectification, etc. clearly listed.

For the percentage of total products sold subject to recalls and
the number of product and service related complaints received
during the Reporting Period, please refer to the section of “Key
Performance Indicators — B. Social — Product Responsibility
Indicators — KPI B6.1 & KPI B6.2”.

Privacy Matters

Due to the business nature, the Group has to collect personal
information from customers such as customers’ names, addresses,
telephone numbers, etc.

Nevertheless, all the personal information collected by the Group
is strictly used in accordance with relevant data privacy laws and
regulations.

The Group has also implemented several controls and measures for
protecting the personal data collected. For example, staff members
are required to sign a non-disclosure agreement upon employment
to state that they are not allowed to disclose any information
to unauthorized third parties. Besides, when the Group collects
personal data via the Group’s website, e.g. when customers
place orders through self-service platform, encryption technology
is adopted to protect the personal data from potential leakage.
Firewall has also been set up in the Group’s website to prevent
unauthorized access and abuse by third parties.
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SOCiaI (Continued)

Anti-corruption

During the Reporting Period, the Group complied with all relevant
laws and regulations that have a significant impact on us relating to
bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering, including, but not
limited to, Criminal Law of China, Anti-Money Laundering Law of
China, the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance in Hong Kong and the
Malaysian Anti-Corruption Commission Act 2009.

As stated in our “Anti-fraud Policy”, employees should promptly
report any suspected fraud cases, whether they are aware of any
suspected persons or events. Employees may report the suspected
fraud cases to their immediate supervisor or the department
manager. The reports can be made verbally, e.g. telephone, or
formally in written form, e.g. letter/email. Full support from senior
management will be given to the employees reporting fraudulent
cases.

After the potential fraudulent cases have been reported,
investigation will be conducted with due care and the investigation
process will be kept confidential. For the proven fraud, management
will take corrective action immediately.

Furthermore, the Group has established a guideline on gift receipt
to make it clear for employees to prevent corruption and bribery.
Upon receipt of gift, an employee has to make declaration to the
Group within 3 working days.

During the Reporting Period, no corruption case was noted and/or
reported.

Whistle-blowing policy

The Group has set up a whistle-blowing policy to provide
guidance for employees to report their concerns of any suspected
misconduct, malpractice or irregularity within the Group.

In our workplace, in order to maintain a high standard of integrity
and impartiality, we encourage our employees to whistle-blow any
suspected corruption incidents and the whistle-blowers will remain
anonymous after the investigation report is issued.
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SOCiaI (Continued)

Communication channel

The Group has established internal staff complaint procedures to
ensure that proper channels are in place for employees to file their
complaints. If an employee would like to lodge a complaint, he/
she can report it directly to his/her department head. If he/she is
dissatisfied with the results, he/she can file complaints further to the
Human Resources Department.

Customer Service Department

The Group has established “Complaint Handling Procedures”
which stipulates the procedures for handling complaints received
from customers. Complaints received must be recorded in the
internal system and passed to senior staff or the Customer Service
Department for follow-up.

Under normal circumstances, the Group should reply to the
complainant within 3 working days. If more than 3 days of
investigation is required, the Group should at least make an interim
reply to the complainant. Furthermore, a final reply should be
made to the complainant within 7 days after the first interim reply.
However, in exceptional cases, if the investigation is still in progress,
the Group, should update the complainant about the investigation
status once a week.

In order to enhance the service quality of various departments, the
Customer Service Department reports the details of the complaint
to relevant departments for follow-up during the business review
meeting with the Marketing and Production Department.
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SOCiaI (Continued)

Community Contribution

Our goal is to establish long-term relationships with organizations
that share the same philosophy as ours, and are willing to bring
social development to the community based on their mutual
assistance, respect and integrity.

Through cooperating with different organizations in the community,
employee voluntary service and donation, the Group is committed
to establishing positive impact in the following three areas:

Environmental education:

We work together with different agencies in order to reduce the
damage to the environment caused by our business operations.
We are also committed to raising the awareness of employees
about carbon reduction in the environment, and supporting
and sponsoring relevant institutions and initiatives to promote
environmental education.

During the Reporting Period, we cooperated with a number of
NGOs and tertiary institutions to organize various activities such as
red packets recycling and paper towel reduction scheme. As such,
we aspire to raise environmental awareness in the community.

Assistance to the disadvantaged groups:

We believe that everyone is equal. The spirit of mutual help
and mutual love is to make the society harmonious and help
develop the economy. We collect donations from employees
and business partners through various activities to help meet the
needs of the disadvantaged groups and improve the life quality
of the communities to which they belong. We also provide job
opportunities to the underprivileged groups.

During the Reporting Period, our staff visited Fu Hong Society
Center on 29 Dec 2019, to show our caring and respect to the
persons with intellectual disabilities.

Moreover, printing sponsorships were offered to various NGOs,
such as World Vision Hong Kong and Fu Hong Society. The
sponsorships support the community initiatives in offering
assistance to the disadvantaged group.
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SOCiaI (Continued)

Community Contribution continued)

Cultivation of cultural creation:

Culture is an important milestone in the heritage of mankind and a
key part of historical testimony. Creation can inspire us to learn from
each other, leading to a more innovative thinking environment. With
respect to this, we support employees to organize different design
contests in order to widen the contestants’ creative horizons.

For details of the resources we have contributed to the community
during the Reporting Period, please refer to the section of “Key
Performance Indicators — B. Social — Community Investment
Indicators — KPI B8.2”.
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Key Performance Indicators BRENER
Part A. Environmental EF—HD BT

Emission Indicators

- KPI A1.1 Source Emission Type
RES-
BRIGUSEA KR = #HER
Emission Data from Vehicles (in grams)
EHNEREE (WAm&t)
For the For the For the For the
year ended year ended year ended year ended
31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March
2020 2019 2020 2019
—R-RF ZER-NF “RCRF ZER-NF
ZA=+—H =ZA=1+—H “A=t—-H =ZA=t+-—H
IEFERE IEFERE IEFE IEFE
Kilometres 112,223.0 km 78,719.0 km Nitrogen 30,188.2 28,870.3
travelled 112223028  78,719.00 8 Oxides
BITHAR ara
Particulate 2,751.2 2,660.3
Matter
rmE
Units of fuel
consumed
FRFEIRELE (7
Diesel 00L 2134 L
i 0.0 213.47
Petrol 11,890.2 L 9,962.3L  Sulphur Oxides 174.8 149.9
i 11,800.2F 996237t WAlLE!

—
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Key Performance Indicators (coniinueq BRENER«

Part A. Environmental (continued) F—Ho BRE®

Emission Indicators

- KPI A1.2 Source i Emission Type
REE-
HRENESRAL2 R g BHER
Total Greenhouse Gas (“GHG”) Emissions (in kilograms)
BERBHEN (TRZERE)EE (AFxat)
For the For the For the For the
year ended year ended year ended year ended
31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March
2020 2019 2020 2019
az az az aZE
it e 223 —ZNE it S %3 “T-NF
=ZA=+—HB =ZRA=1+-H =ZA=+—-H =ZRA=1+—H
ILEE EFE IEEE IEEE

Scope 1: Direct Emissions or Removals from Sources

#E EREZEREHARBS

Scope 1b - Units of fuel
GHG Emissions consumed
from Mobile TR RLEE L
Combustion Sources
EE1b- NERHHA
BEAANEZE
REHH
Diesel 0.0L 2134 L
i 0.07t 21347+
Petrol 11,890.2 L 9,962.3L  Carbon Dioxide 26,806.9 27,565.2
b 11,890.27F 9962.3%  —&fbx

Scope 2 - Energy Indirect Emissions

BE2-EREEEEREHN
Unit of Electricity ~ 2,783,679.0 ~ 2,924,734.0  Carbon Dioxide 17896916  1,879,761.3

Consumed KWh KWh  Z&1Lix
B RSN 2,783,679.0 2,924,734.0
TRE ThE
Total Amount of Carbon Dioxide Produced during the Reporting Period: 1,816,498.5 1,907,326.5

REEHBEEN _SLREE:
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Key Performance Indicators continue) FAEENIEE »
Part A. Environmental (continuea) F—HD RE#)

Hazardous Waste Indicators — KPl A1.3 Source

FEREVESE-BREMESFALS HR

For the For the
year ended year ended
31 March 31 March
2020 2019

BHZE HE

—E-FF —E—hF
=A=+—H =A=+—H

IEFE IEFE
Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes)
EENEEBREYEE (LABEEL)
Chemical Wastewater 748.500! 861.000
{5k
Cloths stained with chemicals 3.818 3.273
EEEmBEREME
Wasted Zinc 104.796 101.608
Photograph Potions 10.073 17.342
iEDaNE
Isopropy! alcohol (IPA) 7.542 4.824
HRlE
Polyvinyl Chloride (PVC) 4.298 4.700
BRI
Hazardous waste produced per tonne of product produced (in tonnes/tonne produced)
BHEMMEENEEREY (LAFTEEHIBESLET)
Chemical Wastewater 0.24711 0.303
{EIEK
Cloths stained with chemicals 0.001 0.001
EHREROFERME
Wasted Zinc 0.035 0.036
& &
Photograph Potions 0.003 0.006
MR BEK
Isopropy! alcohol (IPA) 2002 0.002
2Rk
Polyvinyl Chloride (PVC) 0.001 0.001
BREME
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Key Performance Indicators (continued) FAREMIEE
Part A. Environmental (continueq) EF—BD RE @

Non-hazardous Waste Indicators
- KPI A1.4 Source

BERRVES -BEREREFRA14 HR

For the For the
year ended year ended
31 March 31 March
2020 2019

BHE HE

—E-FF —E-NF
=A=+—H =A=+—H

IEFE IEFE
Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes)
EENEERRYEE (LAWEET)
Paper 576.298 503.107
AR IR
Foam board 33.697 33.621
SRR
Synthesized Paper 56.072 27.415
B
Lightbox Film 30.163 5.984
R AE IR
Canvas 3.266 3.092
i)
Sticker 13.542 14.980
JER S
Non-hazardous waste produced per tonne of unit produced (in tonnes/tonne produced)
BHEMMEENEZTEREY (CARTEE £ ROME BET)
Paper 0.190 0177
AR IR
Foam board 0.509 0.272
YRR
Synthesized Paper 0.536 0.474
AR
Lightbox Film 0.515 0.094
R R E R
Canvas 0.408 0.454
i
Sticker 0.328 0.348
AL AR
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Key Performance Indicators (contineq BRENER«
Part A. Environmental (continued) E—BD RE @)

Energy and Water Consumption
- KPI A2.1 & KPI A2.2 Source

BRRKEFEE-BREX
ERA2. 1R BREANIEFRA2.2 R

For the year ended For the year ended
31 March 2020 31 March 2019
BE_Z_ZF BE_Z—NF
ZA=+—RHLEE ZA=+—RHLEE
Total Consumption
HERAE
Electricity 2,783,679 kWh 2,924,734 KWh
e 2,783,679F FLE 2,924,734 F FLB§
Water 3,399 cubic metres' 3,300 cubic metres
KER 3,39937 /5 K! 3,30037 A K
Consumption per unit produced
BENMELENERE
Electricity 758.21 KWh per tonne 873.16 kWh per tonne
Bt 758.21F LI & MR 873.16 LU i & M
Water 0.93 cubic metres per tonne'  0.99 cubic metres per tonne
IKE IR 0.9337 J3 K Mg 0.9937 77 K & Mg
———-/

_/
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Key Performance Indicators (coniinueq BRENER«

Part A. Environmental (continued) F—Ho BRE®

Packaging Material Indicators

- KPI A2.5
BEMBHEE -BRENISRA2S5
Source Total Packaging Material Packaging material per tonne
iR used for Finished Products of product produced
HEmTAERMBEE BHMEGMEENBEME
(in tonnes) (in tonnes/tonne produced)
(LABEEL) (LARTEE £ RO WERKET)
For the For the For the For the
year ended year ended year ended year ended
31 March 2020 31 March 2019 31 March 2020 31 March 2019
BZE BZE BZE BHE
—T_FF —ZT-NF —TTF —T-NF
=—A=+—8H —A=+—8H —A=+—8H —A=+—H
IEEE ILEFE IEFE IEFE
Carton 0.82 1.40 0.0003 0.0005
i)
Plastic Box 3.96 5.83 0.0013 0.0021
BHER
Kraft Paper 7.09 6.73 0.0023 0.0024
AR
Paper Box 46.78 27.62 0.0154 0.0097
AN
Transparent Wrap 4.74 4.84 0.0016 0.0017
FERER
Sealing Tape 0.96 0.92 0.0003 0.0003
3

66  eprint Group Limited Annual Report 2019/20



Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RE g RERME

Key Performance Indicators (contineq BRENER«
Part B. Social Eomao e

Employment Indicators — KPI B1.1 As at 31 March 2020 As at 31 March 2019
ERESE-BRENEEBA R=-B-BF=A=+—8 R=EB-hAE=A=+-—H
Employment
&=
Total number of employees 312 328
ETHAH
By gender

5l 7
Male 195 202
E2Ris
Female 117 126
g
By age group

Fi?
Below 18 0 1
18BR A T
18 to 25 48 60
18ZE255%
26 to 35 112 117
26Z3575%
36 to 45 57 66
36E455%
46 to 55 63 58
46Z555%
56 to 65 32 26
56E655%
By region
ZEE S
Hong Kong 261 273
E%
PRC 28 30
A B A3
Malaysia 23 25
Bk
By Employment Type

V- Ly
Permanent Staff A 311
XAKREIAB
Contract Staff 15 17
aRES
Par:[—Time Staff 0
FRELAB
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Key Performance Indicators continveq) FEARENIBE =
Part B. Social (continued) T HE

Employment Indicators - KPI B1.2

BREER-BEENESB2

For the Year Ended
31 March 2020
BE-_ZE_-_ZF

=A=1+—BLEE

For the Year Ended
31 March 2019
BE-Z—h#F

SEA=T—-HALEFE

Employee turnover

EBERALLR

Aggregate employee turnover rate

EHEERKLE

By gender
MBI 5

Male

S

Female

pegi:s

By age group
BRE#RS
Below 18
185 A~

18 to 25

182 255%

26 to 35
26E355%

36 to 45
36E455%

46 to 55
46E555%

56 to 65
56655

By region
REH S

Hong Kong
0

PRC

B A i

Malaysia

Y Y]
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Part B. Social (continuea)

Health and Safety Indicators
- KPI B2.1& KPI B2.2

RERZEESR-
BRENEEB21ARBRENIEEB2.2

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
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BERERER

F-HBD HE®

For the Year Ended
31 March 2020

For the Year Ended
31 March 2019

Fatality number

BTA™

Number of reportable injuries

AFTHREIGHE

Number of day lost

ATHRERBXE

Development and Training Indicators
- KPI B3.1

BRRERBIER -BEREAREEBIA

Percentage of employees trained
EIETEDL

By gender
ZMHE 5

Male

SH

Female

M

By employee category
BETEF S

Entry level
AFIR

Middle level
FE

Management level
EIRE

BE-_Z2-2F
ZA=t—-HLEHE
0

13

53

For the Year Ended
31 March 2020
BE-Z_-FF

=RA=1+t—HLEE

76.5%

23.5%

80.9%

18.2%

BE-Z-—hF
ZA=+—HLEE
0

9

124

For the Year Ended
31 March 2019
BE-_Z—hF

ZA=+—BLEE

71.7%

28.3%

86.9%

12.0%
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Key Performance Indicators continueq
Part B. Social (continuea)

Development and Training Indicators
- KPI B3.2

BREREIESR -BREXEEBS.2

BERERER

F-HBD LG

Total number of hours of internal
training received by employees

8 TP 3 Al Bl A9 48 B 21

Average hours of training per employee

BES T FHRIBH

Average hours of training per
employee by gender
B 7 88 T F151% 5 i &

Male
S
Female

it

Average hours of training per
employee by employment category

BIEREL 7 & 168 T 71545 5 2

Entry level
UNE

Middle level
HE

Management level
EIRE
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For the Year Ended For the Year Ended
31 March 2020 31 March 2019
BE-—F-%%F BE_2-h&

=BA=+—HLEE =B=+—HILEE

128.00 71.50
1.56 1.27
1.35 2.27
1.08 1.60
1.46 1.27
1.00 1.00
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RIE -nekEgams

BERERER

F-HBD HE®

Key Performance Indicators continueq

Part B. Social (continued)

Supply Chain Management Indicators
- KPI B5.1

HEEEEEER - BRAREEBSA

Supplier management

HEBEE

Total number of suppliers

HEEAR

By region
HELS

Hong Kong
B
PRC
[

Taiwan

Malaysia
R E

Product Responsibility Indicators
- KPI B6.1& KPI B6.2

For the Year Ended
31 March 2020

BE-_Z2-2F
ZA=t—-HLEHE

171

131

28

10

For the Year Ended
31 March 2020

For the Year Ended
31 March 2019
BE-Z—h#F

ZA=+—HLEE

169

130

28

For the Year Ended
31 March 2019

EREAEE-—BRAEERER BE-ZT-%%F BE-Z—h&
B6.1 % B & & W15 15B6.2 =Z=A=+—-BLFE ZA=+—BHLEE
Total No. of Products sold or shipped 600,944 722,201
EESEEXEMRBEH

Total number of products subject 0 0

to recalls for safety and health reason
AZ2RRRERAZGENERER
Total number of complaints received 0 2

2 IR R AR
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RE e lkEams

Key Performance Indicators continveq) FAREMIEE
Part B. Social (continueq) Ty HE @)

Community Investment Indicators For the Year Ended For the Year Ended
- KPI B8.2 31 Mar 2020 31 Mar 2019

BE-S_-_8F BE-ZE—h&F
HEREREE-BERENEEBS.2 =A=+t—HLEE =A=+t—HLEE

Resources contributed to education, 56,804.00 172,725.75
environmental concerns, labour needs,
health, culture, sport (Amount in HK$)

HHYE REBE - BBER -BF- k-
REERNER (RBTE)

Corporate charitable activities 6 21
Hours spent on charitable activities

CEEETHERETDMAKS

Employee volunteering 20 71
Number of employee volunteer
ETEREHETIEREAY
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

ESG Reporting Guide & Reference

A. Environmental

R e RERRE

RE HERELBHRSEESIR
2Z

Related Section

ABIE

A1. Emissions

A1EER

Information on the policies and compliance with relevant laws
and regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer relating to
air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and land,
and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.
BHBERIOAZEREBY N HKRIHHHE5 BER
BEEERYNELSOBRLETHETAREAREN
HEERIERNER -

KPI A1.1 The types of emissions and respective emission data.

PR B AE RUR IR A1 A B R 1R SR AR BE R I BUE

KPI A1.2 Greenhouse gas emission in total (in tonnes) and, where
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).
FAREBESAMAERBEYHRE (AEAE) X (NER)ER
(MAEEEHM BERMETHE) -

KPI A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).)
BREVIESEMIMELBETEEDESE (UEE) R (ER)BE

(MAEEESN BEFRMETH)

KPI A1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).
FRANESAMAMELEZSEZEYEAE (UWEE) R (ER) B E

(MMABEESEM BEBMEE) ©

KPI A1.5 Description of measures to mitigate emissions and results
achieved.

B8 A8 U IR A1 BH IRV IE BEN B S i S PR 1S AR ©

KPI A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes
are handled, reduction initiatives and results achieved

FREMIERA HIREEERETREENMN L REELEN
B R PTG R R ©

HEED

Environmental — Overview,
Compliance and Grievance,
Emissions

BR-ME SR BFK
B

Key Performance Indicators
— Part A. Environmental
B A DUE R

—E—#5 BF

Key Performance Indicators
— Part A. Environmental
AR A BURTE

~E- %5 B®F

Key Performance Indicators
— Part A. Environmental
B B4R R IR

~E— 5 BF

Key Performance Indicators
— Part A. Environmental
B R A BUE T

—E—#n KR

Environmental — Overview,
Emissions

RIE-ME PR

Environmental — Total Hazardous
Wastes and Non-Hazardous
Wastes & Results Achieved
by Mitigating Emissions

RE-BEBEEVLES
BEZZ Y42 2 LA KR A BERR

DI EES

—
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RS e kERRE

ESG Reporting Guide & Reference (continued RE HERERHREESR
2E

A2. Use of Resources

A2.5 R

Related Section
HERERS

Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy,
water and other raw materials.

BERERER (BEER KREMRME)OBEK-

KPI A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type. (e.g. electricity,
gas or oil) in total (kWh in '000s) and intensity (e.g. per unit of production
volume, per facility).

BRESIESEARERE SN EE R, SEEER (1S f3h)
HREE (UTETRRFAE) REBEE (MAGESELN  FEREAE)

o

KPI A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of
production volume, per facility).
BRERIREA2EFAKEREE (WABEESN BERMTE)

KPI A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency initiatives and results achieved.

B B2 45 IR 1R A2 S il BE IR £ P 2 et 51 8 SR PSR R

KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that
is fit for purpose, water efficiency initiatives and results achieved.

B8 48 R AR A2, 44 i SR BXGE A /KR £ RI A 2 fa] 88 -
AR RKS S8 RFTFKRR -

KPI A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonnes) and,

if applicable, with reference to per unit produced.
BREBIERA2RK MR BEM B EE (UNEFE) &
(WER) SEEEMEE-
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Environmental —
Use of Resources

RE-EREH

Key Performance Indicators —
Part A. Environmental
Fﬂfki MIEIR —

— 25 IRIE

Key Performance Indicators —
Part A. Environmental
B A RUEE —

_;ng '\-E&

Environmental — Direct/Indirect
Usage of Electricity/Water
and Raw Materials

RE-HE HEER
B, KEE R BN K

Environmental — Direct/Indirect
Usage of Electricity/Water
and Raw Materials

—-BE/BEEAR
%ﬁﬁ/7}<ﬁﬁ&ﬁ\7ﬁﬂ'

Environmental — Packaging
materials used for finished
products, Key Performance
Indicators — Part A.
Environmental

— B MR
M?H Féﬁiﬁ%i xﬂl?a#



Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RE g RERME

ESG Reporting Guide & Reference (coniinued RE HERERHREESR
2ZE
A3. The Environment and Natural Resources Related Section
A RERKREIR HEEDH
Policies on minimizing the issuer’s significant impact Environmental — Direct/Indirect
on the environment and natural resources. Usage of Electricity/Water
BRBITABBRBERRARBEREXNERZENBUR and Raw Materials

RE-EEHEER
EaKEE R MK

KPI A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities Environmental — Direct/Indirect
on the environment and natural resources and the actions taken Usage of Electricity/Water
to manage them. and Raw Materials

BRERIEEAS IR ER R HRBERRABERNEATE RE-HE HEER
MERBRERBALENTH- R IKBE KRR B

B. Social Related Section

B.iE HEEH

B1. Employment

B1.j2{&

Information on the policies and compliance with laws and regulations Social — Workplace,
that have a significant impact on the issuer relating to compensation and The Group’s Team Profile
dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal e —-T1E5AT ANEE
opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and other benefits and welfare. E XN

BN ERE BELE TERE R FEHE Zit-
REGAREMFERBANOBRNETHETABEALEN

AR ERNE R -
KPI B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type, age group and Key Performance Indicators —
geographical region. Part B. Social

R EBIEZEBI. 1R MR BEREE  FRAJNNEZSHES B - RA SR 4B B IZ —
F_Eo e

KPI B1.2 Employment turnover rate by gender, age group and Key Performance Indicators —
geographical region. Part B. Social
FREBIEEBI 2R MR Fiedn kit B o EB MK X R A BB —

F_Ho g

2019/20% % eprint EEERAE 75



Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RE g RERmE

ESG Reporting Guide & Reference (continued RE HERERHREESR
2E

B2. Health and Safety Related Section

B2.REEZ 2 HRER

Information on the policies and compliance with laws and regulations that Social — Protecting Health
have a significant impact on the issuer relating to providing a safe and Safety
working environment and protecting employees from occupational hazards. & —(RERE ML 2
FARMRLZE2THEREIREEESHPBELBENIEREK
BFHBTABEARENEBEZERRANNEH -

KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities. Key Performance Indicators —
ARARIEEB2 AR TIEAERME T AR R X Part B. Social

RS AE RER —

B HE
KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury. Key Performance Indicators —
FARERIEEB22ETEEBATIERE - Part B. Social

R ABRIET —

EHH HE
KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures adopted, Social — Protecting Health
how they are implemented and monitored. and Safety
B A DUEEB2 3 M FT IR N B R R L 215 16 HE-—RERRRZSR

AR BRERITRERTT A

B3. Development and training Related Section

B3.3 & R E I HEEH

Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for discharging Social — Development and
duties at work. Description of training activities. Training

BURRTEEBITIEREN B RRAHNBR - BByt e —EE R

KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and Key Performance Indicators
employee category (e.g. senior management, middle management). — Part B. Social

BREZIEEBI RN REERS (NERERE FREEESE) B A DB TR
EoXilEER L - —FE_MHHE

KPI B3.2 The average training hours completed per employee Key Performance Indicators
by gender and employee category. — Part B. Social

BRI EBI.2IR MBI REBERE D BEEETHEIG RSB RIE T
TR B —F_HWH
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RE g RERME

ESG Reporting Guide & Reference (continveq) RE - HERERBERESIR
2E @)
B4. Labour standards Related Section
B4.% T %8| HEEDH
Information on the policies and compliance with laws and regulations Social — Zero Tolerance
that have a significant impact on the issuer relating to preventing child HE-ZTRR

and forced labour.

BRAMNLETH®EH S THBRRMBTHRETABEAZENHEBEENR

SEIREER o
KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices to Social — Zero Tolerance
avoid child and forced labour. HE-TR R

BB RUEIEBA 1 i s RIS B BB AR R E T Mok |45 T o

KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices Social — Zero Tolerance,
when discovered. Complaints
B 5248 WUHE 1R B4 24 i 7E B2 3R 3B #R 1B N IR BROR B B 1B S P ERER B 25 B8 HE-—ZTRR KHK

B5. Supply chain management Related Section
B5. L fE S HEEH
Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply chain. Aiming for More Suppliers
EIRHE SR IR B AL 2 R R BUR Complying with Our Code
of Conduct
EESTEZHNHEREST
BT R A
KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. Key Performance Indicators
R ERIEEBS 1R R B SR HEEHEE - — Part B. Social
BB AR R R
— By g
KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, Social — Aiming for More
number of suppliers where the practices are being implemented, Suppliers Complying with
how they are implemented and monitored. Our Code of Conduct
RS IEBo .2 A A B EEm BN MERITEEEHIN HE-EESEZHNHERS
HEBMEE URBBEHNRITRERT A B RMETT AR
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B e REARE

ESG Reporting Guide & Reference (continveq) RE - HERERBEREIIR
2E @
B6. Product responsibility Related Section
B6.EmEE HEEEH
Information on the policies and compliance with laws and Social — Product Responsibility
regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer relating HE-EREE

to health and safety, advertising, labeling and privacy matters

relating to products and services provided and method of redress.
FRAMERERMRENERRELE B REILEEEUR

R ENBEREFHETABEAZENEEEZEZRBROINER -

KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject Key Performance Indicators
to recalls for safety and health reasons. — Part B. Social
FRENIESBIEE XD ERXEm AT RL 2 HERIEHMA RS AE IR R
EGOER N —FE_HWH G
KPI B6.2 Number of products and service related complaints Key Performance Indicators
received and how they are dealt with. — Part B. Social
R E IR Be.2E BN Em R RIEVIRFE B AR EE A okt pogig e
—FHH 1y
KPI B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and Social — Product Responsibility
protecting intellectual property rights. MHE-EmET
SR AE B 1S B0.O il B A E RARPE A EE B 180l -
KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures. Social — Product Responsibility
SR E NI EB6 4l EERTEBERERBIWIE - HrEe-EmEE
KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, Social — Privacy Matters
how they are implemented and monitored. He-fBEE

FRERIEEBeSHEMEEEERRERLEBBE A RBEERTR

ERTAR
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RE g RERME

ESG Reporting Guide & Reference (continueq RE HERERHREESR
B2Z 5

B7. Anti-corruption Related Section

B7.RE’5 HEEDH

Information on the policies and compliance with relevant laws and Social — Anti-corruption
regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer relating HtE-RES

to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering.
ERABE DR HFMARENBRRENEBETHRETAGEATED
DR LR OIE B -

KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt Social — Anti-corruption
practices brought against the issuer or its employees during Hte-RES
the reporting period and the outcomes of the cases.
BREBIEEBTARRERAANHEITANEEEIRET EEED
BEFARGNEE RFRER-

KPI B7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing Social — Whistle-blowing Policy,
procedures, how they are implemented and monitored. Communication Channel,
FAREDUEEBT 2HH M S e i R R MR A BB T REER A Customer Service Department
HE—RREE BBERB-
= BR 7% &6 P
B8. Community investment Related Section
BS.HERE HEEH
Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of Social — Cultural Activities,
the communities where the issuer operates and to ensure Community Contribution
that its activities take into consideration the communities’ interests. e —xfb/E% (AR

BRANRSERTRETALCEMELEFTENEREREAD
SERMLERMBEOBOR

KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, Social — Community Contribution
environmental concerns, labour needs, health, culture, sport). e —iE s B

MRERIEEBAEIERER (B REME BBF L R
X{c-8E) -

KPI B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus area. Key Performance Indicators
FARAERIEEB2EE IHRBMBAER (N EHKE) - — Part B. Social
R B4R R 1R

—E_#Wy e
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EEREREEE 2BEE

Executive Directors

Mr. She Siu Kee William (R#BE) (‘Mr. She”), aged 57, is the
Chairman, executive Director and chief executive officer. He is the
founder of the Group and has participated in the management
of the Group since October 2001. Mr. She is a director of
certain subsidiaries of the Group and a member of each of the
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee. Mr. She is
primarily responsible for the overall management, development and
planning of the Group and has over 21 years of experience in the
printing industry.

Mr. Chong Cheuk Ki (¥ =) (“‘Mr. Chong”), aged 55, was
appointed as a non-executive Director in November 2013 and
was redesignated as an executive Director on 16 August 2019.
He joined the Group in 2005. Mr. Chong has approximately 11
years of experience in corporate management. He was awarded
a diploma in marketing from the Chartered Institute of Marketing
for fulfilling the requirements of the institute’s examiners at the
diploma examination held in June 1991. Mr. Chong also obtained
a certificate in marketing from Vocational Training Council in June
1989 and a higher certificate in electronic engineering from Hong
Kong Polytechnic (currently known as the Hong Kong Polytechnic
University) in November 1987.

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Leung Wai Ming (R#&H8) (‘Mr. WM Leung’), aged 48, is
a non-executive Director. He joined the Group in 2008. Mr. WM
Leung has over 11 years of experience in the marketing field.

Mr. Cai Qiang (%£38) (“Mr. Cai"), aged 39, was appointed as a
non-executive Director on 16 August 2019. He holds a master’s
degree in law from Hainan University and a Chinese lawyer
qualification, and passes the Chinese sponsor representative exam.
Mr. Cai has worked in the investment banking department of Hualin
Securities Co., Ltd.. He is currently the general manager of the
investment business department of Shantou Dongfeng Printing
Co., Ltd. (stock code 601515), an A share company listed on the
main board of the Shanghai Stock Exchange and a substantial
shareholder of the Company (as defined in the Listing Rules).

80  eprint Group Limited Annual Report 2019/20

HITES

RBEEE(TREE]) 57 EF-
MITEERTHAH - RANEENAIH
ANBZZEE-F+ABRZ2EETELRE
CREEBAEEETHBRARESER
FHMZEeERZE@RBZIKE R
EETBRREASENEBEREE BERKL
HE REAB2IFENRI L -

HeEHEE([HxE])  55m B
T+ AEZIAIFNITEST
RZZE—NFNA+AEBAXTANTE
E-FR_ETRAFNMARER -FHEAE
ELEXEBRBFEEAOIIFLER -HR
—hAN—FNABRNBEATIED
BEAMEESEEMNER WEEGH
BHEB-HEETRRKR—ANAALER
ARSBEIRBIMBEEE kKX
—NN\tFE+—ABRESEFEEITERR (]
BMAEARIARB )NETIRESREEZ-

FHUTES

REHEE ((REIHEE]) 485 3
HTEE BN _TENFMALEE
REREERTBHERREERNIE
(5 -

ERAE([EEE]) 9K R _F
—NEFENBTBEZTAEIFEHTES-
FHRESEASBR T ZABELEM &
BHEMERLBRTFERBERRASH
BEEAECTABRNEMRBLFERHDER QA
RERITE - HIRTIWBER BRI (9 HE
RAR(FEH4mIE:601515)  —ME L
HEERXGHARER LR RAR
ACEEZERF(ERR LEMHAA) KE
EEIAKLE o



Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Poon Chun Wai (GE# &) (‘Mr. Poon”), aged 62, was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 15 August
2016. He is also the chairman of the Remuneration Committee
and a member of each of the Audit Committee and the Nomination
Committee. Mr. Poon has over 31 years of experience in printing.
He has served several large-scale companies in printing solutions
industry.

Mr. Fu Chung (&) (“Mr. Fu”), aged 51, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 8 March 2017. He is also
the chairman of the Nomination Committee and a member of each
of the Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee. Mr. Fu
has over 26 years of experience in the printing industry. He was an
executive committee member of the Chamber of Commerce for The
Hong Kong Printers Association from 2009 to 2016. Mr. Fu was a
sales manager of Kodak (China) Limited from 2000 to 2003, and in
which he was also a sales director from 2003 to 2016.

Mr. Ma Siu Kit ( 7)) (‘Mr. Ma”), aged 50, was appointed as
an independent non-executive Director on 30 December 2016. He
is also the chairman of the Audit Committee. Mr. Ma had obtained
a bachelor’'s degree in business (accountancy) from Queensland
University of Technology, Australia in 1993. He is a member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Ma is
currently the company secretary of China Boton Group Company
Limited (formerly known as China Flavours and Fragrances
Company Limited; stock code: 3318), a company listed on the main
board of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Ma had worked in accounting
firms and different enterprises. He is a seasoned professional in
accounting with over 20 years of relevant accounting experience.

EENEREEEZEE

BYFHITES
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management
E=ENEREEE EE

Senior Management

Mr. Mok Chun Wa (E#& %) (“Mr. Mok”), aged 34, is the
Company Secretary and Chief Financial Officer of the Group. He
joined the Group in 2012. Mr. Mok has over 10 years of experience
in accounting, audit and corporate finance and is responsible for
the financial planning, management, internal control and company
secretarial matters of the Group. He had obtained a bachelor’s
degree in business (accountancy) from Hong Kong Baptist
University and a master’s degree of corporate governance from
Hong Kong Polytechnic University. Mr. Mok is a fellow of The
Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries and The Chartered
Governance Institute (formerly known as The Institute of Chartered
Secretaries and Administrator). He is a member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

Mr. Chan Wai Keung (FR{&3) (‘Mr. Chan”), aged 52, is the
general manager. Mr. Chan joined the Group in December 2011.
He is primarily responsible for formulating the corporate strategies
and planning the business development of the Group. Mr. Chan has
over 11 years of experience in the printing industry. He served as
a sales manager in Wilson Printing Equipment Limited from August
2001 to July 20089.

Mr. Tsui Pak Wai (#X#8/&) (“Mr. Tsui”), aged 52, is the chief
administrative officer. He joined the Group in 2006. Mr. Tsui is
primarily responsible for the internal control, formulating the
corporate policy and workflow, monitoring the daily operation of
the human resources department and administrative department
and participating in brand building activities of the Group. He
has over 11 years of experience in the corporate administration
and management. Mr. Tsui has been a member of the Industry
& Technology Committee of Hong Kong General Chamber of
Commerce since July 2015, a member of Hong Kong Securities
and Investment Institute since January 2015. He was awarded the
graduate executive diploma in Finance and Corporate Accounting
in March 2016 and the graduate executive diploma in PRC
corporate governance from the University of Hong Kong School
of Professional and Continuing Education in November 2014 and
bachelor of arts from Fu Jen Catholic University in June 1997.

Mr. Cheang Ngai Wang (% %) (‘Mr. Cheang’), aged 57, is
the information technology director. Mr. Cheang joined the Group in
December 2004. He has over 11 years of experience in the printing
industry.
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The Board is pleased to submit their report together with the
audited financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 March 2020.

Principal Activities

The Company is an investment company and its subsidiaries
are principally engaged in the provision of printing services and
solutions on advertisement, bound books and stationeries, to a
diversified customer base in Hong Kong.

Business Review

The business review, analysis using financial key performance
indicators and future development in the Company’s business of
the Group for the year ended 31 March 2020 are discussed under
the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management
Discussion and Analysis”. Such discussion forms an integrate part
of this report.

Environmental Policy and Performance

The environmental policies and performance of the Group for
the year ended 31 March 2020 is set out in the section headed
“Environmental, Social and Governance Report” on pages 36 to 79
of this annual report.

Report of the Directors
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Report of the Directors

.
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e

Business Review (Continued)

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

Potential non-compliance with the Occupational Safety &
Health Ordinance (Chapter 509 of the Laws of Hong Kong)
(the “OSHO”) and the Employees’ Compensation Ordinance
(Chapter 282 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “ECO”)

Due to the nature of the business operations, production workers
are involved in the use of manufacturing facilities and may get
injured at work easily. However, the Group may be penalized or
asked for claims in any of the following cases:

(1)

84

If the Group fails to provide and maintain a safe working
environment and the employee suffers from a workplace
accident, the Group will be liable on conviction to a fine of
HK$200,000 and to imprisonment for 6 months. (s6 of the
OSHO)

If the Group purchases a policy of insurance less than the
applicable amount, the Group will be liable on conviction
upon indictment to a fine at level 6 (HK$100,000) and to
imprisonment for 2 years; and on summary conviction to a
fine at level 6 (HK$100,000) and to imprisonment for 1 year,
according to the ECO. (s40 of the ECO)

In the case of a workplace accident, the Group would be
subject to, but not limited to, the employees’ compensation
claims, the common law personal injury claims and the
lawsuit brought by the employees.
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Business Review (continueq)

Principal Risks and Uncertainties (continueqd)
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Risk Response

The Group has established an internal health and safety policy
which provides guidelines on work safety for the employees (e.g.
workplace environment and machine operations).

The Group has also set up a safety committee which conducts
a quarterly review on the existing controls on the occupational
safety of workplace and makes recommendations, if applicable.
In general, the improvement actions will be taken shortly. We also
analyse the reported incidents of employee’s work injury and
provides training sessions to the respective workers regarding the
occupation safety and health.

In addition, the safety protection materials (e.g. ear plugs for ear
protection) have been provided by us for the production workers,
according to the advice from the Labor Department of Hong
Kong.

During the year, no work injuries have been recorded.
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Foreign Exchange Rate Risk

Currently, even though the Group operates principally in Hong
Kong which its business transactions are primarily denominated in
Hong Kong Dollars (‘HKD”), the Group is expanding its business
to overseas markets (e.g. Malaysia) and China (“PRC”) at the
same time. As such, the Group’s business transactions (e.g.
receipts for provision of services, operating fund transfer) are
denominated in foreign currencies e.g. the United States Dollars
(“USD”), Malaysian Ringgit (“‘MYR”) and Renminbi (“RMB”).

In addition, the IT and Accounting support services centre is
located in PRC. Therefore, the Group is exposed to foreign
exchange risk arising from the exposure of RMB against HKD.

In this respect, the volatility of the exchange rates between
foreign currencies and HKD (the Group’s functional currency) may
create substantial foreign exchange risk due to the fluctuations of
exchange rates of foreign currencies.
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Principal Risks and Uncertainties (continueq)
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Risk Response

The financial department keeps close monitoring of the fluctuations
of foreign currencies.

Under the accounting matching principle, the Group adopted
natural hedge to mitigate the foreign exchange risk, for example,
settling payments denominated in MYR by the revenue earned in
MYR, while settling payments denominated in RMB through RMB
bank accounts and cash maintained by the Group.
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Risk Description

Increase in labour cost

According to the statistics reported by the National Bureau of
Statistics of China, the average wage of an employee in the
manufacturing sector in China had increased from RMB77,649
p.a. in 2017 to RMB78,142 p.a. in 2018. Therefore, the increase
in labor cost may indirectly upsurge the subcontracting cost of
the Group since the call centre service and over 50% printing
production have been outsourced to the enterprises in China.

At Hong Kong side, labor cost increases when more headcount is
needed for the expanding business and giving high pay to attract
competent youngsters who are generally less willing to enter into
the manufacturing/production/printing industries.

As a result, the potential risk of an increase in labor cost in both
China and Hong Kong regions cannot be minimized.
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Business Review (continueq)

Principal Risks and Uncertainties (continueqd)
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Risk Response

Management monitors the labor cost of the Group regularly and
also forecasts that the rise in labour cost can be compensated by
the depreciation of RMB and the automated production in both
Hong Kong production base and the subcontracted factory.

With the inception of the advanced printing technologies, the
Group’s manufacturing process has already highly automated. The
Group has also recruited over 25 IT talents to ensure its printing
technology can be developed in an ongoing manner.

Therefore, the Group considers the risk of labor shortage and
rising costs do not have a significant impact on the normal
operations.
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Risk Description

Reduction of market demand

Other than traditional media used by businesses, for example
newspapers advertising, radio advertising, television advertising
and telemarketing, the Web becomes a must-use daily medium
today.

Various inexpensive advertising media have grown rapidly,
including pay-per-click advertising; online banner advertising
that entails the display of a graphical advertising unit, etc., and
social media advertising such as Youtube, Twitter, Facebook,
LinkedIn that are the other kind of media to promote customer
relationships.

There is also a trend of having paperless offices and online
paperless portals.

In this regard, the output of printing industry in Hong Kong and
overseas market (e.g. Malaysia) has been declining in recent
years and the Group might face the risk of unfavorable sales
performance.
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Business Review (coninueq)

Principal Risks and Uncertainties (continueq)
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Risk Response

Although the market demand on traditional printing has been
declining to a certain extent, the breakthrough of printing
technology flourishes the printing business and the market
demand for business communication materials such as brochures,
rack cards and catalogs for exhibition or other promotional
functions is still dominant.

Currently, the Group keeps monitoring the change of consumer
behaviour and builds up a customer relationship management
(CRM) by way of such as customer loyalty program and advocacy
marketing, including VIP membership, one-stop shop, etc. The
Group also provides various kinds of service in and outside Hong
Kong such as the offset printing products, digital printing products
and e-banner to meet the requirements of customers, in addition
to traditional printing services.

In addition, the Marketing Department had started to explore other
possible product lines to diversify the types of services offered.
Examples include variables printing, promotion gifts market, leaflet
distribution services, etc.
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Business Review (continueq)

Compliance with the Relevant Laws and Regulations

During the year under review, as far as the Board and management
are aware, there was no material breach of or non-compliance
with the applicable laws and regulations by the Group that have a
significant impact on the businesses and operation of the Group.

Key Relationships with Employees and Customers

The key relationships with the Group’s employees and customers
are discussed under section headed “Environmental, Social and
Governance Report” on pages 36 to 79 of this annual report.

Key Relationships with Suppliers

The Group understands sustainable supply of quality products is
indispensable for long-term business development. In view of this,
the Group has adopted a supplier management policy to ensure
quality and sustainability of product supply. The Group selects its
suppliers prudently. The suppliers need to fulfill certain assessment
criteria of the Group, including meeting the Group’s standards for
the quality of raw materials, reputation, environmental friendliness,
production capacity, financial capability and experience. We view
our suppliers as partners who make important contribution to our
business success.

Results and Appropriations

The results of the Group for the year are set out in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income on pages 125 to 126.

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend

for the year ended 31 March 2020 (2019: HK1.6 cents per ordinary
share).

Donations

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group made HK$56,804
charitable and other donations (2019: HK$172,726).
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Annual General Meeting

The 2020 annual general meeting of the Company (the “2020
AGM”) will be held on Friday, 14 August 2020.

Closure of Register of Members

For the purpose of determining the identity of the Shareholders
entitled to attend and vote at the 2020 AGM, the register of
members of the Company will be closed from Monday, 10 August
2020 to Friday, 14 August 2020, both days inclusive, during which
period no transfer of shares will be registered. All transfer of shares
accompanied by the relevant certificates must be lodged with the
Company’s branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong,
Tricor Investor Services Limited at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183
Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong for registration not later
than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 7 August 2020.

Share Capital

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital for the
year ended 31 March 2020 are set out in Note 26 to the financial
statements.

Pre-emptive Rights

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles or
the laws of the Cayman Islands, being the jurisdiction in which the
Company was incorporated, which would oblige the Company to
offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing Shareholders.
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Purchase, Redemption or Sale of Listed
Securities of the Company

Neither the Company nor its subsidiaries purchased, redeemed or
sold any of the Company’s listed securities during the year ended
31 March 2020.

Distributable Reserves

As at 31 March 2020, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution, calculated in accordance with the provisions of the
Companies Law, Chapter 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and
revised) (the “Companies Law”) of the Cayman Islands, amounted
to approximately HK$150,443,000. Under the Companies Law,
the share premium account of the Company of approximately
HK$132,921,000 as of 31 March 2020 is distributable to the
Shareholders provided that immediately following the date on which
the dividend, if any, is proposed to be distributed, the Company will
be in a position to pay off its debts as they fall due in the ordinary
course of business.

Permitted Indemnity Provision

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover
for Directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions
against its Directors and senior management arising out of
corporate activities. The permitted indemnity provision is in force
for the benefit of the Directors as required by section 470 of the
Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the
“Companies Ordinance”) when the Report of the Directors prepared
by the Directors is approved in accordance with section 391(1)(a) of
the Companies Ordinance.

Five-year Financial Summary

A summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group for the
last five financial years is set out on page 236.
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Directors

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report were
as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. She Siu Kee William
Mr. Chong Cheuk Ki

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Leung Wai Ming
Mr. Cai Qiang

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Poon Chun Wai
Mr. Fu Chung
Mr. Ma Siu Kit

Pursuant to article 108(a) of the Articles, Mr. Leung Wai Ming,
Mr. Poon Chun Wai and Mr. Fu Chung shall retire by rotation at the
2020 AGM and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

Pursuant to article 112 of the Articles, Mr. Cai Qiang was appointed
on 16 August 2019 and he is subject to re-election at the 2020
AGM and, being eligible, offers himself for re-election.

Independence Confirmation

The Company has received from each of the independent
non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers
all of the independent non-executive Directors are independent.
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Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests in
Shares

As at 31 March 2020, the interests or short positions of the
Directors and chief executives of the Company in the shares (the
“Shares”), underlying shares and debentures of the Company or
any associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571, Laws of Hong
Kong) (“SFO”)), which were notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the
SFO (including interests or short positions which they are taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or which were
required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the
register referred to therein, or which were required, pursuant to the
Model Code as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules, are set
out below:

Interests and short positions in shares, underlying
shares and debentures of the Company or its
associated corporation

() The Company
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Number of percentage of
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Name of Director Nature of interest short position held the Company

BE  REIFAER
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Mr. She Siu Kee William  Beneficial owner Long position 1,584,000 0.29%
RIBELE EnfEEA o=}

Interest of controlled corporation (Note 1) Long position 313,125,000 56.93%
REflEE R (MiEE1) o=}

Mr. Chong Cheuk Ki Interest of controlled corporation (Note 1)  Long position 313,125,000 56.93%
HREHAE REflEE R (MiFE1) o=}

Interest of spouse (Note 2) Long position 712,000 0.13%
feBE s (ME2) o=}

Mr. Leung Wai Ming Interest of controlled corporation (Note 1)  Long position 313,125,000 56.93%
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Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests in
Shares (Continued)

Interests and short positions in shares, underlying
shares and debentures of the Company or its
associated corporation (continued)

() The Company (Continued) (i)

Notes: BsE

1.

313,125,000 Shares are held by eprint Limited. eprint Limited is held as
t0 21.62%, 21.62%, 21.62%, 21.62% and 13.52% by Mr. She Siu Kee
William (“Mr. She”), Mr. Chong Cheuk Ki (“Mr. Chong”), Mr. Lam Shing
Kai (“Mr. Lam”), Mr. Leung Wai Ming (“Mr. WM Leung”) and Mr. Leung
Yat Pang (“Mr. YP Leung”) (collectively, the “Concerted Shareholders”)
respectively. Pursuant to the Deed of Confirmation, each of Mr. She,
Mr. Chong, Mr. Lam, Mr. WM Leung and Mr. YP Leung has agreed to
jointly control their respective interests in the Company. Accordingly,
eprint Limited shall be accustomed to act in accordance with joint
instructions of the Concerted Shareholders. Hence, each of the
Concerted Shareholders is deemed to be interested in all the Shares
held by eprint Limited by virtue of the SFO.

1. eprint Limited# A313,125,0008% i% {5 °
eprint Limited AR ABELE ([REED)
HeEgs (THEE]) MEELE
(THREHE])  REAEE(TREFHE
ENDRBE—WBEE(TR—BxE]) (&
BI—THRE])DAFHFE21.62%
21.62% - 21.62% ~ 21.62% [ 13.52% 1%
HoRBHERARE KRuEE HiEE MK
SE RERAEERPE-BEEEEA
AELEZEHEES BN AR EH#ER -
E Ut - eprint Limited!& ¥R B — BT8R
RHBIERTE B BIEFH K
EEO - & BT R R # 18 & Reprint
LimitedfT #5578 FT B BR 0 R #E A fE 2k o

2. Mr. Chong is deemed to be interested in 712,000 Shares held by his 2. HAERRARERBERZLIFEAD
spouse, Ms. Yip Fei. 712,0008% & 17 R A #E 2 o
(ii) Associated corporation - eprint Limited (i) #8E% LB~ eprint Limited
Number of Approximate
ordinary Shares percentage of
held in the shareholding in
Associated the Associated
Name of Director Nature of interest Corporation Corporation
BEEBELIE REBRIBER
EEnE Rty ZERHA BABED
Mr. She Beneficial owner 2,162 21.62%
REE EnERA
Mr. Chong Beneficial owner 2,162 21.62%
HEE EREBA
Mr. WM Leung Beneficial owner 2,162 21.62%
RERLE EnEBA
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Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests in
Shares (Continued)

Interests and short positions in shares, underlying
shares and debentures of the Company or its
associated corporation (continuea)

(ii) Associated corporation - eprint Limited (continuead)

Note: The disclosed interest represents the interests in eprint Limited, the
controlling Shareholder of the Company, which is owned by Mr. She,
Mr. Chong, Mr. Lam, Mr. WM Leung and Mr. YP Leung in the respective
proportions of 21.62%, 21.62%, 21.62%, 21.62% and 13.52%.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors, chief executives
of the Company and/or their associates had any interests or short
positions in any Shares, underlying Shares and debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations as recorded in the
register to be kept under section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code as at 31 March 2020.

Interests in Share Options

Share Option Scheme

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Scheme”)
on 13 November 2013 pursuant to the written resolutions of the
then shareholders passed on 13 November 2013. The Scheme
is a share incentive scheme and is established to recognise and
acknowledge the contributions of the Eligible Participants (as
defined in the prospectus of the Company dated 20 November
2013 (the “Prospectus”)) have had or may have made to the Group.
Pursuant to the Scheme, the Board may, at its discretion, offer
to grant an option to subscribe of new Shares in aggregate not
exceeding 30% of the Shares in issue from time to time.
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Interests in Share Options (continueq)

Share Option Scheme (continuead)

The principal terms of the Scheme are summarised as follows:

(1

96

The limit on the total number of Shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to
be exercised under the Scheme and any other scheme(s) of
any member of the Group must not exceed 10% of the issued
Share as at the listing date of the Company (i.e. 3 December
2013) (the “Listing Date”) (which was 50,000,000 Shares)
unless approval of the Shareholders has been obtained, and
which must not in aggregate exceed 30% of the Shares in
issue from time to time. As at the date of this report, the total
number of Shares available for issue under the Scheme is
50,000,000 Shares, which represents 9.09% of the issued
Shares as at the date of this report.

The total number of Shares issued and which may be issued
upon exercise of all options (whether exercised, cancelled or
outstanding) granted to any Eligible Participant (as defined
in the Prospectus) in any 12-month period up to the date of
grant shall not exceed 1% of the issued Shares as at the date
of grant.

The subscription price for the Shares under the options to
be granted under the Scheme will be a price determined by
the Board at the time of grant of the options, and will be not
less than the highest of (i) the closing price of the Shares as
stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets on the
date of grant which must be a business day; (ii) the average
closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotation sheets for the five business days immediately
preceding the date of grant; and (i) the nominal value of a
Share.
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Interests in Share Options (continueq)

Share Option Scheme (continuea)

(4) An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms
of the Scheme at any time during a period to be notified
by the Board to each Eligible Participant (as defined in the
Prospectus) who accepts the grant of any options, which
must not be more than 10 years from the date of the grant
(subject to acceptance) of the option.

(6) HK$1.00 is payable by the Eligible Participant (as defined
in the Prospectus) who accepts the grant of an option in
accordance with the terms of the Scheme on acceptance of
the grant of an option.

(6) The Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of ten
years commencing on the Listing Date.

Other details of the Scheme are set out in the Prospectus.

No share option under the Scheme has been granted by the
Company since its adoption and up to the date of this report.

Equity-Linked Agreements

Save as disclosed above in the section headed “Share Option
Scheme”, no equity-linked agreements were entered into by the
Group, or existed during the year ended 31 March 2020.

Substantial Shareholders and Other Persons’
Interests in Shares

As at 31 March 2020, so far as is known to the Directors, the
following persons (other than the Directors and the chief executives
of the Company) had interests or short positions in the Shares
and underlying Shares of the Company which were required to be
notified to the Company under Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the
SFO or which were recorded in the register required to be kept
under section 336 of the SFO.
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EREWRE

Substantial Shareholders and Other Persons’

Interests in Shares continveq

Interests or short positions in Shares and underlying

Shares

eprint Limited (Note 1)
eprint Limited (Pf3E1)

Mr. Lam (Note 2)
Mo (KEE2)

Ms. Lo Suet Yee (Note 3)
ES 7zt (M)

Ms. Yip Fei (Note 4)
ERzt (KHE4)

Ms. Yu Siu Ping (Note 5)
B+ (HiEE5)

Ms. Chau Fung Kiu (Note 6)
EB Bzt (K6)

Mr. Huang Xiaopeng (Note 7)
EEME LA (MET)

Mr. Huang Xiaojia (Note 7)
EREELE (HET)

Mr. Huang Bingwen (Note 7)
BIASCE A (MEEET)

Nature of interest

Beneficial owner

Beneficial owner

ExBEAA

Interest of spouse

ALBEas

Beneficial owner
ERBEA
Interest of spouse

ALBtEas

Interest of spouse

ALBtEas

Interest of spouse

[

Interest of controlled corporation
Ry EERE S

Interest of controlled corporation
Ry EERE S

Interest of controlled corporation
Ry EERE S
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Long position/
short position

"R/ %

Long position
=y

Long position
1R

Long position
=y

Long position
1R
Long position
1R

Long position
1R

Long position
=y

Long position
=y

Long position
1R

Long position
=y

Number of

ordinary shares/

underlying
shares held
FrisEER
8 106

RHEE

313,125,000

313,125,000

314,709,000

712,000

313,125,000

313,125,000

313,125,000

61,875,000

61,875,000

61,875,000

TERRREMALT 2RO E

BROREBRONEDZIXE

Approximate
percentage of
shareholding in
the Company

RERAFR
BRED®

56.93%

56.93%

57.22%

0.13%

56.93%

56.93%

56.93%

11.25%

11.25%

11.25%



Substantial Shareholders and Other Persons’

Interests in Shares (continueq

Interests or short positions in Shares and underlying

Shares (Continued)

Hong Kong Tung Fung
Investment Company
Limited (‘Hong Kong
Tung Fung”) (Note 7)

EERAREERAF

([BAERR]) (M&E7)

Shantou Dongfeng Printing
Co., Ltd. (“Shantou
Dongfeng”) (Note 7)

SUISE 3R B ED IR £ 7 BR 2 A

(UsERE ) (HEET)

Hong Kong Luck Investment
Company Limited
(“Hong Kong Luck
Investment”) (Note 7)
BERREREBRAF
([BARmEE])
(H&E7)

Mr. YP Leung (Note 8)
R—lEx 4 (M)

Nature of interest

BEME

Interest of controlled corporation

REHEE# S

Interest of controlled corporation

REHEE# S

Beneficial owner

o
Bk
=
anf
P

Interest of controlled corporation
REHEE#ES

Long position/
short position

"R/ %

Long position

e

Long position

e

Long position

Long position
1R
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Number of
ordinary shares/
underlying
shares held
FrisEER

88 106
iR ¢E

61,875,000

61,875,000

61,875,000

313,125,000

Approximate
percentage of
shareholding in
the Company

RERAFR
BHEDH

11.25%

11.25%

11.25%

56.93%
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Substantial Shareholders and Other
Persons’ Interests in Shares (continueq)

Interests or short positions in Shares and underlying
Shares (Continued)

Notes:

1.

eprint Limited is directly interested in 313,125,000 Shares, representing
approximately 56.93% of the issue Shares. eprint Limited is held as to 21.62%,
21.62%, 21.62%, 21.62% and 13.52% by Mr. She, Mr. Chong, Mr. Lam,
Mr. WM Leung and Mr. YP Leung respectively. Pursuant to the Deed of
Confirmation, each of Mr. She, Mr. Chong, Mr. Lam, Mr. WM Leung and Mr. YP
Leung has agreed to jointly control their respective interests in the Company.
Accordingly, eprint Limited shall be accustomed to act in accordance with joint
instructions of the Concerted Shareholders.

Pursuant to the Deed of Confirmation, Mr. Lam, a former executive Director
who retired on 16 August 2019, is deemed to be interested in all the Shares
held by eprint Limited by virtue of the SFO.

Ms. Lo Suet Yee is the spouse of Mr. She. Under the SFO, Ms. Lo Suet Yee
is taken to be interested in the same number of Shares in which Mr. She is
interested.

Ms. Yip Fei is the spouse of Mr. Chong. Under the SFO, Ms. Yip Fei is taken to
be interested in the same number of Shares in which Mr. Chong is interested.

Ms. Yu Siu Ping is the spouse of Mr. Lam. Under the SFO, Ms. Yu Siu Ping
is taken to be interested in the same number of Shares in which Mr. Lam is
interested.

Ms. Chau Fung Kiu is the spouse of Mr. WM Leung. Under the SFO, Ms. Chau
Fung Kiu is taken to be interested in the same number of Shares in which
Mr. WM Leung is interested.

These 61,875,000 Shares are held by Hong Kong Luck Investment, which is
a wholly-owned subsidiary of Shantou Dongfeng, an A share company listed
on the main board of the Shanghai Stock Exchange. Shantou Dongfeng is
54.40% held by Hong Kong Tung Fung and 1.11% held by Mr. Huang Xiaojia.
Hong Kong Tung Fung is owned as to 34% by Mr. Huang Xiaopeng, 33% by
Mr. Huang Xiaojia and 33% by Mr. Huang Bingwen. Under the SFO, each of
Shantou Dongfeng, Hong Kong Tung Fung, Mr. Huang Xiaopeng, Mr. Huang
Xiaojia and Mr. Huang Bingwen is taken to be interested in the same number
of Shares in which Hong Kong Luck Investment is interested.

Pursuant to the Deed of Confirmation, Mr. YP Leung is deemed to be
interested in all the Shares held by eprint Limited by virtue of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, the Directors are not aware of any
other persons who have interests or short positions in the Shares,
underlying Shares or debentures of the Company or any associated
corporations (within the meaning of the SFO) as recorded in the
register of the Company required to be kept under section 336 of
the SFO as at 31 March 2020.
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Directors’ Rights to Acquire Shares or
Debentures

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year was the
Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to
enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of acquisition
of shares in or debentures of the Company or in any other body
corporate.

Directors’ Service Contracts

Mr. She, an executive Director, has entered into a service
agreement dated 13 November 2016 with the Company for a
term of three years commencing from 13 November 2016 unless
terminated by not less than three months’ notice in writing served
by either party on the other. On 24 June 2020, the Company
entered into a renewed service agreement with Mr. She for a
term of three years with retrospective from 13 November 2019.
Mr. Chong, an executive Director, has entered into a service
agreement dated 16 August 2019 with the Company for a term of
three years commencing from 16 August 2019. Each of Mr. She
and Mr. Chong may receive a discretionary bonus, the amount of
which will be determined by reference to the recommendations of
the Remuneration Committee.

Mr. WM Leung has signed a letter of appointment dated
13 November 2016 issued by the Company for a term of three
years commencing from 13 November 2016. On 24 June 2020,
Mr. WM Leung has signed a renewed letter of appointment issued
by the Company for a term of three years commencing with
retrospective from 13 November 2019.

Mr. Cai has signed a letter of appointment dated 16 August 2019
issued by the Company for a term of three years commmencing from
16 August 2019.

Mr. Poon has signed a letter of appointment as an independent
non-executive Director issued by the Company on 15 August 2016
for a term of three years commencing from 15 August 2016. He
has signed a renewed letter of appointment issued by the Company
on 15 August 2019 for a further term of three years commencing
from 15 August 2019.
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Directors’ Service Contracts continueq)

Mr. Fu has signed a letter of appointment as an independent
non-executive Director issued by the Company on 8 March 2017
for a term of three years commencing from 8 March 2017. Mr. Fu
has signed a renewed letter of appointment issued by the Company
on 24 June 2020 for a further term of three years commencing with
retrospective from 8 March 2020.

Mr. Ma has signed a letter of appointment as an independent
non-executive Director issued by the Company on 30 December
2016 for a term of three years commencing from 30 December
2016. Mr. Ma has signed a renewed letter of appointment issued
by the Company on 24 June 2020 for a further term of three years
commencing with retrospective from 30 December 2019.

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at the
2020 AGM has a service contract with the Company which is not
determinable within one year without payment of compensation,
other than statutory compensation.

Directors’ Interests in Transactions,
Arrangements or Contracts

Other than those disclosed in the sections headed “Connected
Transactions” below and “Related Party Transactions” in note 34
to the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2020, no
significant transaction, arrangements and contracts of significance
in relation to the Group’s business to which the Company or any of
its subsidiaries was a party, and in which a Director had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly subsisted at the year-end or
at any time during the year.

Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors

The Company has adopted the Model Code set out in Appendix
10 to the Listing Rules as the code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by the Directors. Having made specific enquiry of all
Directors, the Company confirmed that all Directors had complied
with the required standard set out in the Model Code throughout
the year.
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Connected Transactions

The Group has connected transactions with the following connected
persons during the year ended 31 March 2020.

Connected Persons

1. CTP Limited (“CTP”)

CTP is principally engaged in the business of property
investment, and is beneficially owned as to 25% by Mr. She,
25% by Mr. Chong, 25% by Mr. WM Leung and 25% by an
independent third party, respectively.

2. Promise Properties Limited ({RFERFYWEFR Q)
(“Promise Properties”)

Promise Properties is principally engaged in the business
of property investment, and is beneficially owned as to
approximately 21.62% by Mr. She, 21.62% by Mr. Chong,
21.62% by Mr. WM Leung, 13.52% by Mr. YP Leung, and
21.62% by an independent third party.

3. VVV Limited (“VVV”)

VVV is principally engaged in the business of property
investment, and is beneficially owned as to approximately
21.62% by Mr. She, 21.62% by Mr. Chong, 21.62% by
Mr. WM Leung, 13.52% by Mr. YP Leung and 21.62% by an
independent third party, respectively.

4. Profit More Rich Limited (BREZ AR 2 7)) (“Profit
More”)

Profit More is principally engaged in the business of property
investment, and is wholly owned by CTP.

5. King Profit International Limited (ZF/EIBEER 2 7))
(“King Profit”)

King Profit is principally engaged in the business of property
investment, and is beneficially owned as to approximately
70% by VWV and 30% by Mr. Yip Chi Man.
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Connected Transactions (continueq)

Connected Persons (continued)

6.

Wilson Printing Equipment Limited ( & 15 EN Rl 5% & & R
A7) (“Wilson Printing”)

Wilson Printing is principally engaged in the business of
trading of printing equipment and printing materials, and
is beneficially owned as to 100% by Mr. Lam Shing Tai
(“Mr. Lam ST”), the brother of Mr. Lam, one of the controlling
Shareholders and a former executive Director who retired on
16 August 2019.

Wilson (Hong Kong) Limited (B2 (&) GR A7)
(“Wilson HK”)

Wilson (HK) is principally engaged in the business of trading
of printing machineries and spare parts, and is beneficially
owned as to 65% by Mr. Lam ST.

(1) Mr. She, Mr. Chong and Mr. WM Leung are the Directors
and (2) Mr. YP Leung and Mr. Lam are substantial and
controlling Shareholders. The above companies are associates
of Mr. She, Mr. Chong, Mr. WM Leung, Mr. YP Leung and
Mr. Lam, and hence they are considered as connected
persons of the Company under Rule 14A.12 of the Listing
Rules.

Sun Cheong Paper Development Limited ( #7 & 4% 3% %
RAEBR2F) (“Sun Cheong”)

Sun Cheong is principally engaged in the supply and sales
of paper and is owned as to approximately 50% by Mr. Li
Cham Kuen (“Mr. CK Li"), father of Mr. Li Jian Hua (“Mr. JH
Li”). Mr. JH Li was a former director of e-banner Limited
(“e-banner”) who resigned on 4 September 2019, a 51%
owned subsidiary of the Company. Therefore, each of Mr. CK
Li, Mr. JH Li and Sun Cheong is a connected person of the
Company at the subsidiary level.
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Connected Transactions continveq)

Non-exempt continuing connected transactions

The following connected transactions constitute non-exempt
continuing connected transactions for the Company under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules.

1.

Tenancy agreements

Background

(a)

Tenancy agreements relating to CTP

On 25 February 2019, fifteen tenancy agreements were
entered into between CTP, as landlord, and Lucky Gainer
Limited (“Lucky Gainer”) and e-banner as tenants, under
which CTP agreed to lease a number of properties
located in Kwun Tong Industrial Centre to Lucky Gainer
and e-banner, with a total saleable area of 22,635 square
feet for use as offices, workshops, stores and car parks.
The monthly rentals payable to CTP for the three years
ending 31 March 2022 are approximately HK$438,604,
HK$465,000 and HK$493,000 respectively (exclusive of
government rent, management fees and other utilities
outgoings which are payable by the relevant tenant).
The aggregate rentals paid to CTP for the year ended
31 March 2020 was approximately HK$5,263,200.

Tenancy agreements relating to Promise Properties

On 25 February 2019, four tenancy agreements were
entered into between Promise Properties, as landlord,
and Lucky Gainer, as tenant, under which Promise
Properties agreed to lease a number of properties
located in Kwun Tong Industrial Centre to Lucky Gainer
with a total saleable area of 7,005 square feet for use
as workshops. The monthly rentals payable to Promise
Properties for the three years ending 31 March 2022
are approximately HK$140,900, HK$149,300 and
HK$158,200 respectively (exclusive of government rent,
management fees and other utilities outgoings which are
payable by the tenant). The aggregate rentals paid to
Promise Properties for the year ended 31 March 2020
was approximately HK$1,690,800.
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Connected Transactions (continueq)

Non-exempt continuing connected transactions

(Continued)

1. Tenancy agreements (Continued)

Background (Continued)

(c)

Tenancy agreements relating to VVV

On 25 February 2019, three tenancy agreements were
entered into between VVV, as landlord, Lucky Gainer and
Promise Network Printing Limited (“Promise Network”),
as tenants, under which VWV agreed to lease a number
of properties located in Kwun Tong Industrial Centre to
Lucky Gainer for use as workshops and a car park and
one property in Chai Wan to Promise Network for use as
a store, with a total saleable area of 6,995 square feet.
The monthly rentals payable to VVV for the three years
ending 31 March 2022 are approximately HK$185,000,
HK$196,100 and HK$207,900 respectively (exclusive of
government rent, management fees and other utilities
outgoings which are payable by the relevant tenant).
The aggregate rentals paid to VVV for the year ended
31 March 2020 was approximately HK$2,220,000.

Tenancy agreement relating to Profit More

On 25 February 2019, a tenancy agreement was entered
into between Profit More, as landlord, and Lucky Gainer,
as tenant, under which Profit More agreed to lease a
property located in Kwun Tong Industrial Centre to Lucky
Gainer with a saleable area of 2,895 square feet for use
as a workshop. The monthly rentals payable to Profit
More for the three years ending 31 March 2022 are
approximately HK$60,000, HK$63,600 and HK$67,400
respectively (exclusive of government rent, management
fees and other utilities outgoings which are payable by
the tenant). The aggregate rentals paid to Profit More
for the year ended 31 March 2020 was approximately
HK$720,000.
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Connected Transactions continveq)

Non-exempt continuing connected transactions

(Continued)

1. Tenancy agreements (Continued)

Background (Continued)

(e)

Tenancy agreement relating to King Profit

On 25 February 2019, two tenancy agreements entered
into between King Profit, as landlord, and Lucky Gainer
and Promise Network, as tenants, under which King
Profit agreed to lease a property and a car park located
in Kwun Tong Industrial Centre to the tenants with a
total saleable area of 1,820 square feet for use as an
office and car park. The monthly rentals payable to King
Profit for the three years ending 31 March 2022 are
approximately HK$40,500, HK$42,900 and HK$45,500
respectively (exclusive of government rent, management
fees and other utilities outgoings which are payable by
the tenant). The aggregate rentals paid to King Profit
for the year ended 31 March 2020 was approximately
HK$486,000.

(collectively, the “2019 Tenancy Agreements”).

The annual caps for the leases under the 2019 Tenancy
Agreements for the year ended 31 March 2020 is
HK$10,383,000. The actual rental paid under the 2019
Tenancy Agreements for the year ended 31 March 2020 was
approximately HK$10,380,000.

Report of the Directors
EEEHE

BR
IRRBTERAERS (2

HEHS 2)

;th (ﬁt)

e) BHEMMBEEHZ

R-ZE—NhE-_A=-_+HB"
EF(ERFET)HEERRRE
BB (ERHERP)EFTMW
mEEwSH B 2FEE
mEFPHME —FEMREE I
FLRMEREESELSNEA
EREESAR BER@RE
1,820FFR-BE-_T -
ZA=Z+—BLEZ=ZEAFEEN
ZF A= 5 B4 HE40,500%8
7T~ 42,9008 7T K& 45,5007 7T
(T"EEHFENBFHES &
BELEMAAREER) -
%§:$_§¢5H5+*E
HtFEEENEMNBEeRBELOA
486,000/ JT °

(A=

@:I:i —EF=ZA=+—BLtHF
B - hFHERZTHEE
EF;Z*LBE%W 383, ooo,%yz g
—E-NFHEWE BHE_ZT =
TEFE=ZA=1+— HﬁEFEHA%
A4 4)510,380,000/ 7T °

—NFHEWHE]) -

NS

4

2019/20%F 3 eprint EEERAT 107



Report of the Directors
L ED A
= RS

.

=

Connected Transactions (continueq)

Non-exempt continuing connected transactions

(Continued)

2.

Master Supply Agreement

Background

(@)

On 25 February 2019, Wilson Printing and Wilson
HK and the Company entered into a master supply
agreement (the “2019 Master Supply Agreement”) for
a term of three years commenced from 1 April 2019
and ending on 31 March 2022, pursuant to which
Wilson Printing and Wilson HK agreed to supply the
ink products, zinc printing plates, printing solutions,
consumables of printing machines and printing machine
spare parts (the “Products”) and provide the provision of
printing machine maintenance services (the “Services”)
to the Group for production and operation of the printing
business of the Group. Pursuant to the 2019 Master
Supply Agreement, the price of the Products and the
Services shall be based on the latest selling price of
similar products from an independent third party or
service fees as quoted by other independent service
providers; or the prices agreed between the Group
and the sellers from time to time after arm’s length
negotiation and are comparable to market prices of
similar products and services.

The annual cap amounts of the fees to be paid by the
Group for the supply of the Products and the Services
under the 2019 Master Supply Agreement for the year
ended 31 March 2020 is HK$12,829,000. The actual
fees paid/payable by the Group under the 2019 Master
Supply Agreement for the year ended 31 March 2020
was HK$12,186,700.
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Connected Transactions continveq)

Non-exempt continuing connected transactions

(Continued)

2.

Master Supply Agreement (Continuea)

Background (Continued)

(b)

On 15 June 2018, Promise Network and Sun Cheong
entered into a master supply agreement (the “2018
Master Supply Agreement”) for a term of three years
commenced from 1 April 2018 and ending on 31 March
2021, pursuant to the 2018 Master Supply Agreement,
Sun Cheong agreed to supply and Promise Network
agreed to purchase various types of paper as set out
in the 2018 Master Supply Agreement (the “Paper
Products”). The purchase price of the Paper Products
shall be determined on:

()  the latest selling price of similar products from
other independent third parties; and

(i) the prices to be agreed between Promise Network
and Sun Cheong from time to time after arm’s
length negotiation and are comparable to market
prices of similar products as set out in (a) above.

The annual cap amounts of the fees to be paid by the
Group for the purchase of the Paper Products under
the 2018 Master Supply Agreement for the year ended
31 March 2020 is HK$21,400,000. The actual fees paid/
payable by the Group under the 2018 Master Supply
Agreement for the year ended 31 March 2020 was
HK$19,892,000.
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Connected Transactions (continueq)

Non-exempt continuing connected transactions
(Continued)

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the
above continuing connected transactions and confirmed that the
transactions have been entered into:

1. inthe ordinary and usual course of the Group’s business;

2. on normal commercial terms or better; and

3. have been carried out in accordance with the terms of the
agreements governing such transactions that are fair and
reasonable and in the interests of the Shareholders as a
whole.

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group’s
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s
Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong
Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. The auditor has issued an unmodified letter
containing the findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing
connected transactions disclosed by the Group in accordance with
Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. A copy of the auditor’s letter has
been provided by the Company to the Stock Exchange.

The Company confirmed that it had complied with the disclosure

requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules
in relation to the continuing connected transactions.
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Connected Transactions continveq)

Provision of Loan

On 27 September 2019, Promise Network as lender (the “Lender”)
entered into the loan agreement (the “Loan Agreement”) with Sun
Cheong as borrower (the “Borrower”) in relation to the loan in the
principal amount of HK$15,000,000 (including the outstanding
principal amount HK$10,000,000 of the loan made pursuant to the
loan agreement dated 27 September 2018 entered into between
the Lender and the Borrower and an additional principal amount of
HK$5,000,000) for a period of one year commencing from the date
of the Loan Agreement at an interest rate of 9% per annum.

The provision of loan under the Loan Agreement constituted a
connected transaction of the Company under Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules and is subject to reporting and announcement
requirements but is exempted from circular and the independent
shareholders’ approval requirement under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

The Company confirmed that it had complied with the disclosures
requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules
in relation to the connected transaction.

The Directors (including the independent non-executive Directors)
believe that the related party transactions set out in the Note 34
to the consolidated financial statements were carried out in the
ordinary course of business of the Company and were on normal
commercial terms.

Other than the aforementioned continuing connected transactions
and connected transaction, the related party transactions disclosed
in Note 34 to the consolidated financial statements are either
exempted connected continuing transactions or non-exempt
continuing connected transactions which are in compliance with the
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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Non-Compete Undertakings

eprint Limited, Mr. She, Mr. Chong, Mr. Lam, Mr. WM Leung and
Mr. YP Leung (together, the “Covenantors”) entered into the deed of
non-competition in favour of the Company on 13 November 2013
(the “NCU”), pursuant to which the Covenantors have undertaken
to the Company (for itself and for the benefit of each of the
members of the Group) that, with effect from the Listing Date and
for as long as the Shares remain so listed on the Stock Exchange
and the controlling Shareholders are individually or collectively with
any of his/its associates interested directly or indirectly in not less
than 30% of the issued ordinary share capital of the Company (the
“Restricted Period”), the Covenantors or their respective associates
shall not, (i) directly or indirectly engage in, participate or hold any
right or interest in or render any services to or otherwise be involved
in any business (whether as owner, director, operator, licensor,
licensee, partner, shareholder, joint venturer, employee, consultant
or otherwise) in competition with or likely to be in competition with
the existing business carried on by the Group (the “Restricted
Business”); and (i) directly or indirectly take any action which
constitutes an interference with or a disruption of the Restricted
Business including, but not limited to, solicitation of the Group’s
customers, suppliers or personnel of any member of the Group.

The Covenantors have confirmed to the Company the compliance
with the NCU during the year ended 31 March 2020. The
independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the NCU and
confirmed the compliance with the NCU by the Covenantors during
the year ended 31 March 2020.

As of the date of this report, the Company is not aware of any other
matters regarding the compliance of the undertakings in the NCU
and there has not been any change in the terms of the NCU during
the year ended 31 March 2020.

Tax Relief and Exemption

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief and exemption
available to the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the
Company’s securities.
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Major Customers and Suppliers

During the year, the percentage of sales attributable to the largest
customer and the five largest customers of the Group is 0.5% and
1.9% respectively.

During the year, the largest supplier and the five largest suppliers of
the Group accounted for approximately 53% and 78% of the total
purchases of the Group respectively.

None of the Directors, their associates or any Shareholder (which
to the knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of the
Company’s share capital) had an interest in the major suppliers or
customers noted above.

Subsidiaries, Associates and Joint Ventures

Details of the principal subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures of
the Company are set out in Note 11, Note 12 and Note 13 to the
financial statements.

Public Float

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has
maintained a sufficient public float as required under the Listing
Rules during the year and up to the date of this report.

Audit Committee

The Company established the Audit Committee on 13 November
2013 with written terms of reference which was revised on
25 February 2019 to comply with the CG Code. The primary duties
of the Audit Committee are to review and supervise the financial
reporting system and to review the risk management and internal
control systems of the Group. The Audit Committee comprises
three independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Ma Siu
Kit (chairman), Mr. Poon Chun Wai and Mr. Fu Chung. The Audit
Committee has reviewed the audited financial statements of the
Group for the year ended 31 March 2020.
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Competition and Conflict of Interests

During the year, save as disclosed in this annual report, none of
the Directors or substantial Shareholders or any of their respective
associates has engaged in any business that competes or may
compete with the business of the Group.

Corporate Governance

A report on the principal corporate governance practices adopted
by the Company is set out on pages 17 to 35 of this annual report.

Auditor

There has been no change in auditor of the Company during the
past three years.

The term of appointment of PwC as auditor of the Company shall
expire at the conclusion of the 2020 AGM. A resolution will be
proposed at the 2020 AGM to re-appoint PwC as auditor of the
Company.

The COVID-19 Pandemic’s Impact

An outbreak of respiratory illness caused by the COVID-19 has
been expanded across the PRC and globally and the prevention
and control measures to combat the disease have been continued
to be implemented nationwide. So far, the Group has fully resumed
to work and the operation is normal. As the COVID-19 continues,
there is impact on the Group in a certain extent. The Directors
will continue to closely monitor the development of the COVID-19
outbreak and assess its impact on the financial position, and
operational results of the Group. Given the dynamic nature of the
outbreak and the major operation of the Group is in Hong Kong,
the Directors estimate the impact on the Group’s operation and
financial is likely immaterial as at the date of this report.

On behalf of the Board
eprint Group Limited
She Siu Kee, William
Chairman

Hong Kong, 24 June 2020
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Independent Auditor’s Report

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF EPRINT
GROUP LIMITED

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)
Opinion
What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of eprint Group Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (“the Group”) set out on pages 125
to 235, which comprise:

° the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March
2020;

° the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the
year then ended;

° the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year
then ended;

° the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended; and

° the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which
include a summary of significant accounting policies.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at
31 March 2020, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in compliance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BN Z B

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (‘HKSAS”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matters identified in our audit is in relation to as follows:
° Impairment assessment of goodwill, property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets of banner printing segment.

° Impairment assessment of loan receivables.
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Key audit matters

ERESE

Independent Auditor’s Report
B B AR

How our audit addressed the key audit matters

EMNESNMEERAREETSAE

Impairment assessment of goodwill, property and plant and equipment and right-of-use

assets of banner printing segment

Refer to Notes 2.8, 2.9, 2.10, 2.25, 5, 16, 17 and 18
to the consolidated financial statements.

The Group’s banner printing segment has goodwill,
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets
amounting to approximately HK$29 million as of
31 March 2020, representing approximately 9% of the
Group’s total assets.

Although the banner printing segment recorded
an insignificant profit amounting to approximately
HK$1 million for the year ended 31 March 2020,
since it suffered loss for a number of years in
the past, which still represented an impairment
indicator of goodwill, property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets within the banner printing
segment.

In this regard, management performed an assessment
on impairment of goodwill, property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets of the banner
printing segment by using value-in-use calculation to
determine the recoverable amount and concluded that
there was no impairment as its recoverable amount
exceeds its carrying amount.

This assessment was based on management cash
flow forecast and involved significant judgements
and estimates about future business performance
including revenue growth, gross profit margin and
discount rate and accordingly, this was an area of our
audit focus.

In assessing the appropriateness of the management’s
impairment assessment of goodwill, property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets, the following audit
procedures have been performed by us:

o We evaluated management’s financial budget
and future cash flow forecast by understanding
the process by which they were drawn up, and
testing the mathematical accuracy of the underlying
calculation;

° We assessed the reasonableness of the key
assumptions used in the cash flow forecast
by (i) comparing the projected revenue growth
and gross profit margin growth to the historical
sales performance and historical profit margin of
the banner printing segment, (i) benchmarking
these key assumptions against other comparable
companies in the industry and (iii) checking these
key assumptions against actual results in the period
subsequent to the year end;

o We evaluated the discount rate by assessing the
cost of capital of the Group and referencing the
cost of capital of other comparable companies in
the industry; and

° We obtained and evaluated management’s
sensitivity analysis of the cash flow forecast by
considering downside scenarios against reasonable
possible changes to the key assumptions.

Based on the procedures described, we found that the
key assumptions, judgements and estimates made by the

management in respect of the impairment assessment
were supported by available evidence.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BN Z B

Key audit matters

BRETER

How our audit addressed the key audit matters
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Key audit matters

ERESE

Independent Auditor’s Report
B B AR

How our audit addressed the key audit matters

EMNESNMEERAREETSAE

Impairment assessment of loan receivables

Refer to Notes 2.11 and 23 to the consolidated
financial statements.

The Group had loan receivables from Sun Cheong
Paper Development Limited, of approximately HK$13
million as at 31 March 2020.

Management assessed the provision of expected
credit loss of approximately HK$2.4 million against
the loan receivables. Management determined
the default rate by engaging an external valuer to
perform valuation. Management estimated the level of
expected loss, with reference to historical observed
default rates, loss given default rates of comparable
companies and industry, and forward-looking
economic factors.

We focused on this area due to the magnitude of the
loan receivables. Moreover, significant judgements and
estimates were involved in estimating the provision of
expected credit loss for the loan receivables.

In assessing the appropriateness of the management’s
impairment assessment of loan receivables, the following
audit procedures have been performed by us.

° We assessed the competency and objectivity of the
external valuer by considering their qualifications,
relevant experience and relationship with the Group;

o We discussed with the management regarding
the credit control procedures, in particular
credit assessment and the judgement related to
management’s identification of events that triggered
the significant increase in credit risk of loan
receivable and events of default;

° We evaluated the appropriateness of the expected
credit loss provisioning methodology;

° We assessed the reasonableness of key
assumptions, including default rate and loss given
default rate determined by external valuer;

° We assessed the default loss rate and loss given
default with reference to the borrower’s past
repayment pattern records and the settlement after
the reporting period; and

° We challenged the appropriateness of
forward-looking economic factors applied by
management for the adjustment of the level of
expected loss.

Based on the procedures described, we found the key
judgements and assumptions made by management in

respect of the impairment assessment of loan receivables
were supported by the available evidence.
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Key audit matters

BRETER

How our audit addressed the key audit matters
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Other Information

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the information
included in the annual report other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there
is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required
to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Directors and Audit
Committee for the Consolidated Financial
Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations,
or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BN Z B

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level
of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used

and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Continued)

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

Independent Auditor’s Report
B B AR

BRI W 5T S OF B B 3R AR AR

s HEERMHELESHTEMNGE
MEIE L A - RIBFIERNERE
BMEELFERFHEANBERAMNE
ATHEEME EMAREHY &%
ERELERNELEETERREE -]
REMBB/EFHEERNTHEEN BIA
DEERZBMBESPREERELE
EHMERERPNERRE-BRER
BAORET R B PEE e
B R o JAPTH & i = E N X BB 3R
SHIEMBRBHETRE A K
REEHIEAATEESR HEEETH

+ 425 jam M
B E o

o FEAHMBHRNERIIHKTA
RBEBNAD BREREBEE ARAGHHY
BHRERETERRIBEIHMER -

e B ERBEANBERBAXBKEHNNH
EMERTR BENESRE N
BHAEHYBHREREREL -HME
' BEEEESNIM - BEEMBT-
BMABFERAESBEL-

SREMFEN RMARELZEGERT
FPEIMEEE KR BEAEAHR
F BRERIMAERE PR AR Hl A
E(TERBRE

BMEMBEZZERIZH  HAHM
ENSABBLEMNHBEXERER.
WEMPIEREARSEMEARETE
BHMBLENMBREMEMER AR
FEEAOBIN R -

NS

4

2019/205 3 eprint KEHRART 123



Independent Auditor’s Report
N 2B A R

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Consolidated Financial Statements

(Continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance in
the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public

interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent

auditor’s report is Wilson Chan.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 24 June 2020
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

CR e

For the year ended 31 March 2020
BE_T-TF-A=THILFE

2020 2019
—EZEF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FHET
Revenue W s 5 365,801 408,723
Cost of sales S5 R AR 8 (238,500) (275,258)
Gross profit EH 127,301 133,465
Other income E AU A 6 2,339 3,109
Other losses — net HtEE—F8 7 (8,506) 271)
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHMAEZ 8 (33,340) (34,822)
Administrative expenses THAX 8 (80,787) (80,884)
Impairment losses on financial assets & &l & E R EE B (1,117) (1,595)
Operating profit  _ _____E&E&F ] 5890 19002
Finance income BE WA 10 2,902 1,510
Finance costs BE KA 10 (2,090) (743)
Financeincome—net  EERATF®E 0 812 .16,
Share of profits/(losses) of associates ~ JE{GEE & A BNEF], (FBE) 12 249 (2,268)
Share of profits of joint ventures EIE & & EET 13 1,648 2,494
SR 187 ... 226
Profit before income tax B P15 20 A1 5 8,599 19,995
Income tax expense Fri8fim 14 (3,153) (2,862)
Profit for the year F W A 5,446 17,1338
Other comprehensive income: H4RE Wz
Item that may be reclassified to AJBEEFT 7R R e IR H -
profit or loss:
Currency translation differences N ZER (1,551) (1,081)
Total comprehensive income FANEE W B
for the year 3,895 16,052
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

B ftRa ek

For the year ended 31 March 2020
HE_ZT-_TF=-A=-1+—HILHFE

2020 2019
et 3 —ZE-NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
TR FHETT
Profit for the year attributable to: AT EEEBEFRRF :
Equity holders of the Company RRRERFEA 5,688 17,353
Non-controlling interests FEPE AR R = (242) (220)
5,446 17,133
Earnings per share for profit FARREIERTEA
attributable to equity holders of FE (5 F ) T AR & A
the Company during the year
Basic and diluted (expressed BEARREE (RERABWE)
in HK cents per share) 15 1.03 3.16
Total comprehensive income T EIEEIEFRERE
for the year attributable to: e 4258 -
Equity holders of the Company RRRERFEA 4,224 16,338
Non-controlling interests FEIE IR R 2 (329) (286)
3,895 16,052

The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income
should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

B OB AR R

As at 31 March 2020
R_ZE-_FEF=A=+—H

2020 2019
—B-EH —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Assets BE
Non-current assets EMENEE
Property, plant and equipment W HBE k& 16 108,365 121,213
Right-of-use assets FREEE 17 38,151 =
Intangible assets mEE 18 725 725
Other financial assets RE AT ER 2
at amortised cost HEthemEE 23 833 1,100
Investments in associates B &R R IRE 12 2,407 1,158
Investment in joint ventures RELZDEMNTE 13 11,792 10,084
Deferred income tax assets BEFMSHEE 30 2,134 2,313
Deposits and prepayments Ee RIERRIE 22 2,921 6,093
167,328 142,686
Current assets MENEE
Inventories FE 20 6,804 6,032
Trade receivables =78 18 21 4,168 6,480
Deposits, prepayments and ®e BEARER
other receivables H At W 5 TE 22 9,184 10,639
Other financial assets at BT ER 2
amortised cost EthemmEE 23 12,965 8,919
Financial assets at fair value BERERZANEE
through profit or loss TRz B E 24 25,469 9,545
Amounts due from related companies & Uk B 38 A A1 FUE 34 159 2,708
Cash and cash equivalents HehFLEHEEBEE 25 101,525 123,664
160,274 167,987
Total assets BERTE 327,602 310,673
Equity =
Capital and reserves attributable to KARERTFBA
the equity holders of the Company EIHERRFE
Share capital fi& 7R 26 5,500 5,500
Share premium & mE 26 132,921 132,921
Other reserves H At 27 85,430 90,006
223,851 228,427
Non-controlling interests e AR 2 6,154 6,091
N
Total equity BB 230,005 234,518
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
& AR R

As at 31 March 2020
R=ZE_FF=A=+—~H

2020 2019
—EZEF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Liabilities B
Non-current liabilities EREBAE
Obligations under finance leases MEHEBETEME - 268
Lease liabilities HEBE 17 17,004 -
Other payables E th FE A 5RI8 28 766 1,063
Deferred income tax liabilities BREAMSHEE 30 6,348 6,901
... 24118 8282
Current liabilities mERE
Trade payables 2 M 28 5,998 9,323
Accruals and other payables BT RRIE N Ath FE - 5K IB 28 24,596 30,250
Borrowings BE 29 21,157 25,943
Obligations under finance leases MEHEETEE - 1,868
Lease liabilities HEAE 17 20,200 =
Amounts due to related parties FET B E 5 A 34 201 34
Amounts due to directors B EERIE 34 165 200
Current income tax payable FEfTE BRFTIB R 1,162 305
e AT 67,923
Totallibiites ... SEe® 91T 76,185
Total equity and liabilities BmkBEEE 327,602 310,673

FI2BE2BHEMBAHIBRRER -F
“EFERA+HNBEEEESHE I HA
MIEEKERE-

The consolidated financial statements on pages 125 to 235 were
approved by the Board of Directors on 24 June 2020 and were
signed on its behalf.

Mr. She Siu Kee William Mr. Chong Cheuk Ki

RBEXE HEHELE
Director Director
EE EF

The above consolidated statement of financial position should be it & B %5 A 5t 2% & £ B Bt Bt = — 6F 5
read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. o
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
EOREEEER

For the year ended 31 March 2020
BE_T-TF-A=THILFE

Attributable to equity holders of the Company
ARRRERE AR
Non-
Share Share Capital Other  Exchange  Retained controlling

capital  premium reserve reserve reserve  earnings  Sub-total interests Total
Bx  ROEE EXRG ARG SERE  REEN Nt FBRRESR g
HK$000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS$'000
TER TER TER TER TER TER TER TER TER

BdanceatiAprl20t8 R-F-MFRATAER S50 11 658 e . 02 8118 26280 6377 281665
Comprehensive income Ak
Proft for the year ERER - - - - -7 173 R0 1713
Other comprehensive income Atbiza s
Currency translation differences ELES
- Group s - - - - 433) - (433) (66) (499)
- Joint ventures and associates -RELEREEAT - - - - (582) - (582) 5 (589)
Todcomprehersheincome  ARMERE S o o o (e res 1638 pey 16082
Transactions with owners, ERMERRRNERAANR S

recognised directly in equity
Dividends (Note 31) B (a1 - - - - - (13200 (13200) - (13200

Total transactions with owners, ERNEGRINEREAN
recognised directly in equity #8325 = = = = = (13,200) (13,200) - (13,200)

Balance at 31 March 2019 W-EF-AEZB=+-B&% 550 132921 6,503 Py (8T 8 208407 6091 234518
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

ABHERE DS

For the year ended 31 March 2020
HE_ZT-_TF=-A=-1+—HILHFE

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

ARAREEEAEE
Non-
Share Share Capital Other  Exchange  Retained controlling
capital  premium reserve reserve reserve  earnings  Sub-total interests Total
k& RGEE BARE HbEE  HERE  REEA Mt FERER @t
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$000  HK$'000
TERT TAL Thn TERT TERT TARL TEn TERT TART
Balance at 1 April 2019 RZE-NERA-BEH 5500 132,021 6,503 (21) (1877) 85311 228427 6,001 234,518
Comprehensive income ek
Profit for the year FREH - - - - - 5,688 5,688 (242) 5,446
Other comprehensive income Ehira e
- Release of exchange resenve to ~ — BRI R BAARER
profit or loss upon closure of EREEZAR
a subsidiary - - - - (326) 326 - - -
Currency tranglation differences ERZER
- Group -5%HE - - - - (524) - (524) (87) (611)
- Joint ventures and associates —RELEREENT - - - - (940) - (940) - (940)
Total comprehensive income mahzEE - - - - (1,790) 6,014 4,224 (329) 3,895
Transactions with owners, ERRNEREINEREANRS
recognised directly in equity
Capital injection from non-controling ~ FE¥ERR ISR ([ FEiERR iR ] ) T4
interest (NCP) - - - - - - - 392 392
Dividends (Note 31) B8 (Hzs1) - - - - - (8800) (8,800 - (8,800)
Total transactions with owners, ERRNEREANEREAN
recognised directly in equity B35 - - - - - (8,800) (8,800) 392 (8,408)
Balance at 31 March 2020 RIZZEF-A=T-BfH 5500 132,921 6,593 (21) (3667) 82525 223,851 6,54 230,005

bt & 6 4 an B Bh 5% R ERLRE P P 5 — 61 5O

At
=an

ag ©

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be
read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

EOHRTRER

For the year ended 31 March 2020
BE_T-TF-A=THILFE

2020 2019
—EC-BF —E-AF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHEx FHT
Cash flows from operating activities KEFTHEEMRESRE
Cash generated from operations EEEAMNRS 32 46,269 47,157
Interest paid SRR (621) (743)
Income tax paid BEFEHR (2,670) (3,478)
Net cash generated from operating KETBHEEMNER©FE
activities 42,978 42,936
Cash flows from investing activities KRERHEENBRERE
Purchase of property, plant and BEWME BERR
equipment (712) (8,562)
Prepayment for purchase of property, B E ¥ BE MR EH
plant and equipment B RIA (4,198) (1,220)
Proceeds from disposals of property,  H&EWE  BE M &K EH
plant and equipment Fr 1S kI8 32 309 122
Proceeds on disposal of unlisted HEFLEMESFESFZ
bond securities Fr {55018 - 14,000
Proceeds on redemption of a financial & Bl ¥ # §5 A AN 51| Bk 2
asset at amortised cost EREEZMERIE 500 -
Proceeds on redemption of financial ~ BEREIFEBERE AL BE
assets at fair value through IRz EMEEZ
profit or loss P& 5018 - 12,837
Investment in other financial assets IR SR AR BR 2
at amortised cost EemEEMNIRE (5,600) (10,600)
Investment in financial assets REBBREALBEIE
at fair value through profit or loss LERMEBEEMNKRE (22,425) (3,989)
Investment in an associate REERRINERE 12 (800) (600)
Investment in a joint venture RE&atENRE 13 (1,000) s
Interest income from unlisted bond ELEMESFFFON WA
securities 566 246
Interest received 2 W F B 2,858 1,323
Net cash (used in)/generated from BEZ® (FA) EE
investing activities & 55 (30,502) 8,557
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

affReEnEx
For the year ended 31 March 2020

BE_T-_TFE-_A=-tTHILFE

Note
Bt &E

2020
—E-BF

—=—=

HK$’000
FERT

2019
—ZE-NF
HK$’000
FH T

Cash flows from financing activities MEEHELANBEERE
Proceeds from issue of ordinary MR EREITEBRA

shares to non-controlling interests P15 3018 392 -
Proceeds from borrowings BEFEHIE 6,897 5,020
Repayments of borrowings EEER (11,683) (3,669)
Repayments of lease liabilities BEEHEAE (20,634) -
Repayments of obligations under BEMEMREBTEMR

finance leases - (5,169)
Dividends paid BB & 31 (8,800) (13,200)
Net cash used in financing activities REREFAMAMNBRSFE (33,828) (17,018)
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and RekRE&EEIREE

cash equivalents (R A) /&% (21,352) 34,475
Cash and cash equivalents FYRe kR EEEEE

at beginning of year 123,664 89,524
Effect of change in exchange rates EREETE (787) (335)
Cash and cash equivalents FrRekREEFMEIEAE

at end of year 25 101,525 123,664
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2.1

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

General information

eprint Group Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated in
the Cayman Islands on 10 January 2014 as an exempted
company with limited liability under the Companies Law
(Revised) of the Cayman Islands. The Company’s address of
its registered office is 4th Floor, Harbour Place, 103 South
Church Street, George Town, P.O. Box 10240, Grand Cayman
KY1-1002, Cayman Islands.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
activities of its principal subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures are set out in Notes 11, 12 and 13, respectively.

The consolidated financial statements of the Company and
its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) are presented in Hong
Kong dollars, unless otherwise stated.

Summary of significant accounting
policies

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out below.
These policies have been consistently applied to all the years
presented, unless otherwise stated.

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Company have
been prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRS”) issued by Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”). The
consolidated financial statements have been prepared under
the historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation
of financial asset at fair value through profit or loss, which are
carried at fair value.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
HKFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires management to exercise its
judgement in the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement
or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates
are significant to the consolidated financial statements are
disclosed in Note 4.

2.1

RO SRR MIEE

—REHR

eprintEBAR AT ([A2A])R
—E-NE-ATERERSHS
REE(KET)RFAEHSTM
RIREHRRBERAG - ARXRQAFE
fift 9% =5 Bz b 5E A 4th Floor, Harbour
Place, 103 South Church Street,
George Town, P.O. Box 10240,
Grand Cayman KY1-1002, Cayman
Islands °

KARBREER AR HE X EH
BAn BMEAARAELEZE
B RIS FE11 ~12K%18 °

BRAHAN AR REKEB R
A (% [AEE ]G GBI ®RE
BB TE®

TEEHHERRBE

RMEZEEHMBREGAEAN
TZEABRRIN TN -BREAH
RN L EBRRAEZ2INEFEE
EREH-

R E R
ARAIMEHMBHRERDIBRIERE

gtmMrg (BBt A®])
BmZAEERBSYBRE LR
(BEMBREEA]HER B H
MHEBRERBELKRA LR
THARABEAEZBEERA
AEEINENEREENEMGFL
CHIN

KBEBYEREENRENY B
MRBEFHAETERE M 00
EREREREAREB SR
BIEHHE -SSR EHEHXSE
HUEMESER ARV BERRB
BAM MR R &G ETH €S 8% E R
54 o

4
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

a Pt RS R e
2 Summary of significant accounting 2 FESTHERE
pOliCieS (Continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (continueq) 21 REEE (@)
2.1.1 Changes in accounting policy and disclosures 2ANBH RSB RIBEESE
(a)  New and amended standards adopted by the Group (@) AEEEIRNFETRAEIES
ER

The following new and amended standards have been NTRAEER-_ZT-NFNH
adopted by the Group for the first time for the financial A—BaszEREZHBFE
year beginning on or after 1 April 2019: BRERN 2 3E] RSB ET 4RI
Amendments to Annual Improvement Project Annual improvements 2015 — 2017 cycle
FEB#EIRR (BFIA) _E-hFE_TtFRHACFESE
Amendments to HKFRS 9 Prepayment features with negative compensation
BB WELERFOH (BFTA) BEBEBMENESENST
Amendments to HKAS 19 Plan amendment, curtailment or settlement
BER G ERAFE195 (BFTA) TEMERT BB EE
Amendments to HKAS 28 Long-term interests in associates and joint ventures
BER G ERIZFE285 (BT 4) BERRRaEbER RS
HKFRS 16 Leases
BRM B ME LR E165% HE
HK(IFRIC) - Int 23 Uncertainty over income tax treatments

R (BRPBHREREBLES) —R2EBF223N MENREE 2 THRENE

The Group had to change its accounting policies and REAK 2. 2FT BB B Bt
make certain adjustments following the adoption of B E LA FE165HE KL AEE
HKFRS 16 which is disclosed in Note 2.2. The adoption AENEGHBRLELET
of other new and amended standards and interpretation TR M EAM T R EBET
did not have any material impact on the current or prior HANERESEHSZ A HB
periods. AHEELTMNEATE-
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2 Summary of significant accounting

po licies (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continuea)

2.1.1 Changes in accounting policy and disclosures

(Continued)

©®)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BB ERRMT

2 EBEHBERE

21 REEE ()

New and amended standards have been issued but are (b)
not effective and have not been early adopted by the

Group

The following new and amended standards are not
effective for financial year beginning on 1 April 2019, and
have not been applied in preparing these consolidated

financial statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 3 (Revised)
BERU B IwEEREINR (BEFTR)

(&{EET)

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8

BEGFEANEIRE

BB GTERIESH (BATA)

Conceptual Framework for
Financial Reporting 2018

—F— \EREERE T B AER

Amendments to HKAS 39,
HKFRS 7 and HKFRS 9

FE TR FEI5  FBMK
BELNBTHRERBTEVBERS

R FEIHK (BFTA)
HKFRS 17
BEMGHREEREITHR
Amendments to HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28

FBP IS REERIF105%E &
S

BB ERFE285 (BRI AK)

Note: To be announced by HKICPA

Definition of a business

EBHTER

Definition of material

ERNER

Revised conceptual framework
for financial reporting

B E 2 REFT B DAER

Hedge accounting

& Et B2

Insurance contracts

2AMEST RS RIWESEE (&)

E B8 4 K LR A WA HEXR
L BIIEHT IR Z 3T 5T RAZEET
A

THE AT R BT ENB ZF

—NFMHA—BFRBNMBF

ERAREN BERGEREZFS
PHI SRR R A ER ¢

Effective for

annual periods

beginning on or after

RUTB#BSH 2%

MmN FERBENR

1 January 2020
—ZT-_FETF—H—H

1 January 2020
—T_TF—H—H

1 January 2020

—T_TF—H—H
1 January 2020

—E-FEF—-—H—H

1 January 2021

REE 4 —E-—F—H—H
Sale or contribution of assets Note
between an investor and
its associate or joint venture
REEREBENANEEDE B EE

ZENEELESIEE

feE: Hﬁmﬁﬁﬁﬂiﬁ@’ﬁﬁ

%
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

a Pt RS R e

2 Summary of significant accounting
pOliCieS (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continueq)

2.1.1 Changes in accounting policy and disclosures
(Continued)

2.2

(a)

(b)  New and amended standards have been issued but are
not effective and have not been early adopted by the
Group (Continued)

The Group will adopt the new and amended standards
when they become effective. The Group are in the
process of assessing the adoption of the other new
standard, amendments to standards and interpretations
is not expected to have any significant impact on the
results and the financial position of the Group.

Changes in accounting policies

The following explains the impact of the adoption of HKFRS
16 “Leases” on the Group’s financial information and also
discloses the new accounting policy that has been applied
from 1 April 2019, where it is different to those applied in prior
periods.

Impact on financial information

The Group elected to adopt HKFRS 16 without restating
comparative information. The reclassifications and the
adjustments are therefore not reflected in the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 March 2019, but are
recognised in the opening of the consolidated statement of
financial position on 1 April 2019.

On adoption of HKFRS 16, as a lessee, the Group recognised
lease liabilities in relation to leases which had previously been
classified as “operating leases” under the principles of HKAS
17. These liabilities were measured at the present value of
the remaining lease payments, discounted using the lessee’s
incremental borrowing rate as of 1 April 2019.

As at 1 April 2019, all operating leases are related to
short-term lease and will be recognised on a straight-line
basis as expense in profit or loss. There was no impact on the
Group’s operating leases as at 1 April 2019.
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2.2

(a)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Summary of significant accounting
pOIiCieS (Continued)

Changes in accounting policies (continued)

Impact on financial information (Continued)

The weighted average lessee’s incremental borrowing rate
applied to the lease liabilities on 1 April 2019 was 4.2%.

For leases previously classified as finance leases the entity
recognised the carrying amount of the lease asset and lease
liability immediately before transition as the carrying amount of
the right-of-use asset and the lease liability at the date of initial
application. The measurement principles of HKFRS 16 are only
applied after that date. For the property, plant and equipment
acquired under finance leases, they were depreciated over the
underlying assets’ useful life if there is reasonable certainty
that the Group will obtain ownership at the end of the lease
term.

The impacts arising from the adoption of HKFRS 16 as at
1 April 2019 are as follows:

Operating lease commitments disclosed as

2.2

(a)

BB ERRMT

FESHHREREw

BHERED &)
HUBENNEE @

R-_E—hENA—BRHEEaRE
HKEAMEBANEFLHESEER
RBAL2% o

IEESEAREMENHEEMS
ERNERERB G EZIBER
MEEEEMMAEREMNERmER
ARERAREERHERENERER
B-BEMB RS ENFI65 N
ERAENZBHMERER LA E
HEBETESHOYE BEIEHE
mE WA &EHEANEEKNHE
EPRESHAE#E ARBHEEE
MERFRALEETIIE

RZFB-NFHA-BRABTEY
BHREERF1REENZENT

As at
1 April 2019
R-T—n%F

MmA—H
HK$’000
THETT

R-_F-NF=HA=+—H

at 31 March 2019 R TR E AR 48,640
Lease liabilities discounted at relevant REBIEEERNEERZ
incremental borrowing rates HEERE 45,556
Add: Reclassification from obligations under finance  fl: BN -—ZE—hE=H
lease recognised as at 31 March 2019 =t+—HERZHE
HEBETEEXEHRSH 2,136
Less: Recognition exemption — short term leases B ERRE RS (1,410)
Less: Recognition exemption — low-value leases o ERE e —EKEEEE (20)
Lease liabilities recognised as at 1 April 2019 R=-ZB-NFWNA—BE:
ZHEEE 46,262
Analysed as: Rk
Current E 17,013
Non-current JEM B 29,249

\ 46,262_‘::‘//f
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

& R iE R M e
2 Summary of significant accounting 2 FESHEHRBFEw
policies (continueq)
2.2 Changes in accounting policies (continued) 22 S BEXREH @)
(a) Impact on financial information (Continued) (a) HHBERNTE &)
The carrying amount of right-of-use assets as at 1 April 2019 RZE—HhAhEFNA—HNERAEE
comprises the following: EREESELT
As at
1 April 2019
RZE—NF
mA—H
HK$’000
FAET
Right-of-use assets relating to operating leases RERE AV B mE LR
recognised upon application of HKFRS 16 F16R B BB ERE
LHENCEREEE 44,126
Reclassify from property, plant and equipment BEME BERSEEHSE 4,448
Adjustments on rental deposits at 1 April 2019 (Note) R -—Z— A FMA —HFAE
HE®RS (M) 608
49,182
By class: RHER
Stores and premises GNP E S 41,841
Machinery and office equipment SR NERME 2,893
Machinery and motor vehicles under finance lease BMEMHEBE T 2 #eE RE 4,448
49,182
Note: Bt 5
Before the application of HKFRS 16, the Group considered refundable rental FERBEMBREERF165AT NEBIR A
deposits paid as rights and obligations under leases to which HKAS 17 REENEERS AEBGTEAE175RFTE
applied. Based on the definition of lease payments under HKFRS 16, such BHEBETHWENRET - REFBEMBRE
deposits are not payments relating to the right to use of the underlying assets LEREIREERBIER LS REWIEER
and were adjusted to reflect the discounting effect at transition. Accordingly, BERAEEEZRE ETFURAEURBIBE
approximately HK$608,000 was adjusted to right-of-use assets. FF R B IR 22 - B L+ £9608,0007 7T T LA #5 &
ZEFERAEEE-
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2.2

(b)

(c)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Summary of significant accounting
pOliCieS (Continued)

Changes in accounting policies (continued)

Practical expedients applied

In applying HKFRS 16 for the first time, the Group has used
the following practical expedients permitted by the standard:

o the use of a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases
with reasonably similar characteristics;

o reliance on previous assessments on whether leases are
onerous;

o the accounting for operating leases with a remaining
lease term of less than 12 months as at 1 April 2019 as
short-term leases;

° exempting operating leases for which the underlying
assets are of low value;

° the exclusion of initial direct costs for the measurement
of the right-of-use asset at the date of initial application.

The Group has also elected not to reassess whether a
contract is, or contains a lease at the date of initial application.
Instead, for contracts entered into before the transition date
the Group relied on its assessment made applying HKAS
17 and HK(IFRIC)-4 “Determining whether an Arrangement
contains a Lease”.

Lease accounting
The group did not need to make any adjustments to the

accounting for assets held as lessor under operating leases as
a result of the adoption of HKFRS 16.

2.2

(b)

(c)

BB ERRMT

TERHRERE -

SHBEES »)
XA ERETER

2516

ROMREREBM B @S E
& Bl B A2

SR AEBECEAUATE
MFCEREERR:

A
A

N

. HEBEHARBEANZBEMS
ERE— R

e HNHERTEERMWBMERN
fil s

e HBR-_ZFE-—HNFOA—HBHT
HEHLM2EAZKERE
ARFIEREEEE

s HABAHEEBEEEZLZHM

e RUIRERBHFEERESR
B MR U SR B A A

AEEEEESAERVAEREH
EFNFEAANRERATHEARER
SHE- MR- HRBEB G L
CEA AEBIRKBERBELE S
BEUEI7TRLBE(BRMBERS
REZEg) RERARIBEER
RS EeMEE | Fh 2/ E-

HESTERE
B AN R B 5K A & B B R iR & R
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

X e

2 Summary of significant accounting
pOliCieS (Continued)

2.3 Subsidiaries

2.3.1 Consolidation

2 FESTHHERBFEw

2.3 B F

2.3.18 6t

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over
which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity
when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable
returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the entity.
Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control
is transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated from the
date that control ceases.

Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised gains
on transactions between group companies are eliminated.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated. When necessary
amounts reported by subsidiaries have been adjusted to
conform with the Group’s accounting policies.

(@)

Business combinations

The Group applies the acquisition method to account for
business combinations. The consideration transferred
for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair values of the
assets transferred, the liabilities incurred to the former
owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued
by the Group. The consideration transferred includes
the fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a
contingent consideration arrangement. Identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed
in a business combination are measured initially at their
fair values at the acquisition date.

The Group recognises any non-controlling interests in
the acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis.
Non-controlling interests in the acquiree that are
present ownership interests and entitle their holders to
a proportionate share of the entity’s net assets in the
event of liquidation are measured at either fair value or
the present ownership interests’ proportionate share in
the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets. All other components of non-controlling interests
are measured at their acquisition date fair value, unless
another measurement basis is required by HKFRS.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BT RRMITE

2 TEEHBEREw

2 Summary of significant accounting
pOliCieS (Continued)
2.3 Subsidiaries (continuea) 2.3 B AT (2

2.3.1 Consolidation (continued) 231608t (%)

(a) Business combinations (Continued) @ EEEHE)
If the business combination is achieved in stages, MERKEGHIRERET WE
the acquisition date carrying value of the acquirer’s FTRWE B BRI A
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is T H R BRE A E R BRI
re-measured to fair value at the acquisition date; any BHHZARBEENGE:
gains or losses arising from such re-measurement are EBEFFEMEANEMNR
recognised in profit or loss. BRERER-
Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the AEEMBERNTMAIARE
Group is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. RUWBEBRARBERER
Subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent WHEEF-—EBEEXABENXA
consideration that is deemed to be an asset or liability is REAABENERES &
recognised in accordance with HKAS 39 either in profit BEEBSTTERFEINR K
or loss or as a change to other comprehensive income. BExRIEREEMEGE W
Contingent consideration that is classified as equity R WHOEAEZNAA
is not re-measured, and its subsequent settlement is REBEEHTE MERKL
accounted for within equity. HEREm AR
The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount FRERERE RBEREBARZE
of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the Al SEIZE IR M 2 & KE R A (] ST AT
acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest P WS 75 2 BR AN 2 O U R
in the acquiree over the fair value of the identifiable net HEIZ AR EEBEFTWEA
assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If the total BREEFEZAABE H
of consideration transferred, non-controlling interest ERABEINNR - MERER
recognised and previously held interest measured is less ARBERT FEERE - L®
than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary RIETER R BRI TR R
acquired in the case of a bargain purchase, the FFECBFMERFTKENRE A
difference is recognised directly in the consolidated profit RIEEFEZAREBE EE
and loss. HEETEHERRPER

(b)  Changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries without (b) TEHIEHIEZEEINTE L F]

change of control

Transactions with non-controlling interests that do not
result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions — that is, as transactions with the owners of
the subsidiary in their capacity as owners. The difference
between fair value of any consideration paid and the
relevant share acquired of the carrying value of net
assets of the subsidiary is recorded in equity. Gains or

FE RS

SR 46 L B SR R PR A 26 1
T = B R 5 A
B 5B 25 X 5 - B B2 B A 7
FAENEERFEESRE
G % S B % 1 1 ] 4 (B &
Qﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁ%@ﬁ%%%w
BASFAEREENEES

losses on disposals to non-controlling interests are also ARG MIETEREZNE
recorded in equity. B RE ISR o

141

2019/20%F % eprint EEERAF



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B HRRME

2 Summary of significant accounting
pOliCieS (Continued)

2.3 Subsidiaries (Continued)

2.3.1 Consolidation (continued)

(c)  Disposal of subsidiaries

When the Group ceases to have control, any retained
interest in the entity is re-measured to its fair value at
the date when control is lost, with the change in carrying
amount recognised in profit or loss. The fair value is the
initial carrying amount for the purposes of subsequently
accounting for the retained interest as an associate,
joint venture or financial asset. In addition, any amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income in
respect of that entity are accounted for as if the Group
had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
[t means that amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss
or transferred to another category of equity as specified/
permitted by applicable HKFRSs.

2.3.2 Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less
impairment. Cost includes direct attributable costs of
investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for
by the Company on the basis of dividend received and
receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is
required upon receiving dividends from these investments
if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income of
the subsidiary in the period the dividend is declared or if the
carrying amount of the investment in the separate financial
statements exceeds the carrying amount in the consolidated
financial statements of the investee’s net assets including
goodwill.
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2.4

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Summary of significant accounting
pOliCieS (Continued)

Associates

Associates are entities over which the Group has significant
influence but not control, generally accompanying a
shareholding of between 20% and 50% of the voting
rights. Investments in associate are accounted for using the
equity method of accounting. Under the equity method, the
investment is initially recognised at cost, and the carrying
amount is increased or decreased to recognise the investor’s
share of the profit or loss of the investee after the date of
acquisition. The Group’s investments in associate include
goodwill identified on acquisition. Upon the acquisition of
the ownership interest in associate, any difference between
the cost of the associate and the Group’s share of the net
fair value of the associate’ identifiable assets and liabilities is
accounted for as goodwill.

If the ownership interest in associate is reduced but significant
influence is retained, only a proportionate share of the
amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified to profit or loss where appropriate.

The Group’s share of post-acquisition profit or loss is
recognised in the consolidated profit and loss, and its share
of post-acquisition movements in other comprehensive
income is recognised in other comprehensive income with
a corresponding adjustment to the carrying amount of the
investment. When the Group’s share of losses in associate
equals or exceeds its interest in the associate, including any
other unsecured receivables, the Group does not recognise
further losses, unless it has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.

The Group determines at each reporting date whether there is
any objective evidence that the investments in the associate
are impaired. If this is the case, the Group calculates
the amount of impairment as the difference between the
recoverable amount of the associate and its carrying value
and recognises the amount adjacent to ‘share of losses of
associates’ in the consolidated profit and loss.
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2.4

2.5
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Summary of significant accounting
pOliCieS (Continued)

Associates (continued)

Profits and losses resulting from upstream and downstream
transactions between the Group and its associates are
recognised in the Group’s financial statements only to the
extent of unrelated investor’s interests in the associates.
Unrealised losses are eliminated unless the transaction
provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.
Accounting policies of associates have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by
the Group.

Gain or losses on dilution of equity interest in associates are
recognised in the consolidated profit and loss.

Joint arrangement

The Group has applied HKFRS 11 to all joint arrangement.
Under HKFRS 11 investments in joint arrangements are
classified as either joint operations or joint ventures depending
on the contractual rights and obligations of each investor.
The Group has assessed the nature of its joint arrangement
and determined them to be joint venture. Joint venture is
accounted for using the equity method.

Under the equity method of accounting, interest in a joint
venture is initially recognised at cost and adjusted thereafter
to recognise the Group’s share of the post-acquisition profits
or losses and movements in other comprehensive income.
The Group’s investment in a joint venture includes goodwill
identified on acquisition. Upon the acquisition of the ownership
interest in a joint venture, any difference between the cost
of the joint venture and the Group’s share of the net fair
value of the joint venture’s identifiable assets and liabilities is
accounted for as goodwill. When the Group’s share of loss in
a joint venture equals or exceeds its interest in a joint venture
(which includes any long-term interests that, in substance,
form part of the Group’s net investment in the joint ventures),
the Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has
incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of a joint
venture.

eprint Group Limited Annual Report 2019/20

2.4

2.5

TERHBERE

-3 /NECTNE )

B B N R 2 B E B
THRXZMEMNMEBEBRRAEEDN
MBERERTER BERNERE
BREENBERRBENEE K
ERZGEHBEBRRAEREED
BE - DRIREIREE T A - B
ERABNEABRRERFTERFLR
BOUBREASERANBR—
o

7N 65 [ £ H B

KB E N R ST P E £ M s
HEERN A GRS R -

H[E = 5

AEBEEHMERARLFERAEL
MBREEE IR -RIFF B
BHREEE 1SR RARTHZ
BREDHERAERBAAZLE
DREBEZSREST ZENENREE
DR -AEBEDFBEAR LB
ZHE VTEEFZFRARZHERE
LR -BELERAEDEAK

REERZSHE RAaEbE2E
mYI B RN ARNFER - BE R HETTHE
VA T 78 7N £% 8] R {1 WK 12 058 ) 3/
BREMEAERaNES -AEE
RELEEZREBRRNEBERE
Al B-RNUBEELRZAH
EREDR fELXZRAER
SEREEERRZAHMNEER
BEZRAABEFEZEMNEZEA
EAEE-MAKSEREGERR
MEBERENUBEMKTAZEERL
BE(ERERLBRASEERS
EEEZIREFBRRDOEMA K
) AEBETEBHERER K
FAEFELEEIRRALELE
3K BIER &



2.5

2.6

2.7

(a)

(b)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Summary of significant accounting
pOliCieS (Continued)

Joint arrangement (continued)

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its
joint venture is eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest
in a joint venture. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the
asset transferred. Accounting policy of a joint venture has
been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with
the policies adopted by the Group.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating
decision-maker. The chief operating decision-maker, who
is responsible for allocating resources and assessing
performance of the operating segments, has been identified
as the chairman and executive directors of the Group that
make strategic decisions.

Foreign currency translation

Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each of the
Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the Group operates
(the “functional currency”). The consolidated financial
statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars (‘HK$”), which
is the Group’s functional and presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional
currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of
the transactions or valuation where items are re-measured.
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the
settlement of such transactions and from the translation at
year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the
consolidated profit and loss.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to borrowings
and cash and cash equivalents are presented in the
consolidated profit and loss. All other foreign exchange gains
and losses are presented in profit and loss within ‘Other
losses — net’.
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2.7

(c)

146

Summary of significant accounting
pOliCieS (Continued)

Foreign currency translation (continued)

Group companies

The results and financial position of all the Group entities (none
of which has the currency of a hyper-inflationary economy)
that have a functional currency different from the presentation
currency are translated into the presentation currency as
follows:

()  assets and liabilities for each statement of financial
position presented are translated at the closing rate at
the date of that statement of financial position;

(i) income and expenses for each profit and loss are
translated at average exchange rates (unless this average
is not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative
effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in
which case income and expenses are translated at the
rate on the dates of the transactions); and

(i) all resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the
translation of any net investment in foreign entities, and
of borrowings and other financial instruments designated
as hedges of such investments, are recognised in other
comprehensive income. When a foreign operation is sold or
any borrowings forming part of the net investment are repaid,
the associated exchange differences are reclassified to profit
or loss, as part of the gain or loss on sale.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition
of a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the
foreign entity and translated at the closing rate. Current
translation differences arising are recognised in other
comprehensive income.
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2.7

(d)

2.8

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Summary of significant accounting
pOliCieS (Continued)

Foreign currency translation (continuead)

Disposal of foreign operation and partial disposal

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a disposal of
the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal
involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a
foreign operation, a disposal involving loss of joint control over
a joint venture that includes a foreign operation, or a disposal
involving loss of significant influence over an associates that
includes a foreign operation), all of the currency translation
differences accumulated in equity in respect of that operation
attributable to the owners of the Company are reclassified to
profit or loss.

In the case of a partial disposal that does not result in the
Group losing control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign
operation, the proportionate share of accumulated currency
translation differences are re-attributed to non-controlling
interests and are not recognised in profit or loss. For all other
partial disposals (that is, reductions in the Group’s ownership
interest in associates or joint ventures that do not result in
the Group losing significant influence or joint control), the
proportionate share of the accumulated exchange difference is
reclassified to profit or loss.

Property, plant and equipment

Buildings comprise mainly offices. All property, plant and
equipment are stated at historical cost less depreciation.
Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable
to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount
or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when
it is probable that future economic benefits associated with
the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be
measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is
derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are charged
to in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income
during the period in which they are incurred.
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B HRRME

2.8

2.9

(a)

Summary of significant accounting
pOliCieS (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (continuea)

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to
allocate their cost to their residual values over their estimated
useful lives as follows:

Buildings
Plant and machinery

30 to 50 years
5to 15 years

Leasehold improvements 5 years
Computer, furniture and equipment 5 years
Motor vehicles 5 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater
than its estimated recoverable amount (Note 2.10).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing
proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised in the
consolidated profit and loss.

Intangible assets

Goodwill

Goodwill arises on the acquisition of subsidiaries represents
the excess of the consideration transferred, the amount
of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the
acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in
the acquiree over the fair value of the identified net assets
acquired.
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2.9

(a)

2.10

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Summary of significant accounting
pOliCieS (Continued)

Intangible assets (continuead)

Goodwill (continued)

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired
in a business combination is allocated to each of the
cash-generating units (“CGUSs”), or groups of CGUs, that is
expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination.
Each unit or group of units to which the goodwill is allocated
represents the lowest level within the entity at which the
goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes.
Goodwill is monitored at the operating segment level.

Goodwill impairment reviews are undertaken annually or more
frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate a
potential impairment. The carrying value of the CGU containing
the goodwill is compared to the recoverable amount, which
is the higher of value in use and the fair value less costs of
disposal. Any impairment is recognised immediately as an
expense and is not subsequently reversed.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life or intangible
assets not ready to use are not subject to amortisation and
are tested annually for impairment. Assets that are subject to
amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for
the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of
an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the
purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the
lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash
flows (cash-generating units). Non-financial assets other than
goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible
reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.
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B HRRME

2.11

(a)

(b)

150

Summary of significant accounting
pOliCieS (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets

Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets and liabilities in the
following categories:

o those to be measured subsequently at fair value (either
through other comprehensive income, or through profit
or loss), and

o those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s business model for
managing the financial assets and the contractual terms of the
cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will either
be recorded in profit or loss or other comprehensive income.
For investments in equity instruments that are not held for
trading, this will depend on whether the Group has made
an irrevocable election at the time of initial recognition to
account for the equity investment at fair value through other
comprehensive income.

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only when
its business model for managing those assets changes.

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade-date — the date on which the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets are
derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the
investments have expired or have been transferred and the
Group has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of
ownership.
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(c)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Summary of significant accounting
pOliCieS (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at
its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at fair
value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction
costs of financial assets carried at fair value through profit or
loss are expensed in profit or loss.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in
their entirety when determining whether their cash flows are
solely payment of principal and interest.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on
the Group’s business model for managing the asset and
the cash flow characteristics of the asset. There are two
measurement categories into which the group classifies its
debt instruments:

J Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent
solely payments of principal and interest are measured
at amortised cost. Interest income from these financial
assets is included in finance income using the effective
interest rate method. Any gain or loss arising on
derecognition is recognised directly in profit or loss and
presented in “other losses — net” together with foreign
exchange gains and losses. Impairment losses are
presented as separate line item in profit or loss.

° Fair value through profit or loss: Assets that do not
meet the criteria for amortised cost or fair value through
other comprehensive income are measured at fair
value through profit or loss. A gain or loss on a debt
investment that is subsequently measured at fair value
through profit or loss is recognised in profit or loss and
presented net within other losses — net in the period in
which it arises.
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2.11

(c)

(d)

152

Summary of significant accounting
pOliCieS (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)

Measurement (Continued)
Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity investments
at fair value. Where the Group’s management has elected
to present fair value gains and losses on equity investments
in other comprehensive income, there is no subsequent
reclassification of fair value gains and losses to profit or loss
following the derecognition of the investment. Dividends from
such investments continue to be recognised in profit or loss
as other income when the Group’s right to receive payments
is established.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss are recognised in other losses-net in the
profit or loss as applicable. impairment losses (and reversal
of impairment losses) on equity investments measured at fair
value through other comprehensive income are not reported
separately from other changes in fair value.

Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward looking basis the expected
credit losses associated with its debt instruments carried
at amortised cost. The impairment methodology applied
depends on whether there has been a significant increase in
credit risk.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the simplified
approach permitted by HKFRS 9, which requires expected
lifetime losses to be recognised from initial recognition of the
receivables, see Note 21 for further details.
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2.13

2.14

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Summary of significant accounting
pOliCieS (Continued)

Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount
reported in the statement of financial position when there is
a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts
and there is an intention to settle on a net basis or realise
the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. The legally
enforceable right must not be contingent on future events and
must be enforceable in the normal course of business and in
the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the company
or the counterparty.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined using the first-in, first-out (FIFO)
method. The cost of inventories comprises materials to be
consumed in the rendering of services. It excludes borrowing
costs. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business, less applicable variable selling
expenses.

Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for good
sold or services performed in the ordinary course of business.
If collection of trade and other receivables is expected in one
year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business
if longer), they are classified as current assets. If not, they are
presented as non-current assets.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method, less provision for impairment.
See Note 2.11 for further information about the Group’s
accounting for trade receivables and description of the
Group’s impairment policies.
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2.15

2.16

217

2.18

Summary of significant accounting
pOliCieS (Continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash
equivalents include cash in hand, deposits held at call with
banks and bank overdrafts. In the consolidated statement of
financial position, bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings
in current liabilities.

Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs
directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are
shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

Trade and other payables

Trade payables are obligation to pay for goods or services that
have been acquired in the ordinary course of business from
suppliers. Trade and other payables are classified as current
liabilities if payment is due within one year or less (or in the
normal operating cycle of the business if longer). If not, they
are presented as non-current liabilities.

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair value
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
carried at amortised cost; any difference between the
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value
is recognised in the consolidated profit and loss over the
period of the borrowings using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group
has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for
at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period.
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2.19

2.20

(a)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Summary of significant accounting
pOliCieS (Continued)

Borrowings costs

General and specific borrowing costs directly attributable to
the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets,
which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period
of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added
to the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Current and deferred income tax

The income tax expense or credit for the period is the tax
payable on the current period’s taxable income based on the
applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by
changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to
temporary differences and to unused tax losses.

Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of
the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the year
end date in the countries where the Company’s subsidiaries,
associates and a joint venture operate and generate taxable
income. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in
tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax
regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions
where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be
paid to the tax authorities.
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2.20

(b)

156

Summary of significant accounting
pOliCieS (Continued)

Current and deferred income tax (continueq)

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising between the tax
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in
the consolidated financial statements. However, deferred
tax liabilities are not recognised if they arise from the initial
recognition of goodwill. Deferred income tax is also not
accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or
liability in a transaction other than a business combination that
at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor
taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined using
tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantially
enacted by the end of the reporting period and are expected
to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised
or the deferred income tax liability is settled.

The deferred tax liability in relation to investment property that
is measured at fair value is determined assuming the property
will be recovered entirely through sale.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is probable
that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those
temporary differences and losses.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for
temporary differences between the carrying amount and tax
bases of investments in foreign operations where the company
is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that the differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when
there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when the deferred income
taxes assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by
the same taxation authority on either the taxable entity or
different taxable entities where there is an intention to settle
the balances on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle
the liability simultaneously.

eprint Group Limited Annual Report 2019/20

2 FESTHHERBFEw

220 EHARIERE TR ()
(b) EZEFEBH

BETEMEREAEEEREERA
EOREREIRNAHTBRRDOK
HEZBELNT R ZRBHR
B Am EEHRIREEIRE
SHEEBNEE  AETSRER - W0
BEEFTEH IR B E55 6 6 AN
RHPNLERNEELRE M
ERXGHEYITEESTRERT G
MEEBE BETERERTTEA
FRE - ZEEHECHEHEED
ERYBELEMSHAEBECHEER
BEEMBRARBEHRD B E X
EECHEMTERERA ZHE (&
ED)ERE ©

BEREAABEFENRENEN
BELERBRENBRRZVEREB
HER T2 KEIEE -

BEEFISHEEEN I A R KE
RRCRAIARDAREEREE
BREER D SRR -

fied 2% ) B 122 1) 8 () RS 1 2 R A B
BRkZEZRAEIENAR KK
Bo-RATeRBEEBERERET
EEREZENEREZEERE
ERBRBEREE-

fisd 5 AT 4ROA 98 Bl 1T R A K 2 HA AR
FEEREHPAEREERNE BE
EFEREERBERER —HHH
A —EXZEERHEERKZ
FMERAR MEMERESRF
RELEGEERIAREREER
BEAGBR ELEMSREESRSA
EiFEREE-



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BT RRMITE

2 EBEHBERE

2 Summary of significant accounting
pOliCieS (Continued)

220 EHARIEREFTBH (&)

2.20 Current and deferred income tax (continued)

(b) EZLEREH (&)

(b) Deferred income tax (Continued)

2.21

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except
to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case, the
tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, respectively.

Provisions

Provisions for legal claims are recognised when: the Group
has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of
past events; it is probable that an outflow of resources will
be required to settle the obligation; and the amount has been
reliably estimated. Provisions are not recognised for future
operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood
that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by
considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is
recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to
any one item included in the same class of obligations may be
small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation
using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
obligation. The increase in the provision due to passage of
time is recognised as interest expense.
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2,22

2.23

158

Summary of significant accounting
pOliCieS (Continued)

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts are recognised as a financial
liability at the time the guarantee is issued. The liability is
initially measured at fair value and subsequently at the higher
of

o the amount determined in accordance with the expected
credit loss model under HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments
and

o the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate,
the cumulative amount of income recognised in
accordance with the principles of HKFRS 15 Revenue
from Contracts with Customers.

The fair value of financial guarantees is determined based on
the present value of the difference in cash flows between the
contractual payments required under the debt instrument and
the payments that would be required without the guarantee,
or the estimated amount that would be payable to a third
party for assuming the obligations.

Where guarantees in relation to loans or other payables of
associates are provided for no compensation, the fair values
are accounted for as contributions and recognised as part of
the cost of the investment.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable and represents amounts receivable for
goods supplied, stated net of discounts, returns and value
added taxes.

Revenue is recognised when, or as, the control of the goods
or services is transferred to the customer. Depending on the
terms of the contract and the laws applicable, control of the
goods and services may be transferred over time or at a point
in time.
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2.23

(a)

(b)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Summary of significant accounting
pOliCieS (Continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

The Company bases its estimate of return on historical results,
taking into consideration the type of customer, the type of
transaction and the specifics of each arrangement.

Sales of goods

Sales are recognised when control of the products has
transferred, being when the products are delivered to the
customers, and there is no unfulfilled obligation that could
affect the customer’s acceptance of the products. Delivery
occurs when the products have been shipped to the specified
location and the risks of obsolescence and loss have been
transferred to the customer. As receivable is recognised
when the goods are delivered as this is the point that the
consideration is unconditional because only the passage of
time is required before the payment is due.

Services income

Revenue from providing services is recognised in the
accounting period in which the services are rendered. For
fixed-price contracts, revenue is recognised based on the
actual service provided to the end of the reporting period as
a proportion of the total services to be provided because the
customer receives and uses the benefits simultaneously.

The Group provides shipping services in addition to the goods
sold to the customers under certain sales contracts.

Shipping services give rise to a separate performance
obligation when the Group promises to ship the products after
the control of the products are transferred to customer.

A contract liability is the obligation to transfer goods or
services to a customer for which the Group has received a
consideration (or an amount of consideration that is due) from
the customer. If a customer pays the consideration before the
Group transfers goods or services to the customer, a contract
liability is recognised when the payment is made or the
payment is due (whichever is earlier). Contract liabilities are
recognised as revenue when the Group performs under the
contract.
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2.23

(c)

2.24

(a)

(b)

(c)

160

Summary of significant accounting
pOliCieS (Continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Financing components

The Group does not expect to have any contracts where the
period between the transfer of the promised goods or services
to the customer and payment by the customer exceeds one
year. As a consequence, the Group does not adjust any of the
transaction prices for the time value of money.

Employee benefits

Employee leave entitlement

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised
when they accrue to employees. A provision is made for
the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of services
rendered by employees up to the balance sheet date.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave are
not recognised until the time of leave.

Bonus plans

The expected cost of bonus payments is recognised as a
liability when the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation as a result of services rendered by employees and a
reliable estimate of the obligation can be made.

Liabilities for bonus plans are expected to be settled within
12 months and are measured at the amounts expected to be
paid when they are settled.

Pension obligations

The Group operates defined contribution retirement benefits
schemes for its employees. Contributions are made based
on certain percentage of the employees’ basic salaries
and are recognised as employee benefit expense as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of the schemes.
The Group has no further payment obligations once the
contributions have been paid. The assets of the schemes
are held separately from those of the Group in independently
administered funds.
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2.25

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Summary of significant accounting
pOliCieS (Continued)

Leases

As explained in Note 2.2 above, the Group has changed its
accounting policy for leases where the Group is the lessee.
The new policy is described below and the impact of the
change in Note 2.2.

Until 31 March 2019, leases of property, plant and equipment
where the Group, as lessee, had substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership were classified as finance leases (Note
17). Finance leases were capitalised at the lease’s inception
at the fair value of the leased property or, if lower, the present
value of the minimum lease payments. The corresponding
rental obligations, net of finance charges, were included in
other short-term and long-term payables. Each lease payment
was allocated between the liability and finance cost. The
finance cost was charged to profit or loss over the lease
period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest
on the remaining balance of the liability for each period. The
property, plant and equipment acquired under finance leases
was depreciated over the asset’s useful life or over the shorter
of the asset’s useful life and the lease term if there is no
reasonable certainty that the Group will obtain ownership at
the end of the lease term.

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards
of ownership were not transferred to the Group as lessee
were classified as operating leases (Note 33). Payments made
under operating leases (net of any incentives received from the
lessor) were charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis
over the period of the lease.

From 1 April 2019, leases are recognised as a right-of-use
asset and a corresponding liability at the date at which the
leased asset is available for use by the Group.
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2.25

Summary of significant accounting
pOliCieS (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured
on a present value basis. Lease liabilities include the net
present value of the following lease payments:

° fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments),
less any lease incentives receivable

U variable lease payment that are based on an index or a
rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the
commencement date

° amounts expected to be payable by the Group under
residual value guarantees

o the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise that option, and

° payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising that option.

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain
extension options are also included in the measurement of
the liability. The lease payments are discounted using the
interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily
determined, which is generally the case for leases in the
Group, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is used, being
the rate that the individual lessee would have to pay to borrow
the funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar value to the
right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment with
similar terms, security and conditions.

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group:

o where possible, uses recent third-party financing
received by the individual lessee as a starting point,
adjusted to reflect changes in financing conditions since
third party financing was received

o uses a build-up approach that starts with a risk-free
interest rate adjusted for credit risk for leases held by the
Group, which does not have recent third party financing,
and

U makes adjustments specific to the lease, e.g. term,
country, currency and security.
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2.25

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Summary of significant accounting
pOliCieS (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group is exposed to potential future increases in variable
lease payments based on an index or rate, which are not
included in the lease liability until they take effect. When
adjustments to lease payments based on an index or rate take
effect, the lease liability is reassessed and adjusted against
the right-of-use asset.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and finance
cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the
lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of
interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each
period.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the
following:

o the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability

° any lease payments made at or before the commencement
date less any lease incentives received

° any initial direct costs, and
° restoration costs.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the shorter
of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a straight-line
basis. If the Group is reasonably certain to exercise a
purchase option, the right-of-use asset is depreciated over the
underlying asset’s useful life.

Payments associated with short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets are recognised on a straight-line basis as an
expense in profit or loss. Short-term leases are leases with a
lease term of 12 months or less.

Lease income from operating leases where the Group is a
lessor is recognised in income on a straight-line basis over
the lease term. The respective leased assets are included in
the consolidated statement of financial position based on their
nature. The Group did not need to make any adjustments
to the accounting for assets held as lessor as a result of
adopting the new leasing standard.
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2 Summary of significant accounting
pOliCieS (Continued)

2.26 Dividend distribution
Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders
is recognised as a liability in the Group’s consolidated
financial statements in the period in which the dividends are
approved by the Company’s shareholders or directors, where
appropriate.

2.27 Government grants
Grants from the government are recognised at their fair
value where there is a reasonable assurance that the grant
will be received and the Group will comply with all attached
conditions.
Government grants relating to costs are deferred and
recognised in the profit or loss over the period necessary
to match them with the costs that they are intended to
compensate.

2.28 Interest income

Interest income from financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss is included in the net fair value gains/(losses) in other
losses — net (Note 7).

Interest income on financial assets at amortised cost
calculated using the effective interest method is recognised in
the statement of profit or loss as part of other income (Note 6).

Interest income is presented as finance income — net (Note 10)
where it is earned from financial assets that are held for cash
management purposes. Any other interest income is included
in other income.
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3.1

(a)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Financial risk management

Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
market risk (including cash flow and fair value interest rate risk
and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.

Management regularly monitors the financial risks of the
Group. Because of the simplicity of the financial structure and
the current operations of the Group, no hedging activities are
undertaken by management.

Market risk
Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

The Group’s interest rate risk arises from borrowings, lease
liabilities (2019: obligations under finance leases), other
financial assets at amortised cost, bank deposits and cash at
banks.

As at 31 March 2020 and 2019, the Group’s interest-bearing
assets were bank deposits and held-to-maturity investments,
which are of fixed interest rates, and cash at banks, which
bears variable interest rates.

The Group’s income and cash flows from operations were
substantially independent of changes in market interest rates
as the significant interest-bearing assets were either fixed or
not expected to fluctuate significantly.

As at 31 March 2020 and 2019, borrowings at variable rates
expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk which is
partially offset by cash and cash equivalents held at variable
rates.
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3.1

(a)

166

Financial risk management (continueq)
Financial risk factors (continueq)

Market risk (Continueq)
Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk (Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2020, if interest rates on
borrowings had been 100 basis points higher/lower with all
other variables held constant, the Group’s profit before income
tax would have been approximately HK$238,000 lower/higher
(2019: HK$281,000 lower/higher). The sensitivity analysis has
been determined assuming that the change in interest rates
had occurred at the balance sheet date. The 100 basis point
increase/decrease represents management’s assessment of
reasonable possible change in the interest rate which has the
most impact on the Group over the period until the next year
end date.

As at 31 March 2020 and 2019, bank deposits, other financial
assets at amortised cost and lease liabilities (2019: obligations
under finance leases) at fixed rates expose the Group to
insignificant fair value interest rate risk as the fixed rates
approximate market interest rates.

Price risk

The Group’s exposure to equity securities price risk arises
from investments held by the Group and classified in the
consolidated statement of financial position at fair value
through profit or loss (Note 24).

To manage its price risk arising from investments in equity
securities, the Group diversifies its portfolio. Diversification of
the portfolio is done in accordance with the limits set by the
Group.

The Group’s investment in equity securities are publicly
traded. The fair value is determined with reference to quoted
market prices. For the Group’s investment that is not publicly
traded, management exercises its judgement to determine
their fair value and make assumptions that are mainly based
on market conditions existing at the reporting date (Note 3.3).

Based on the assumption that the fair values of equity
had increased or decreased by 5% respectively with all
other variables held constant, that all of the Group’s equity
instruments increased or decreased by HK$1,298,000, that
moved in line with the assumption. The management is of the
opinion that the Group has minimal exposure to the price risk
as at 31 March 2020 and 2019.
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3.1

(b)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Financial risk management continueq

Financial risk factors (continueq)

Credit risk

The credit risk of the Group mainly arises from cash and cash
equivalents, other financial assets at amortised cost, financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss, trade receivables,
other receivables and amounts due from related companies.
The carrying amounts of these balances represent the Group’s
maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to financial assets.

Management has credit policy in place and the exposure to
credit risks are monitored on an ongoing basis.

As at 31 March 2020, all the bank deposits are deposited
in the high quality financial institutions. The credit quality of
cash and cash equivalents have been assessed by reference
to external credit ratings or to historical information about the
counterparty default rates. The existing counterparties do not
have default in the past.

Most of the Group’s sales are settled by cash or credit
cards. Trade receivables of the Group are mainly due from
credit sales mitigating credit risk. There are no significant
concentration of credit risk as no external customers
contributed over 10% of the Group’s trade receivables.

The Group’s investment in debt instruments are considered to
be low risk investments. The credit ratings of the investments
are monitored for credit deterioration.

() Impairment of financial assets

The Group has two types of financial assets that are
subjected to the expected credit loss model, trade and
other receivables and other financial assets at amortised
cost. While cash and cash equivalents are also subject to
the impairment requirements of HKFRS 9, the identified
impairment loss was immaterial.
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B HRRME

3 Financial risk management continueo)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continueq)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

0

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Trade and other receivables

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to
measuring expected credit losses which uses a lifetime
expected loss allowance for all trade receivables.

To measure expected credit losses, trade receivables
have been grouped based on the days past due and
shared credit risk characteristics.

The expected loss rates are based on the payment
profiles of sales over a period of 36 months before
31 March 2020 or 1 April 2019 respectively and the
corresponding historical credit losses experienced
within this period. The historical loss rates are adjusted
to reflect current and forward-looking information on
macroeconomic factors affecting the ability of the
customers to settle the receivables. The impact of the
expected credit loss is insignificant.

Impairment losses on trade and other receivables are
presented as net impairment losses within operating
profit. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously
written off are credited against the same line item.

Individually impaired trade receivables are related to a
customer who is experiencing unexpected economic
difficulties. The Group expects that the amounts of the
receivables will have difficulty to be recovered and has
recognised impairment losses of HK$310,000.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AU ISR M T
3 Financial risk management continueq 3 HMKEKREREw
3.1 Financial risk factors (continueq) 31 B¥REKBEE
(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b) EERE %)
() Impairment of financial assets (Continued) () EEEERE &)
Other financial assets at amortised cost HEEH AR B2 &
E
Other financial assets at amortised cost include loans REENRINEZEMheRE
receivable. EBERIBER-
Management considers the credit risk on the loans to EREERR KB2ERHHF
related parties has not increased significantly since initial L FEOERIBEMEARR
recognition with reference to the counterparty historical KTEBFTHNERZEER
default rate and current financial position. The impairment br B W)t R LA ZR I | & K
provision is determined based on 12-month expected EmeomEREEREI2MEAE
credit losses and the loss allowance of approximately BHEEEREETABEREY
HK$807,000 was recognised as at 31 March 2020. 807,000 TR T _TF=
)EJ f + H ﬁﬁ e ©

HK$’000
FTERx

Opening loss allowance as at 1 April 2018 RZZE-NFOA—BAH

FYBERE -
Increase in the loan allowance recognised FRRIERER 2 EREEIL N
in profit or loss during the year 1,595

Closing loss allowance as at 31 March 2019 R-ZT—hAE=ZA=+—HWFRX

EEEE 1,595
Increase in loan loss allowance recognised FRARERBRZEREERE
in profit or loss during the year 30 807

Closing loss allowance as at 31 March 2020 W-Z -_ZHF=F=+—HH
FREBEE 2,402
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3.1

(c)

170

Financial risk management (continueq)

Financial risk factors (continuea)
Liquidity risk

The liquidity risk of the Group is controlled by maintaining
sufficient cash flows of banking facilities, bank deposit and
cash and cash equivalents, which are generated from the
financing activities and the operating activities, respectively.

Taking into account the Group’s financial position, the
directors do not consider that it is probable that the banks will
exercise their discretion to demand immediate repayment.

The directors believe that such borrowings and lease liabilities
(2019: obligations under finance leases) will be repaid in
accordance with the scheduled repayment dates set out in
the loan agreements.

The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities
into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining
period at the year-end date to the contractual maturity date.
The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual
undiscounted cash flows (including interests payments
computed using contractual rates). Where the loan agreement
contains a repayable on demand clause which gives the
lender the unconditional right to call the loan at any time, the
amounts repayable are classified in the earliest time bracket
in which the lender could demand repayment and no interest
payments were included. The maturity analysis for financial
liabilities is prepared based on the scheduled repayment
dates.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BT RERMT
Financial risk management (conineq 3 HMBEREBREREw
Financial risk factors (continued) 3.1 BIREREZE »
Liquidity risk (continued) (c) RBELSEAM &)

Between Between
1and2 2and 5

On demand years years Total
REX —ZWE “ERF 4t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TAT FHT TET FHT
As at 31 March 2020 R-E-_TH#=ZA=+—H
Borrowings and interest fEERMERAX
expenses 21,157 - - - 21,157
Lease liabilities and interest HEABERFERY
expenses 2,491 18,670 15,752 1,676 38,589
Trade payables £ ¢ - 5,998 - - 5,998
Other payables' H e3R8 - 661 - - 661
Amounts due to related B 77 508
parties - 201 - - 201
Amounts due to directors  JEffEEZUE - 165 - - 165
As at 31 March 2019 RZE-NF=R=+—H
Borrowings and interest EERFSRAX
expenses 25,943 - - - 25,943
Obligations under finance ~ BEREBETHEMR
leases and interest FIBREX
expenses 1,978 79 79 53 2,184
Trade payables BHEMNIE - 9,323 - = 9,323
Other payables' Hib e A = 962 = S 962
Amounts due to arelated  JE{T = 7 B
party S 34 S S 34
Amounts due to directors  [EffE EFIE = 200 = = 200
1 The balance excludes contract liabilities, deferred income and accrued 1 EHRTEIEAHNEBE BEERAKRES
expenses. BH-
—
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& IR EmRER MR

3 Financial risk management (conineq 3 HMBERBREREw

3.1 Financial risk factors (continueq) 31 BIREKBREE #

(c) Liquidity risk (continuea) (c) REBEELRME )
The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities into TROMAEENEHEBE DR
relevant maturity groups based on the scheduled repayment BEERHEMEBETERBHAE
dates set out in the loan agreements and the effect of any YTEFSFAETMNEEREZERANE
repayment on demand clause is ignored. EHBREBIIEER -

Between Between

Within 1and 2 2and 5 Over 5
1 year years years years Total
—£R —-EWE —ERE FEEHUE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT TBT TAET TAT TAT
As at 31 March 2020 AZE-EFZA=+—H
Borrowings and interest BERFBAX
expenses 2,650 1,442 4,325 16,698 25,115
Lease liabiliies and interest & & & RFI 25X
eXpenses 20,265 16,721 1,676 - 38,662
Trade payables BHREMNTIE 5,998 - - - 5,998
Other payables' Hi e 5E 661 - - - 661
Amounts due to related FEAT B 77 5R0E
parties 201 - - - 201
Amounts due to directors  fEfTEEZUE 165 - - - 165
Between
Within Between 2and 5 Over 5
1 year 1and 2 years years years Total
—ER —EME “ERF AFUE @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAL T TAET AT FTAET
As at 31 March 2019 RZE-NE=ZA=+—H
Borrowings and interest BERMERAX
expenses 6,462 1,442 4,325 18,140 30,369
Obligations under finance ~ BEAREETMETR
leases and interest FERZ
expenses 1,911 220 53 - 2,184
Trade payables B S REMNTIE 9,323 = = = 9,323
Other payables' Hi R 5E 962 - = - 962
Amounts due to arelated  JE{TREEE 7 B
party 34 = = = 34
Amounts due to directors ~ ENEEFHIE 200 - = = 200
1 The balance excludes contract liabilities, deferred income and accrued 1 EHRTBRIEAHNEE BEERAREE
expenses. EH-
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3.2

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Financial risk management (continueq)

Capital risk management

The Group’s objectives on managing capital are to finance
its operations with its owned capital and to safeguard the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern in order
to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other
stakeholders.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group
may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders and
return capital to shareholders.

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors
capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated
as total debt divided by total equity. Total debt is calculated
as borrowings and lease liabilities (2019: obligations under
finance leases).

The gearing ratios as at 31 March 2020 and 2019 were as
follows:

3

BT RRMITE

BEERERE

3.2 EXEKRER

AEBMNEXAERBER EUAEAR
ﬁ;§$%%%§hf B X HARE
RATIREHEEE L/{%Hxﬁhf

@i&&ﬁﬁmﬁﬂﬁ%ﬂXﬂ

REFIABEANGRE A&EA
HAEBERNTRRZEECBNMEER
BREA

AEBIRITEREN REEEAGL
REREARRF I RYIZEH

RMERARSERTE - B ARE
BREBEEEREERGE(ZZ—H
F REEHEETHNEER)GE:

RZEBE_EFR_F—NF=A
—t+—HMEEABLERENNT

As at 31 March
R=A=+—H
2020 2019
—NF
HK$’000
FAT

—E-%F
HK$’000
FERT

Borrowings (Note 29) BE (K15E29) 21,157 25,943
Lease liabilities (2019: obligations HEBBE(ZZE—NF:
under finance lease) (Note 17) MEHEBBTHEMR)
(B&E17) 37,204 2,136
Total debt e 58,361 28,079
Total equity V2% 10 230,005 234,518
Gearing ratio BEEARLE 25% 12%
The net debt to equity ratio increased from 12% to 25% HR AR ZREA

following the adoption of HKFRS 16 Leases. Both net debt
and gross assets increased following the recognition of
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities on 1 April 2019. See
note 2.2 for further information.

S AR E 1698 DTEEJ %
% BEFEREE
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X e

3.3

174

Financial risk management (continueq)

Fair value estimation

The carrying amounts of the Group’s current financial assets,
including cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables, other
receivables, financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
and amounts due from related companies, current financial
liabilities, including trade payables, other payables, amounts
due to related parties and directors, lease liabilities (2019:
obligations under finance leases) and borrowings approximate
their fair values due to their short maturities, and non-current
liabilities, including lease liabilities (2019: obligations under
finance leases) and borrowings as their interest rates
approximate market interest rates.

The fair value of financial liabilities for disclosure purposes is
estimated by discounting the future contractual cash flows at
the current market interest rate that is available to the Group
for similar financial instruments.

The table below analyses the Group’s financial instrument
carried at fair value as at 31 March 2020 by level of the inputs
to valuation techniques used to measure fair value. Such
inputs are categorised into three levels within a fair value
hierarchy as follows:

° Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical
assets or liabilities (level 1).

o Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1
that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly
(that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from
prices) (level 2).

o Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on

observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs)
(level 3).
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CX b e
Financial risk management (coniinueq) 3 BERAREREw
Fair value estimation (continueq) 3.3 AAEEME @

The following table presents the Group’s financial assets that TREJINAGER-_Z_FTFR=
are measured at fair value at 31 March 2020 and 2019. E-NF=ZA=+—HEQAAREE
TE B E -
Level 3
E=M
HK$000  HK$'000  HK$000  HK$'000
TER TERT TERT TERT
31 March 2020 —E-EF=ZA=+—H
Financial asset at fair value ~ BBEZKZAAEETIK
through profit or loss LERMEE 25,309 - 160 25,469
31 March 2019 “Z-NE=RA=+—H
Financial asset at fair value BRBREAABAEIIER
through profit or loss LERMEE 9,545 - - 9,545
Financial instrument in level 1 (a) £—4REeWMIT A
The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets REBMBEENESRIAEAARE
is based on quoted market prices at the end of the reporting BENREBEREHRTSHMEET -
period. A market is regarded as active if quoted prices are WMBEANEREREHERZM &
readily and regularly available from an exchange, dealer, HE BEA EERR - EEBRS
broker, industry group, pricing service, or regulatory agency, SEEHREBES BZSFERERT
and those prices represent actual and regularly occurring EATEEETHNERRERHE™T
market transactions on an arm’s length basis. The quoted BR 5 AZMISHRRERTS 5t
market price used for financial assets held by the Group is the AEBMBECRMEEMANTS
current bid price. These instruments are included in level 1. HRERENEEBE-ZEITAGTAZE
Instruments included in level 1 comprise primarily listed equity —HFHAEZE—RMNIEFTERRE
securities classified as financial assets at fair value through NHEAEFRAERERARBEIIEZ
profit or loss. EHMEENLTRAES -
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B PS5k
3 Financial risk management (conineq 3 HMBERBREREw
3.3 Fair value estimation (continueq) 3.3 RAEBEME @)
(b) Financial instrument in level 3 b) F=HE&MTAH
The following table presents the changes in level 3 instruments TR2IWHBHEZE-_ZT_ZTFR_ZF
for the year ended 31 March 2020 and 2019. —NWE=ZRA= ‘i' EI HEEEE=H
THEHZZ%-
2020
—EBECEF
HK$’000
TET
At beginning of the year NG - 12,746
Disposal k= - (12,837)
Addition hE 300 -
Fair value loss on financial assets FRBREZEAABEIERZ
at FVPL ﬁﬂéﬁ?Z@fcﬁfE%%a (140) -
Gain recognised in profit or loss RiBa R R - 91
At end of the year RER 160 =
Total loss for the year included FRBBEZEERTFA
in profit or loss for assets held E BB ABE
at the end of the year, under PIVEE MR —F 58
other losses — net (140) -

4 Critical accounting estimates and 4
judgements

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are
based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the
future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition,
seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year are addressed below.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Critical accounting estimates and
jUdgementS (Continued)

Estimated impairment of goodwill and property,
plant and equipment of banner printing segment

The Group tests annually whether goodwill has suffered any
impairment, in accordance with the accounting policy stated in
Note 2.10. The recoverable amounts of cash-generating units
have been determined based on value-in-use calculations.
These calculations require the use of estimates (Note 18).

Property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. The recoverable
amounts have been determined based on the higher of
value-in-use calculations or fair value less costs of disposal
calculations. The calculations require the use of judgements
and estimates.

Management judgement is required in the area of asset
impairment particularly in assessing: (i) whether an event
has occurred that may indicate that the related asset values
may not be recoverable; (i) whether the carrying value of an
asset can be supported by the recoverable amount, being
the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and net present
value of future cash flows which are estimated based upon
the continued use of the asset in the business; and (i) the
appropriate key assumptions to be applied in preparing cash
flow projections including whether these cash flow projections
are discounted using an appropriate rate.

Changing the assumptions selected by the directors in
assessing impairment could affect the recoverable amount
determined by the directors and as a result affect the result of
the impairment reviews. Further details are set out in Note 18.

(a)

BB ERRMT

B R

BENR I BEERYE K
S A A

AEBBFRENI210FTZ S
BRI EESSHBEEARE:
ReEABUZzZARKESEEER
FRBEFE ZSHEAFERG
& (KHfzE18) o

ME - BEMIREREFLRKE
LB B U BR T B A B DR I @ B
ETRERS -ATHEOESRCDRE
EREEAEBEEXARABEN
BRIHERAFAE (UARSERE) -
bRt Et EIEEE R HIE KA E e

EEEREBEFB CHEHEFMBUT
ZHERE EREBEALHAE: (BT
EREEHARBENEEEEER
gemSRUR [ : (i)FT ke £ 58 (BN AR
BEENKREEXNAR Z2HEEBIE
BETEBREREEMGBTZX
RKREREFREMEPZIRSE)
AEYHEERAEE: Kii)FERR
SREFANFEARBZEEETER
LR EEEReREEIRT M
BE A KRR -

EEFEREREAZBRLED
EYEEFHT 2 INELE A
15 8 7K 5 B 2 18 1R 3T A 5 R
e — S ERRH 8 -
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B HRRME

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

178

Critical accounting estimates and
jUdgementS (Continued)

Fair value of financial instruments

Where the fair value of financial instruments recorded in the
statement of financial position cannot be derived from active
markets, they are determined using valuation techniques
including the use of recent arm’s length transactions,
reference to other instruments that are substantially the
same, and discounted cash flow analysis. The inputs to these
models are taken from observable markets where possible,
but where this is not feasible, a degree of judgment is required
in establishing fair values.

Impairment of financial assets

The loss allowances for financial assets are based on
assumptions about risk of default and expected loss rates.
The Group uses judgement in making these assumptions and
selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation, based on
the Group’s past history, existing market conditions as well as
forward looking estimates at the end of each reporting period.
Details of the key assumptions and inputs used are disclosed
in Note 3.1.

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment

Management determines the estimated lives and related
depreciation charges for its property, plant and equipment.
Management will revise the depreciation charge where useful
lives are different from those previously estimated, or it will
write-off or write-down technically obsolete or non-strategic
assets that have been abandoned or sold.

Income taxes

The Group is principally subject to income taxes in Hong
Kong. Significant judgement is required in determining the
provision for income taxes. There are transactions and
calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is
uncertain for the ordinary course of business. The Group
recognises liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based
on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. Where
the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the
amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will
impact the current and deferred income tax assets and
liabilities in the period in which such determination is made.
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(e)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Critical accounting estimates and
jUdgementS (Continued)

Income taxes (continueaq)

Deferred tax is recognised, using the liability method, on
temporary differences arising between the tax bases of
assets and liabilities and their carrying values in the financial
statements. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent it
is probable that future taxable profits will be available against
which the deductible temporary differences and the carry
forward of unused tax losses and tax credits can be utilised,
based on all available evidence. Recognition primarily involves
judgement regarding the future financial performance of the
particular legal entity or tax group. A variety of other factors
are also evaluated in considering whether there is convincing
evidence that it is probable that some portion or all of the
deferred tax assets will ultimately be realised, such as the
existence of taxable temporary differences, group relief, tax
planning strategies and the periods in which estimated tax
losses can be utilised.

The ultimate realisation of deferred tax assets recognised
for certain of the Group’s businesses depends principally
on these businesses maintaining profitability and generating
sufficient taxable profits to utilise the underlying unused tax
losses. It may be necessary for some or all of the deferred
tax assets recognised to be reduced and charged to the
consolidated profit or loss if there is a significant adverse
change in the projected performance and resulting projected
taxable profits of these businesses. Judgement is required to
determine key assumptions adopted in the taxable profit and
loss projections and changes to key assumptions used can
significantly affect these taxable profit and loss projections.

(e)
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X e

Segment information

The chief operating decision-maker has been identified as
the Executive Directors of the Company. The chief operating
decision-maker has determined the operating segments
based on the reports reviewed by the Executive Directors of
the Company, that are used to make strategic decisions and
assess performance.

The chief operating decision-maker has determined the
operating segments based on these reports. The Group is
organised into two business segments:

(@) paper printing segment (mainly derived from the brand
“e-print”); and

(b)  banner printing segment (mainly derived from the brand
“e-banner”).

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating
decision-maker.

Management assesses the performance of the operating
segments based on a measure of gross profit less selling
and distribution expenses and administrative expenses that
are allocated to each segment. Other information provided is
measured in a manner consistent with that in the consolidated
financial statements.

Sales between segments are carried out at arm’s length basis.

The subsidiary incorporated in the People’s Republic of China
(the “PRC”) provides I.T. support services within the Group.
The subsidiary incorporated in Malaysia generated immaterial
external revenue during the year. Since the Group mainly
operates in Hong Kong and the Group’s assets are mainly
located in Hong Kong, no geographical segment information
is presented.

Information relating to segment liabilities is not disclosed
as such information is not regularly reported to the chief
operating decision-maker.

Revenue for the year consists of the revenue from paper
printing and banner printing. The Group derives all revenue
from the sale of goods at a point in time.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Segment information continueq

During the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019, no external
customers contributed over 10% of the Group’s revenue.

The following tables present revenue and segment results
regarding the Group’s reportable segments for the years
ended 31 March 2020 and 2019 respectively.

BB ERRMT

D EBE R =)

BHE_ZT_ZTFR_ZF—NF=A
T+ BLFEE BEINLFRFE
BRBBAEERZMNI0% -

TR AEI RNEBRE DI
EE_EFER-_FE-NEF=

54
H
“t—HALEFEZRERDERE -

For the year ended 31 March 2020
BE-_Z-_Z5=A=1+-HL%EE

Segment revenue

7 RS

Paper

printing
HEER
HK$’000
TERr

Banner

printing  Eliminations Total

1 E BN il At

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
TET THERT TER

Revenue from external customers’ 78 B SN & 5 Uz 282,257 83,544 - 365,801
Inter-segment revenue o Ep R U R 378 107 (485) -
Total st 282,635 83,651 (485) 365,801
Segment results DEEE 4,897 993 5,890
Finance income MEWA 2,902
Finance costs BE AR (2,090)
Share of profits of associates FEAGHEE 2 A Al 249
Share of profits of joint ventures ~ [E{E & &> %35 5 1,648
Profit before income tax B BT 1S B A0 5 7 8,599
Income tax expense FEMAES (3,153)
Profit for the year FENia 5,446
Impairment losses on CREERERBE

financial assets 807 310 1,117
Depreciation of property, ME BERIETE

plant and equipment 10,381 3,220 13,601
Depreciation of right-of-use FREEERE

assets 15,485 5,653 21,138
Capital expenditure BEARY 11,566 5,438 17,004

—
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B HRRME

A

D EBE R =)

For the year ended 31 March 2019
HE_Z-NF=A=1+—HILFE

5 Segment information (continueq) 5

Paper Banner
printing printing Eliminations Total
48 X8 5 & £ E ) biiic] Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAEL BT BT FTAEL
Segment revenue 7 E s
Revenue from external customers’ & B 4ME & B Ui 314,143 94,580 - 408,723
Inter-segment revenue o EE Y = 292 46 (338) =
Total mast 314,435 94,626 (338) 408,723
Segment results DEEE 18,623 379 19,002
Finance income BMEKA 1,510
Finance costs MEKA (743)
Share of losses of associates [EE & N REE (2,268)
Share of profit of a joint venture ~ E{E A & %% F 2,494
Profit before income tax BR BT 15 50 A4 19,995
Income tax expense TS RiFX (2,862)
Profit for the year FWa 17,133
Impairment loss on a financial £ BB EREEE
asset 1,595 - 1,595
Depreciation of property, ME BBk
plant and equipment RiEHE 11,070 6,938 18,008
Capital expenditure EENGET 3,621 1,567 5,188

! Included revenue of approximately HK$10,813,000 (2019:
HK$12,677,000) are derived from shipping service.
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BB ERRMT

Segment information (continueq) D EBE B )
The following tables present segment assets as at 31 March TRABFIR _ZE_ZEFR_ZF
2020 and 2019 respectively.

BT AZt mopmAR.

Paper Banner
printing printing Total
A5 3 ED R & & EN R Bt
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHET FHET THET
As at 31 March 2020 RZZEZZEF=A=+—H 172,674 39,204 211,878
As at 31 March 2019 R_E-—NF=A=+—H 134,958 40,809 175,767

Segment assets for banner printing segment mainly
represented property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets
and goodwill amounting to approximately HK$21,143,000
(2019: HK$28,450,000), HK$7,090,000 (2019: Nil) and
HK$725,000 (2019: HK$725,000) respectively.

A reconciliation of segment assets to total assets is provided
as follows:

BENR SN SHEEES I
£ o R4 AE21,143,000%8 7T (=
T — 1L :28,450,000/8 L) »
7,090,000 T (ZE—NLF :T) K
725,000/ 7T ( =& — L4 : 725,000
BIL)NYE BE R&E FHE
BEAREE-

DHEERBEEHRMT

As at 31 March

R=A=+-—H
2020 2019
—E-ZHF —E-hNF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Segment assets DESEE 211,878 175,767
Investments in associates E’\\\H tENEIRE 2,407 1,158
Investment in joint ventures REETEMNTE 11,792 10,084
Cash and cash equivalents ReMReEEER 101,525 123,664

Total assets BEE

327,602 310,673
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B HRRME

6 Other income

6 HMWA

2020 2019

—E-EHF —E—RF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHT FHEIT

Sales of software M E 297 124

Scrap sales BRI E 1,552 1,444
Interest income from unlisted FEMELFFSZ

bond securities 2 WA 9 723

Others Hib 481 818

2,339 3,109

7 Other losses - net

Losses on disposals of property,

7 HitEE-FHE

2020
—g-%f

P

HK$’000
FHEx

HEWE BB REEEER

2019
—FT—NF
HK$’000
FET

plant and equipment (1,325) (1,350)
Exchange (losses)/gains — net PE X (E518) Wz —F 58 (267) 431
Fair value (losses)/gains on financial BRBEEAAEE

assets at fair value through profit PR SRMEEN

or loss DARrfEE(EE) e (6,922) 648
Others HAb 8 =

(8,506) ©71)
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AU ISR M T
Expenses by nature 8 EBEMEIEMMEX
Expenses included in cost of sales, seling and distribution BEEHEKA HERDHEAXZIA
expenses and administrative expenses are analysed as FITERTERNNBRI O T
follows:
2020 2019
—E-EHF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
TET FHET
Cost of materials MR AR 54,551 53,112
Auditor’s remuneration 1% SR BN &
— Audit services — B R 1,107 1,624
— Non-audit services — B R 277 242
Employee benefits expense (Note 9) EERFMAEZ (M) 84,226 86,616
Depreciation of property, M- WEREBITE

plant and equipment (Note 16) (FFzE16) 13,601 18,008
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEENE ([:E17)

(Note 17) 21,138 _
Outsourced customer support expenses M #IE P X #2515 21,608 20,648
Subcontracting fee SN B A 111,288 146,179
Operating lease rental of premises YEREREOLE

and equipment HEMS - 21,507
Operating lease for short-term and RPREBEEEZ

low value lease KEHE 4,345 -
Repairs and maintenance HIERIRE 3,177 3,763
Distribution costs 7 $H A A 15,910 17,841
Utility expenses ~ARBE ST 3,566 3,697
Write-off of trade receivables 155 2 2 FE W SRIA - 109
Recovery of trade receivables W E LRI MEERNE 5

previously written off JE W 31 (24) (24)
Others HAh 17,857 17,642
Total cost of sales, selling and HEKAK HERDH

distribution expenses and XA RITHRFAS 85

administrative expenses 352,627 390,964
Others mainly represent credit card handling charges, HMFrZREERAFRFEE ES R
advertising and promotion expenses and telecommunication REMIREMAS -
expenses.
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9 Employee benefits expense (including

9

BERAMAX (BEEER

—_

directors and senior management’s SREEESM)
emoluments)
2020
—E-EHF
HK$’000
FERT
Salaries and allowances e KERL 73,989 72,491
Bonuses and commissions A RAEE 6,004 9,096
Pension costs — defined contribution R KA — A TEHRETE
plans (Note a) (MfsFa) 3,981 3,798
Welfare and other benefits & R B ARz 252 1,231
84,226 86,616

Notes:

Pension costs — defined contribution plans

The Group has arranged for its employees to join the Mandatory
Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”), a defined contribution
scheme managed by an independent trustee. Under the MPF Scheme,
each of the Group’s subsidiaries (the employer) and its employees make
monthly contributions to the scheme generally at 5% of the employees’
earnings as defined under the Mandatory Provident Fund legislation.
The monthly contributions of each of the employer and the employees
are subject to a maximum contribution of HK$1,500 (2019: HK$1,500)
per month and thereafter contributions are voluntary. The Group has no
further obligation for post-retirement benefits beyond the contributions.

The Group is also required to contribute to an Employees Provident
Fund Scheme in Malaysia. Each of the employer and employee make
monthly contributions to the scheme generally at 13% and 11% of the
employees’ salaries respectively. The Group has no further obligation for
post-retirement benefits beyond the contributions.

As stipulated by rules and regulations in the PRC, the Group contributes
to state-administered retirement plans for employees in the PRC. The
employees contribute up to 8% (2019: 8%) of their basic salaries,
while the Group contributes approximately 13% to 14% (2019: 13%
to 14%) of such salaries. The Group has no further obligations for the
actual payment of pensions or post-retirements benefits beyond these
contributions. The state-administrated retirement plans are responsible
for the entire pension obligations payable to the retired employees.
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Employee benefits expense (including
directors and senior management’s
emoluments) (continuea)

Notes: (Continued)

(@

Pension costs — defined contribution plans (Continuea)

For the year ended 31 March 2020, the amount of the Group’s
employer contributions to defined contribution plans was approximately
HK$3,981,000 (2019: HK$3,798,000). There were forfeited contributions
to the MPF Scheme of approximately HK$725,000 (2019: HK$546,000)
which has been utilised for the year ended 31 March 2020. As at
31 March 2020, contribution payable to the MPF Scheme amounted to
approximately HK$436,000 (2019: HK$500,000).

Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the Group for
the year include one director (2019: two directors), whose emoluments
are reflected in the analysis shown in Note 36. The emoluments payable
to the remaining four (2019: three) individuals are as follows:

9

BB ERRMT

BEEEANHZ (BEEER
SREBEREEHHN) o

BisE: (&)

(@)

RRE R A — U R8I (&)

HE-_Z-_ZF=A=+—HLFE"
AEBREEIMATHRTEERD
3,981,000/ 7T ( — = — fL 4 : 3,798,000
BL) HEZT-_TF=RA=1+—H81
FEEHAMERBREREIHAA
#9725,000/ 7T (= Z — A4 : 546,000
B R_T_ZTF=A=+—HB &
M58 1E & 5T &I 3R 49436,0008 L (= F
— 1% : 500,000/ 7T ) °

hREsHAL

FAAEENEERSHFALEE -
REZ(ZTE-NE WMBESF)  %F
EENFME R 3625 MR
BR-BNBTHEAL(ZE-AF: =
B)HFBI T

2020 2019

—BIEF —E-NF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FBT FAT

Salaries and allowances e RER 4,119 3,138
Discretionary bonuses BB TEAT 1,553 1,452
Pension costs — defined contribution plans  EK & Ak A — F e 32l 72 54
5,744 4,644

The emoluments of these individuals fell within the following bands:

ZEALTOFHMNFATEHE :

Number of individuals

AE
2020
—B-EF
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7T 1,500,000 7T 2 1
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7T 52,000,000 7T | 2 2
4 3

No emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the directors or other
members of the five highest paid individuals as an inducement to join,
upon joining the Group, leave the Group or as compensation for loss of
office.

NS ERRSINE
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10

11

188

Finance income - net

Finance income

BEWA

10 BEWA—FHE

2020
B

2019
—E-NF
HK$'000
TET

_7_

HK$’000
FHEx

— Interest income from bank deposits —SRIT1F R F B UL A 1,464 1,000
— Interest income from loan receivables — — f& Yt & F A 2 UL A 1,215 510
- Unwinding of interests on refundable  —A[:REHESFEH

rental deposits FaFE 223 =
________________________________________________________________________________________ 2902 1510
Finance costs B & R AN
— Finance charges on obligations —FEARMEHEEET

under finance lease EENREER - (174)
— Interest expenses on lease liabilities —HEABMERX (1,544) =
— Interest expenses on borrowings —EEMERX (546) (569)
_______________________________________________________________________________________ (200 (743
Finance income — net BB WA —F5E 812 767

Subsidiaries

The following is a list of the subsidiaries at 31 March 2020:

Place of incorporation and

Name of company kind of legal entity

AR EREEERER
Directly held:
EERH:
Promise Network The British Virgin Islands (‘BVI"),
Holding Limited limited liability company
Promise Network RBERAHEE ([RERAHES])
Holding Limited BRETRH

eprint Digital Holding
Limited

eprint Digital Holding
Limited

The BVI, limited liability company

RERZRE BRAMAR

eprint Group Limited Annual Report 2019/20

Particulars of
issued share capital

BRITRAFE

2,887 ordinary shares of
US$1 each

2,887 B AR EE1ETTH)
LR

1 ordinary share of
US$1 each

1REREEIETH
ERER

ordinary shares

11 B QA

RZE_EF=ZA=+—8 KB
NEZBEBWT:

Proportion

of ordinary
shares held by
non-controlling
interest (%)
FERERKE
BB LA (%)

Proportion of

held by the
Group (%)
rEEEE
B LA (%)

Principal activities and
place of operation
FEXREDR

100% Investment holding in
Hong Kong

BAREER

100%

Investment holding in
Hong Kong
BEREER



11 Subsidiaries continuea)

Name of company

AL

Place of incorporation and

kind of legal entity

MR R EEERER

Directly held: (Continueqd)

BEERE: (8)
E-print Group Limited

E-print Group Limited

eprint Holdings Limited

eprint Holdings Limited

e-print Trading Limited

e-print Trading Limited

Indirectly held:
BESE:
Promise Network
Printing Limited
fRe& 4 - EDR
ARAF

Invoice Limited

BERORBERDA

Kimley Technology
(HK) Limited

RME(FE)
BRAF

The BVI, limited liability company

KERREE BREEAR

The BV, limited liability company

RERZEE BREEAR

The BVI, limited liability company

RERZBE BRELAR

Hong Kong, limited liability company

B BERELAR

Hong Kong, limited liability company

B BREALR

Hong Kong, limited liability company

BE AREEAR

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BB ERRMT

Particulars of
issued share capital

BERTRAFE

50,000 ordinary shares of
US$1 each

50,000 SR EEIETLH
gl

1 ordinary share of
US$1 each

1RBREEIETH
LBk

1 ordinary share of
US$1 each

1REREEIEZTH
Lk

2,886 ordinary shares of
HK$1 each

2,886 B REE1ETLH
TRk

1,000 ordinary shares of
HK$1 each

1,000 G REEETH
gl

2,775 ordinary shares of
HK$1 each

2,775 B AR EE1 B T H
LBk

11 B D7) =

Proportion of

ordinary shares

held by the

Group (%)

FEERE

BB L Bl(%)

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%
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Proportion

of ordinary
shares held by
non-controlling
interest (%)
FERERES
E BRI HI(%)

Principal activities and
place of operation
TEERFHR

EES R

Investment holding in
Hong Kong
BEREER

Investment holding in
Hong Kong
BEREER

Investment holding in
Hong Kong
BAREER

Provision of printing
services in Hong Kong

ERBREERIRY

Provision of printing
services in Hong Kong

ERBREERIRY

Investment holding in
Hong Kong
BEREER



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B HRRME

11 B A 8=

11 Subsidiaries continuea)

Proportion
of ordinary
shares held by
non-controlling

Proportion of
ordinary shares

Place of incorporation and Particulars of held by the Principal activities and

Name of company

AAER

kind of legal entity

AR Yo ey bkl

Indirectly held: (Continueq)

MERE: (2)

issued share capital

BRTRAFE

Group (%)
AEEBE
B LA (%)

interest (%)
FERERKS
BB LI (%)

place of operation
TEEBEHR

Dajinlai Technology The PRC, limited liability company 1,000,000 ordinary shares of 100% - Provision of L.T. services
(Shenzhen) Limited" RMB1 each in the PRC
RERBHR ORI HE BRELAR 1,000,000 B REE Ferh B fR & AL RHR AR
BRAR ARBATHERR %
Lucky Gainer Limited Hong Kong, limited liability company 2 ordinary shares of 100% - Provision of management
HK$1 each services in Hong Kong
HERBERAF B BRALAA RBREETETH EEERHERRS
LEk
Design Easy Limited Hong Kong, limited liability company 2,775 ordinary shares of 100% - Provision of printing
HK$1 each services in Hong Kong
&t (F%) B BRAEAR 2,775 BREEE T EEBREDRIRS
BRAA ERR
eprint Investments The BVI, limited liability company 1 ordinary share of 100% - Property investment in
Limited US$1 each Hong Kong
eprint Investments KBRS BEREMAR 1RERAEIETH BRNEREA
Limited LTk
eprint Property The BVI, limited liability company 1 ordinary share of 100% - Property investment in
Investments Limited US$1 each Hong Kong
eprint Property RBREAME BREARA 1R EREEIETH BERMERE
Investments Limited gl
e-banner Limited Hong Kong, limited liability company 40,133,000 ordinary shares of 51% 49%  Provision of digital printing

e-banner Limited

BE ARAMLAF
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HK$1 each
40,133,000 SR A 1E
IBTRLRR

services in Hong Kong
A BREHTRIR
%



Name of company

AL

11 Subsidiaries continuea)

Place of incorporation and
kind of legal entity

MR R EEERER

Indirectly held: (Continued)

BiERE: (£)

AppOne Esolution
Limited

AppOne Esolution
Limited

Digital Printing Centre

Limited
HBORHLERAE

Ebanner Solution
Sdn. Bhd.

Ebanner Solution
San. Bhd.

E-BOSS CO. LIMITED

ZRABRRA

eprint Japan Limited"

Eprint Japantf =t &3t

010 Limited

010 Limited

Hong Kong, limited liability company

B BREALR

Hong Kong, limited liability company

BE AREEAR

Malaysia, limited liability company

BRAEL AREEAR

Hong Kong, limited liability company

BE BREEAR

Japan, limited liability company

B EREEAR

Hong Kong, limited liability company

BE AREEAR

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BB ERRMT

Particulars of
issued share capital

BERTRAFE

10 ordinary shares of
HK$430,000 each

10RR & AR 116 430,0007% 7T
GoReg el

10,000 ordinary shares of
HK$1 each

10,0008 B R EE1E TTE)
LRk

400,000 ordinary shares of
RM1 each

400,000/ BRE 1L EH,
gl

1 ordinary shares of
HK$1 each

1REREEIETH
LRk

100 ordinary shares of
JPY25,000 each

1008 & R E1B25,0008 7T
B R

765 ordinary shares of
HK$1,000 each and
735 ordinary shares of
HK$534 each

7658 AR E1E1,000% 7T
ML B X735 B
EfE5347% ) @R

U English translation is for identification purpose only.

11 B D7) =

Proportion of
ordinary shares
held by the
Group (%)
AEERE
17 B b (%)

70%

100%

100%

100%

100%

51%
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Proportion

of ordinary
shares held by
non-controlling
interest (%)
FERERES
E BRI HI(%)

30%

49%

Principal activities and
place of operation
TEERFHR

EES R

Inactive

LirgE

Investment holding in
Hong Kong
BEREER

Provision of printing
services in Malaysia
EEREERERIR

%

Investment holding in
Hong Kong

BEREER

Dormant

BTEED

Trading of optical
products



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B HRRME

11 Subsidiaries continuea)

(@) Material non-controlling interests

The total non-controlling interests as at 31 March 2020 is
HK$6,154,000 (2019: HK$6,091,000), in which the whole
amount is attributed to e-banner Limited and its subsidiaries
(“e-banner Group”).

Summarised financial information on subsidiaries
with material non-controlling interests

Set out below is the summarised financial information for
the subsidiaries that have non-controlling interests that are

material to the Group.

Summarised statement of financial position

11

(a)

L= NGRS
BERFEERESR

R-ZE-_ZTF=F=+—H 3k
fi% #E 35 48 58 56,154,000 L ( = F
— 14 6,091,000/ 7T) © & 20 /B
MRe-banner Limited & E i B A 7
(Te-banner&E ] )

BEEAFEZRESZNNBELRZ

BB A 4R T A 4
ERERERNOHBAR L HBE
B

MBERRRBE

e-banner Group
e-bannerk &

2020 2019
—EEF —ZE-NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET

Current mE
Assets BE 13,711 16,666
Liabilities afE (11,901) (16,993)
Total current net assets/(liabilities) REBEE,/ (AfE)FHEEE 1,810 (327)
Non-current JERED
Assets BE 13,279 13,120
Liabilities af (2,200) (268)
Total non-current net assets ERBEEFHERT 11,079 12,852
Net assets EEFE 12,889 12,525
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BB ERRMT

11 B AR
(a) EXRFERER #)

11 Subsidiaries continuea)

(@) Material non-controlling interests (continuea)

Summarised statement of comprehensive income

FERBERBE

e-banner Group
e-bannerf

2020 2019

—E-EF —E-NF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FExT FHET

Revenue g 83,651 94,626
Profit before income tax B T 15 25 A1 5 ) 723 185
Income tax expense Frisfif = (179) (90)
Profit for the year F A5 A 544 95

12 Investments in associates 12 RBE RN KRE

2020 2019

—E-EHF —T-NF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FTET FAT

At beginning of year REH] 1,158 2,977

Addition (Note) RNE (K1) 1,000 600

Share of profits/(losses) of associates ~ fE{REEE A RLEF, (E18) 249 (2,268)

Currency translation differences N ER - (151)

At end of year RELRK 2,407 1,158
Note: Bt 5

On 8 May 2020, the Group subscribed 100 shares in e-post Limited,
representing 40% of the enlarged issued share capital, with consideration of

Eéf T-TFAANA  REELAE,000,000
RHEe-post LimitedZ 1008% B 15 (#HE R4E

HK$1,000,000, of which consideration of HK$800,000 was paid by cash and ﬁﬁe%ﬁﬂﬁmmo%) + H X fE800,000%
HK$200,000 remained outstanding and included in amount due to a related TL 2RI & 54 B 200,0005 TT i K 18 18 &
party.

FPARN BT FOR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B HRRME

12 Investments in associates (coninueq

Details of the Group’s investments in associates are as

follows:

Name of company

NAEH

Shenzhen Yi Yun Hu Wang

Tong Technology

Company Limited"2
FIEELEBRE

BRAF?

Sakura Japan Property
(Hong Kong) Limited'

B2 THE (FR)ERAR

e-post Limited'
e-post Limited’

Place of business/
country of
incorporation
$HnE/
MK ZER

PRC
i

Hong Kong

BE

Hong Kong
EiE

Effective interest
held as at 31 March
R=B=+-H
FEERER
2020
—%-%%

2019
—E-NF

30% 30%
20% 20%
40% =

12 RBZEQATNERE @

e

ERBERENREFBNT

Measurement
Principal activities method Carrying amount
TEEREH AEFE fREE
2020 2019
—g-%E —3NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
Tz THET
Provision of cloud Equity - 266
printing services B
RAEEENRI RS
Provision of real estate  Equity 620 892
agency services B
REEHERIERSE
Provision of catering Equity 1,787 -
services R

RECE AR

i The financial statements of these companies are not audited by !
PricewaterhouseCoopers.

e English translation is for identification purpose only.

(@) Commitments in respect of associates

The Group has commitment to investing in one of its
associates, Shenzhen Yi Yun Hu Wang Tong Technology

2

ZERE Z SR IR A R RUKE
BRI EBMEZ-

X EBERBER

(a) B&RAMARE

AEBMEARFEME —RHEE QA
RIBEERBHUEARQAR

Company Limited of approximately HK$4,100,000 (2019:

HK$4,385,000).

There are no contingent liabilities relating to the Group’s
interest in the associates.
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4,385,000/ 7T ) °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Xt ek
13 Investment in joint ventures 13 REELENRE
2020 2019
—EB-EF —ET-hnF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FE T TATT
At beginning of year T 4] 10,084 8,021
Addition (Note) RNE (M) 1,000 =
Share of profits of joint ventures JE1E & & 1,648 2,494
Currency translation differences bE N ZE (940) (431)
At end of year RER 11,792 10,084
Note: B2
On 17 March 2020, the Group subscribed 20,000 shares in Top Success RZTEZZTF=A++tH £A5H l«Afﬁﬁfﬂ“
Investment Group Limited, representing 50% of the enlarged issued share 1,000, 000/%% AREIL T REREERARD
capital, with a cash consideration of HK$1,000,000. 220,000% f% 15 m“#ﬁﬁéaﬁﬁh$m
50% o
Details of the Group’s joint ventures are as follows: AEBZEELEFBOT:

Place of business/

country of Percentage of Measurement
Name of company incorporation ownership interest Principal activities method Carrying amount
B/
AR BB AR LB R BEEDNL TEXKEH HERAE REE
2020 2019 2020 2019
“BECEf ZZ-NF ZEZEf T NF
HK$’000 HK$ (000
TR
e-print Solutions Sdn. Bhd.  Malaysia 30% 30%  Provision of printing Equity 10,834 10,084
e-print Solutions Sdn. Bhd. R F 5z services R
REENRIRTS
Top Success Investment BVI 50% - Provision of finance Equity 958 -
Group Limited EEETHES leasing of yacht B
I REREERER AR REEEREEE
(@) Commitments in respect of joint ventures (a)

The Group has no commitments relating to its joint ventures.

There are no contingent liabilities relating to the Group’s
interest in joint ventures.
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& R iE R M e
13 Investment in joint ventures continued) 13 REELENERE
(b) Summarised financial information of material (b) EESE XN BERNME
joint venture
Set out below is the summarised financial information for T X &5l e-print Solutions Sdn. Bhd
e-print Solutions Sdn. Bhd and its subsidiaries (“e-print X E W& A ([e-print Solutions |)
Solutions”) which is accounted for using the equity method. W EERBE WA RAEAR-
Summarised statement of financial position BHERRREE
e-print Solutions
2020 2019
—E-EHF —T-NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Current assets mENEE
Cash and cash equivalents RekReFEEH 8,456 8,879
Other current assets (excluding cash HthneEE (TeERS
and cash equivalents) MEeEEIER) 6,579 6,346
Totalcurrentassets RBAE®®E 15,035 15225
Current liabilities mENAE
Financial liabilities cRBEGE(TBREES
(excluding trade payables) FETRE) (5,384) (9,635)
Other current liabilities HtRead (BEES
(including trade payables) FET ) (12,299) (15,195)
Total current lisbilities n®BAGEEE ] (17,683) | (24,830)
Totalnon-currentassets  FRBAEE® 70526 77217
Non-current liabilities FEmBEE
Financial liabilities SREE (28,979) (30,926)
Other liabilities Hiv B &\ (2,957) (3,256)
Total non-current liabllities  _ GFRBAGEE ] (31,936) | (34,182)
Net assets BEFRE 35,942 33,430
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BB ERRMT

13 REBLENKRE w

13 Investment in joint ventures (continueq

(b) Summarised financial information of material (b) EECELENKENME »
joint venture (continueqd)
Summarised statement of comprehensive income REKWBERBE

e-print Solutions

2020 2019

—E-EF —E—NF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FTET FHT

Revenue Wz 93,444 95,273
Depreciation e (5,484) (4,439)
Finance cost A& P A (1,852) (2,156)
Profit before income tax BrETIS T AT = 7,175 8,323
Income tax expense FriS R = (1,542) ©)
Profit for the year F A5 A 5,633 8,314

NEERRBRE 2 DENT B RE
W25 B BURE - I I AN B AT (S &
B URCRAEERSLELEZH
SRR ERFLAER-

The information above reflects the amounts presented in
the financial statements of the joint venture and not for the
Group’s share of those amounts, adjusted for differences in
accounting policies between the Group and the joint venture.

Reconciliation of summarised financial information B ERBIENER
Reconciliation of the summarised financial information MHBERBENHEZYER —H
presented to the carrying amount of its interest in a joint BETENERREE-

venture.

Summarised financial information BHEERSE

e-print Solutions

2020 2019
—E-%F —T-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHETT
Opening net assets FYEEFTE 33,430 26,540
Profit for the year F A5 A 5,633 8,314
Currency translation differences N E8 (3,121) (1,424)
\

Closing net assets FREEFHE 35,942 33,430
Interest in joint venture RE&ETENER 30% 30%
Share of net assets JEIEEEFR 10,783 \ 10,029
Goodwill BES 51 55
Carrying amount FREE

10,834 10,084
H N ) v
wJ//
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B HRRME

14 Income tax expense

14 FISHAX

2020 2019
—E-EF —E-hAF
HK$’000 HK$’000
TET FHEIT

Current income tax EHATS R
- Hong Kong profits tax —BBNER 3,550 3,887
- PRC corporate income tax —H B EREH 35 371
Over-provision in prior years BT FEHRERE (58) 618)
3,527 3,640
Deferred income tax (Note 30) EFEFTS R (FFE30) (374) (778)
Income tax expense Frigdif 3,153 2,862

Subsidiaries incorporated in Hong Kong are subject to
Hong Kong profits tax at a rate of 8.25% on the estimated
assessable profit up to approximately HK$2,000,000 and
16.5% on any part of the estimated assessable profit
over approximately HK$2,000,000 for the year. Subsidiary
incorporated in the PRC is subject to PRC corporate income
tax based on the statutory income tax rate of 25% for the year
(2019: 25%) as determined in accordance with the relevant
PRC income tax rules and regulations. The Company has not
been subject to any taxation in the Cayman Islands as it does
not have any assessable profit since its incorporation.
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REBTMERIOK B LQGF AR
EFEHMFAERBENTHB LY
2,000,0007% 7T B & 9 1%8.25% K &1
R % AT {A] R 1B 92,000,000 JT & 5B
DIE16.5%M TR EBMBEBFIFH -
A B AR LAY M B A R B IR AR
BHEEBTBRASHRZERRERET
MEEEEMBMHE2% (ZF
—NF :25%) MNP B EMER -
R B AR A5 A S LA SR BE & T
MR N WEBAHNEM
MEHSRHIE-



14 Income tax expense (continueq)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BB ERRMT

14 FIBFHBEX

The taxation on the Group’s profit before income tax
differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using
the weighted average tax rate applicable to profits of the
consolidated entities in the respective jurisdictions as follows:

L A 5% [ 19 BR BT 1S 3% A s A1) 1 28 1
A Y 75 TR B BR A OB AR R i 70 4E R )
ERE RS OF B 88 H)E A 80 hnaE
BREAENEREBAEMTR
ABBERIT:

2020 2019
—E-EHF ZE-NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FHET
Profit before income tax bR ET1S B AT R A 8,599 19,995
Tax calculated at a weighted average BMEFAHE16%TE
tax rate of 16% (2019: 16%) HMEB(ZE—NF:16%) 1,395 3,100
Tax effects of: NTEENHBELE:
— Share of (profit)/loss of associates — LS QR
CaR) /&' (@1) 178
— Share of profit of joint ventures —EiEEERERAN (272) (359)
— Income not subject to tax —BEHBAA (839) (708)
— Expenses not deductible for — AR R 2
tax purposes 2,067 987
— Tax losses and other temporary — I R SRIE RE FT 1S B AY
differences for which no deferred MIEBELEMERE
income tax was recognised =% 901 282
— Over-provision in prior years —BAFEBERE (58) 618)
3,153 2,862

Note:

The Group was subject to tax in different tax jurisdictions which are mainly
Hong Kong, the PRC, Malaysia and Australia with tax rate ranged from 16.5%
to 28.5%. The increase in the weighted average tax rate is due to the change
of the allocation of tax assessable profit in different locations.

B3

AEEERTRABEAZLZER(EEAEH -
FE-BREGRBAFE)HH HENT
16.5%%28.5% ° MIAEFI9 R KGNy R TR
[ R AR S R B D AL BT ER -
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B HRRME

15 Earnings per share

(a) Basic

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit
attributable to equity holders of the Company by the weighted
average number of ordinary shares in issue for the years
ended 31 March 2020 and 2019.

15

(a)

FREF
B

ERERABFTIBBEARRERE
EABLBEFNGBABE T _TF
F_E-—NF=ZA=Z+—HLEFE
ERTEBRRNEFLSEGE -

Profit attributable to equity holders of RARERTFB ARG

the Company (HK$’000) wmA (FET) 5,688 17,353
Weighted average number of ordinary & %17 % 18 % hni&

shares in issue (thousands) T (FR%) 550,000 550,000
Basic earnings per share (HK cents) FREXRREF GBL) 1.03 3.16

(b) Diluted

Diluted earnings per share is the same as the basic earnings
per share for the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019 as
there were no potential dilutive ordinary shares outstanding
during the years.
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BB ERRMT

16 Property, plant and equipment 16 M1¥ - -BERZE
Computer,
Leasehold Plant and  furniture and Motor
Buildings improvements machinery equipmﬂgnt vehicles
% .
BE HEWEZRE REREW RERZE RE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000
AT TET AT FAT AT
At 1 April 2018 R-ZT-N\&F
‘MA-A
Cost 5% . 67,850 14,929 117,787 16,989 1,771 219,326
Accumulated depreciation ZimE (3,134) (10,480) (56,426) (12,231) (616) (82,887)
Accumulated impairment ZiPRE - - (763) () = (768)
Net book amount REFE 64,716 4,449 60,598 4,753 1,155 135,671
Year ended 31 March 2019 HEC %J—rﬁﬁ
=A=+-A
HEE
Opening net book amount FOREFE 64,716 4,449 60,598 4,753 1,155 135,671
Additions NE - 202 3,706 987 293 5,188
Disposals HE - (38) (1,398) (19) 17 (1,472)
Depreciation (Note 8) & (Fiz8) 2,213 (1,579) (11,671) 2,141) (404) (18,008)
Currency translation differences  [& 3, = & - (40) (60) (65) () (166)
Closing net book amount FREEEE 62,503 2,994 51,175 3,515 1,026 121,213
At 31 March 2019 —T— ‘Ij}i
e
Cost A 67,850 14,795 117,247 17,641 2,022 219,555
Accumulated depreciation Z5HE (5,347) (11,801) (65,350) (14,122) (996) (97,616)
Accumulated impairment ZiRE - - (722) (4) = (726)
Net book amount FEFE 62,503 2,994 51,175 EHaAE) 1,026 121,213
Year ended 31 March 2020 Eﬂzi_ T_FF
ZA=+-H
Mﬁfﬁ 3
Opening net book amount 2 E\Eﬁr‘#@ 62,503 2,994 51,175 3,515 1,026 121,213
Changes in accounting policies & = B % &
(Note 2.2) (BizE2. 2) - - (4,209) - (239) (4,448)
Restated opening net book ERENRRTE
amount 62,503 2,994 46,966 3,515 787 116,765
Additions ANE = 303 2,410 4,184 - 6,897
Disposals s % ) - 7 (1,608) (19 - (1,634)
Depreciation (Note 8) & (MFs) (2,213 (1,389) (7,876) (1,777) (346) (13,601)
Currency translation differences [ 3 % = (1) ) (38) - (62)
Closing net book amount FREMEFE 60,290 1,880 39,889 5,865 441 108,365
At 31 March 2020 it e
=A=+-H
Cost A 67,850 14,923 99,987 21,329 1,727 205,816
Accumulated depreciation ZithE (7,560) (13,043) (69,423 (15,460 (1,286) (96,772)
Accumulated impairment ZitRE - - (675). (4) - 679)
Net book amount FEFE 60,290 1,880 39,889 \ 5,86>\ 441 108,365
Note:

As at 31 March 2020, buildings with the carrying amounts of approximately
HK$60,290,000 (2019: HK$62,503,000) were pledged to banks to secure
bank borrowings of approximately HK$19,949,000 (2019: HK$20,923,000)
(Note 29).
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B HRRME

16 Property, plant and equipment continueq)

Depreciation of the Group’s property, plant and equipment has
been charged to the consolidated profit and loss as follows:

16 V¥ BEKRRXRE =

AEENYME BERRBINE
ERaffBERPHR ERBEBERW
T

2020 2019

et 3 —ZE-NF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FHET

Cost of sales $HE AR 8,414 12,552
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHEAX 2,712 2,822
Administrative expenses TR 2,475 2,634
13,601 18,008

As at 31 March 2019, property, plant and equipment includes
the following amounts where the Group is a lessee under
finance leases (Note 17):

R-E-NF=A=+—8 W%
BELRRBEFEATHAEERE
MEMEFESAHEAZERE (M

17) =
2019
—ET-NF
HK$’000
FHET
Cost — capitalised finance leases RAR—BREEHRE 14,338
Accumulated depreciation REHINE (9,890)
Net book amount BREFE 4,448

From 1 April 2019, these are grouped as part of right-of-use
assets. Refer to Note 2.2 for details about the changes in
accounting policy.
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BB ERRMT

17 Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities 17 FAEEEREEESERE

(a) Balances recognised in the consolidated (a) REHBHMRRERBERE 28
statement of financial position

Right-of-use assets ERAEEE

Machinery and
Machinery motor vehicle
and under finance Stores and
equipment lease premises Total

MERRRTH
BERRE  BERRE EERUR At
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THET THET TET

Balance at 1 April 2019 RZZ-NFNA-BZ&EH - - - -
Changes in accounting SHBRED (Fi2.2)

policies (Note 2.2) 2,893 4,448 41,841 49,182
Restated balance RZE-NENA—H

at 1 April 2019 BB 2,893 4,448 41,841 49,182
Additions RE - 2,804 7,303 10,107
Depreciation (Note 8) & (FEs) (631) (2,946) (17,561) (21,138)

Balance at 31 March 2020 W-ZE-EF=A=+—HZ

33 2,262 4,306 31,583 38,151

Lease liabilities HEAE
2020 2019
—E_EHF —ZE-NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHE T TA7T
Current portion mEE D 20,200 =
Non-current portion IEmENEL 17,004 -
37,204 -
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B HRRME

17 Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities

(b)

(c)

(d)

204

(Continued)

Amounts recognised in the consolidated income
statement

Depreciation of right-of-use assets

Interest expenses on lease liabilities

Unwinding of interest on refundable rental
deposit

Operating lease rental for short-term and
low value leases

EREEETE
HEAEBEZMEMAX
REHEHENFAFE

R MMEEEREZ

17 FRAREERHEHEE R«

(b) REHRBERPERHNIR

2020
et

HK$’000
FEx

(21,138)
(1,544)

223

KrEMHEde

The total cash outflow of leases for the year ended 31 March
2020 was approximately HK$20,634,000.

Depreciation of HK$13,927,000 has been charged in ‘cost of
sales’, HK$5,630,000 in ‘selling and distribution expenses’,
HK$1,581,000 in ‘administrative expenses’ respectively during
the year ended 31 March 2020.

The Group’s leasing activities and how these are
accounted for

The Group leases various premises, shops, machineries, and
office equipments. Rental contracts are typically made for
fixed periods of 1 to 5 years, but may have extension options
as described in (d) below.

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and
contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. The
lease agreements do not impose any covenants other than
the security interests in the leased assets that are held by
the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as security for
borrowing purposes.

Extension options

Extension options are included in a number of leases across
the Group. These terms are used to maximize operational
flexibility in terms of managing contracts. The majority of
extension options held are exercisable only by the Group
and not by the respective lessor. Extension options are only
included in the lease term if the lease is reasonably certain to
be extended.
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18 Intangible assets

BT RRMITE

BEEE

Goodwill
R
HK$’000
FAT
At 1 April 2018 and R-E2E-N\FEA—RA —ZF—h#F
31 March 2019 and 31 March 2020 =A=+—-HERZZEZZEH=H=+—H
Net book amount REFE 725
Impairment test for goodwill BERENR

Management reviews the business performance of the
Group based on the products and services the respective
business provide. Goodwill is monitored by management
at the operating segment level. The Group’s goodwill was
arisen from the acquisition of additional 11% equity interests
in e-banner Limited on 1 April 2015 and it is allocated to the
banner printing operating segment.

Management reviews annually whether the carrying amount of
a CGU is higher than the recoverable amount which results in
impairment of goodwill. The recoverable amount of a CGU is
determined based on value-in-use calculation. The calculation
use pre-tax cash flow projections based on financial budget
approved by management covering a five-year period with
the first year negative growth rate of 31% (2019: positive
growth rate of 5%), the second year growth rate of 43% and
forecasted average revenue growth rate for third to fifth year
at 5% (2019: 5%). Gross profit margin are assumed to be
34% for the forecast period. Cash flows beyond the five-year
period are extrapolated using the estimated growth rate of 5%
and pre-tax discount rate of 13%.

Management determined the revenue growth rate based on
past performance and expectations on market and operational
development. The discount rate applied by the Group is rate
that reflect current market assessment of the time value of
money and the risk specific to the CGU.

Impairment assessment was performed on the goodwill
and the recoverable amount of the CGU in which goodwill
has been allocated is higher than the carrying amount as at
31 March 2020. As a result, no impairment loss was charged
for the year ended 31 March 2020.

EREANSEBREZE MM
%%&Mﬁ’il%ﬁ%%%o%‘ﬁﬁt
BEEE Mo EmB - AEEHER
—T— ﬁimﬂ—lﬂﬁ%ﬁebanner
LimitedBE SN 1% 2 (X #E & 15 I &

Be =B EER R D26 -

EEEEFRINEeELESEMERER
BEefdmRa e mEFErnE
BE-ReEELABMNMTKREEE
EERAEBEAEEE % EHA

%ﬁé%ﬁ@?ﬁt)&ﬂ@‘)@%ﬂiﬂﬁf‘aﬂ@
HHBEEZEFIINNEEEEXR (=
E—NF EEERSR) -F_F
AN RERTBAE=FEFH
F5% (ZFE—NF 5% FH K=
BEXELHNBRABRESRETEN-
RIERBAEBREENEB34% 3%
AFEHBEAzZENRERERBE
BRER5% R ATALIRE K13%HH -

EREEERNTMBEREEER A
¥EMNPEETURERE - AE
BEAZARERREEKHEE
ZMAL_Li%EﬂE&EEﬁ:XﬁiﬁLL%
T &

BEUEFENRENE KT
TE=A=+—HE2% @Eﬁéﬁzfﬁ
EEDD{\ZT@L&%EEHEAEEE
“ﬁﬁ?ﬂﬁ%ﬂ@%?ﬁ"
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B HRRME

19 REHETHEMTA

19 Financial instruments by category

Assets at
Unlisted fair value
Loans and bond through
receivables securities profit or loss Total
BEXR ¥tm RAOAEE
P& Wt 7R 18 BHESE JIRZEE Mt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
Assets BE
As at 31 March 2020 RZE-ZF
=A=+—H
Trade and other receivables B 5 REMEW
(excluding prepayments) FIE (T EE
HERKIE) 8,824 - - 8,824
Amounts due from related P B E N B FRIR
companies 159 - - 159
Other financial assets at BB HEK AR 2
amortised cost HuemEE 13,798 - - 13,798
Financial assets at fair value FREREARE
through profit or loss EIIERZ
SREE - - 25,469 25,469
Cash and cash equivalents RekBe%E
1HE 101,525 - - 101,525
124,306 - 25,469 149,775
Assets BE
As at 31 March 2019 RZZE—NF
=A=+—H
Trade and other receivables B 5 RE M ERK
(excluding prepayments) KB (TBE
TEfRTRIE) 14,317 - . 14,317
Amounts due from related JE YL A3 A B R E
companies 2,708 - - 2,708
Other financial assets at R A AN D) BR
amortised cost ZEMEREE 9,019 1,000 = 10,019
Financial assets at fair value FRBEEAR
through profit or loss BEMEZ
SREE = - 9,545 9,545
Cash and cash equivalents RekReEE
BE 123,664 - - 123,664
149,708 1,000 9,545 160,253
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B P SRR M R
19 Financial instruments by category conines 19 REBIE T HWEBM T A«
Financial
liabilities at Lease
amortised cost liabilities
R 8 AR A 5 BR
ZEMERE HESE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FATT
Liabilities BfE
As at 31 March 2020 R-ZE-TF=A=+—H
Amounts due to related parties e B iE 7 5k I8 201 - 201
Amounts due to directors R EEHIEA 165 - 165
Borrowings (excluding lease liabilities) & & (FREREaHE) 21,157 - 21,157

Trade and other payables (excluding & 5 K H 4 & (- 708
advanced receipts from customers, (TEEBUREFFHIA

contract liabilities and accrued EHEBERENRS)
expenses) 6,659 - 6,659
Lease liabilities HEBRE - 37,204 37,204
28,182 37,204 65,386
As at 31 March 2019 RZE-NF=ZA=1+—H
Amounts due to related parties FE B 7 3R 34 - 34
Amounts due to directors ENEERIA 200 - 200
Borrowings (excluding finance lease £ & (81
liabilities) MEMERRE) 25,943 - 25,943
Obligations under finance leases MEHEETHARME 2,136 - 2,136
Trade and other payables (excluding & 5 K H 1 & (- 708
contract liabilities, deferred income ~ (TNEEAHEE -
and accrued expenses) BEEWA R BT 10,285 - 10,285
38,598 - 38,598
20 Inventories 20 7E&
2020 2019
—E-EHF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx FHET
Raw materials Rk 6,191 4,755
Work-in-progress £ & m 216 232
Finished goods BIRY oh 397 1,045
\
6,804 6,032

The cost of materials recognised as an expense and included
in ‘cost of sales’ amounted to approximately HK$54,551,000
for the year ended 31 March 2020 (2019: HK$53,112,000).

?

FLENE3,112,00058 78 )
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B OISR R MY

21 Trade receivables 21 ESEWFEE
2020 2019
—EC-EF —T-NEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET T T
Trade receivables =0 1 & 4,493 6,495
Less: loss allowance B E R RS (325) (15)
Trade receivables — net 5 EWGIE —F5E 4,168 6,480

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying
amounts of trade receivables approximate their fair values.

Payment terms granted to customers are mainly cash on
delivery and on credit. The average credit period ranges from
30 days to 60 days. The ageing analysis of the gross trade
receivables based on invoice date is as follows:

ARABEERRE D RKFIANK
HEEEAAEERES -

AEPRENNREREZ/EER
MR REE-FHEEHNFI0A
Z60H - REZHHEONESE
WHRIAREBREI>TOT

2020 2019

—g-®F —T-n%

HK$’000 HK$’000

FE FHT

0 — 30 days 0Z30H 1,821 3,906
31 - 60 days 31E60H 560 1,155
Over 60 days #8160 A 2,112 1,434
4,493 6,495

The maximum exposures of the Group to credit risk are the
carrying value of trade receivables mentioned above.

The carrying amounts of trade receivables of the Group are
mainly denominated in Hong Kong dollars.

The Group does not hold any collateral as security for trade
receivables.
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22

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Trade receivables (continueq)

Movements on the provision for impairment of trade
receivables are as follows:

BB ERRMT

B 5 EWRE
B REINZIERERENESHINT

21

2020
—g-%s

HK$’000

R
BB BRI

At beginning of the year
Increase in loss allowance

FERT

15 15
310 S

At end of the year RER

325 15

The creation and release of provision for impaired receivables
have been included in ‘impairment losses on financial assets’
in the consolidated profit and loss. Amounts charged to the
allowance account are generally written off, when there is no
expectation of recovering additional cash.

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to
measuring expected credit losses which uses a lifetime
expected loss allowance for all trade receivables. The Group’s
credit risk control is disclosed in Note 3.

Deposits, prepayments and other
receivables

UK B REREFENERRERD
AFARHEBREANIEMEERE
BEl -BEROMEE -—REEY
AN R (Bl FE SN IR B S o

AEBERBEBMBREERFIR
BT A ERBEEER ”A
FESRUWFEFA2MERER
B NEEEE R R R ES

HE -
22 B& FANRERHEMEK
MIE

2020 2019
—E-EHF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FHET
Deposits and prepayments Ee RIERMRIAE 11,763 15,414
Other receivables H h & W kI8 342 752
Interest receivables from unlisted IE ETESBHELFE
bond securities - 566
12,105 16,732
Less: non-current portion B IERBE D
Deposits and prepayments e KA RIE (2,921) (6,093)
Deposits, prepayments and Be FAREREA
other receivables — current portion W IE - RE D 9,184 10,639
—‘-/
_/

2019/20% % eprint EEERAT 209



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

22

23

210

B HRRME

Deposits, prepayments and other
receivables continueq)

Amount mainly represents rental deposits, and prepayments
for utility, insurance expenses and sub-contracting fee.

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying
amounts of other receivables and prepayments approximate
their fair values.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s deposits, prepayments

and other receivables are mainly denominated in Hong Kong
dollars.

Other financial assets at amortised cost

22

23

Be RAAMEREMGER

I

ZeRIEBEHERE 2RARK
BNFE RERAXRIBER-

ARREERL  HAMERREAR
BENRENREEEE R AEEMR
%0

AEBENRE BANRAREME
WHRIERREEETZAB T E.

BREBEKAT R EME
MEE

2020 2019

=EB-%F —TNF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FH T FET

Unlisted bond securities FELETESFES - 1,000
Loan and interest receivables R E R B 16,200 10,614
16,200 11,614

Less: loss allowance B R R (2,402) (1,595)
13,798 10,019

Less: current portion BB E D (12,965) (8,919)
Non-current portion EmENE 833 1,100

On 27 September 2019, the Group entered into a loan
arrangement with a third party. The principal amount of the
loan amounted to approximately HK$15,000,000, with interest
bearing at 9% per annum.

On 13 March 2019 and 7 May 2019, the Group entered into
a 4-year loan agreement with another third party respectively.
The principal amount of the loan amounted to approximately
HK$1,200,000, with interest bearing at 5% per annum.
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Other financial assets at amortised cost
(Continued)

Management considered that the loans to the third parties
are low risk, and therefore the impairment provision is
determined at 12 months expected credit losses. Applying the
expected credit risk model resulted in the recognition of a loss
allowance of HK$2,402,000 as at 31 March 2020 for the loan
and interest receivables.

Both the unlisted bond securities and loan and interest
receivables are dominated in Hong Kong dollar.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is
the carrying value of the unlisted bond securities and loan and
interest receivables.

Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss

BT RRMITE

23 REBHERAVRZHME
MEE @

EREERARNE=ZFTRENERB
KRR - B R E & Ty iR1218 B
EHEEEREBEEET R_ZE_2F
—A=+—H KAEBHEEESE
A FRERERE R E EE R
#2,402,0005# Tt °

FETEFBLSRERER R E
BB TTEHE

RBEERAZEAEERARASIFLD
BHEEFMERERRMNENKE
B

BERERER
ZERMEE

24 NREEY R

2020 2019

—F-FF —T-hF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FAT

Fair value of mutual fund investments LEAESKRENLARER 25,182 4,145
Fair value of convertible bond AMBRESNAREE 160 -
Listed equity investments LETRAIRE 127 5,400
25,469 9,545

The listed equity investments represent shares listed on the
Stock Exchange.

The fair values of the listed equity investments and mutual
fund investments are based on quoted prices in active
markets and are classified within level 1 of the fair value
hierarchy.

On 6 March 2020, the issuer of the unlisted bond security,
National Arts Entertainment and Culture Group Ltd (“National
Arts”), revised creditor’'s scheme and converted into a
convertible bond. The instrument is unsecured with a maturity
term of five years and carries interest at 1% per annum.

The fair value of the convertible bond is based on binomial
model and is classified within level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.

EABRARERERB XM LT

o

FTRAKREREEESREND
ABEDRERERET SN RE
BARERAABEEEANSE —
A o

R-ZEBEIEF=ZANB RKEWE
FBHBITABBRE(LEER
I/ E_F“ %J )jlféﬁﬂféfié/\?r%ﬂjﬁ

%*tmf
2
)Si%z:z *'

ABRBREFH AR BEER AN
1‘%’*” WHERERAABERERD
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B HRRME

24 Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss (Continued)

Financial asset at fair value through profit or loss is presented
within investing activities in the consolidated statement of
cash flows.

Changes in fair value of financial asset at fair value through
profit or loss are recorded in ‘other losses — net’ in the
consolidated profit and loss (Note 7).

25 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents represents cash and short-term
bank deposits with an original maturity of three months or

24E@E§Eﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁ
ZEMEE
EREBETZEAABAEVNEZSHE
ERINREAHREESRERZ2KREE
IR
BREBZEAABEIEZSHBE
ENARBEEDHHFNAHEBRIE
fhEsE —FEE ] (FIEE7) -

RERhBEELEEEE

HekRieFERBERIHAS
“EARKNAZRE REHRITHF

25

less. Ko

2020

—ECEHF

HK$’000

FHET
Cash at banks and on hand RITE e RFHRIEAS 65,407 71,492
Short-term bank deposits RHRITER 36,118 52,172
Cash and cash equivalents RekReFEEH 101,525 123,664

Cash at banks earn interest at floating rates based on daily
bank deposits rate.

Cash at banks and on hand are amounts of approximately
HK$3,883,000 or RMB3,552,000 (2019: HK$4,068,000 or
RMB3,479,000) denominated in Renminbi. The conversion of
Renminbi denominated balances into foreign currencies and
the remittance of such foreign currencies denominated bank
balances and cash out of PRC are subject to the relevant
rules and regulations of foreign exchange control promulgated
by the PRC government.

The carrying amounts of the cash and cash equivalents are
denominated in the following currencies:

RITHESREBEE B RITHERMER
FEA R REUA B -

17 & FEE IR £ 493,883,000/ 7T 5%
AR#3 552,000 (& — h&F:
4,068,000/ T sk A R #3,479,000
TC)TVAAREEE LiE AR
ENERABKINE KA ZEINE
AEMERTESRRREEL PR
¥9 78 8 <F *b B BT 28 46 /9 48 B8 SN BB
EHIR B K ER -

RekReFEBEBNEREEBENAT
FIEMEE:

2020

—E_EHF

HK$’000

FH T
HK$ BT 60,559 110,131
Renminbi AR 3,883 4,068
Uss$ =TT 36,298 8,678
Others Htb 785 787
Cash and cash equivalents RekReFEEH 101,525 123,664
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26 Share capital and share premium

27

Authorised capital - ordinary shares of

EERA-R-_Z-N\FEWA—-B"

=X

26 ARG REE

Nominal value

Number of
shares

BRH#A
(thousands)

(FA)

of ordinary

shares

LEREE

HK$'000
T

V5 R Y

Share
premium
R4 E

HK$'000

TR

HK$0.01 each —Z-hE=R=1+—-8H"
At 1 April 2018, 31 March 2019, “E-NENA-BRK
1 April 2019 and 31 March 2020 —2-T¥=R=1+—H
SREECOIETHL AR 10,000,000 100,000 -
Issued and fully paid: BEIRER:
At 1 April 2018, 31 March 2019, RZZ—-\EMA—AB"
1 April 2019 and 31 March 2020 “E-NF=ZA=+—A~:
“ZE-NEMA-BR
i = 550,000 5,500 132,921
Other reserves 27 HitfEE

Capital
reserve

CENTY

HK$'000
TEL

Other
reserve
Hit A
HK$'000
THBT

Exchange
reserve
HNERE
HK$'000
TET

Retained
earnings
REBF
HK$'000
FHT

Total
@zt
HK$'000
FTAET

As 1 April 2018 RZZE—-/\5MA—A 6,593 1) (862) 81,158 86,868
Profit for the year FREF - - - 17,353 17,353
Currency translation ERESE

differences
- Group -K& - - (433) - (433)
- Joint venture, and associates — & & ¥ KA AT - - (582) - (582)
Dividends (Note 31) BB (KiE31) - - - (13,200) (13,200)
At 31 March 2019 RZE-NE

=ZRA=+—H 6,593 (21) (1,877) 85,311 90,006

Profit for the year FERaF - - - 5,688 5,688
Release of exchange reserve to [ B — & i B A 5] /8

profit and loss upon closure of  # B H]\E (Ef =1 %%

a subsidiary - - (326) 326 -
Currency translation EREE

differences
- Group -KEE - - (524) - (524)
- Joint ventures, and associates — A& & ¥ KE 4 A 7 - - (940) - (940)
Dividends (Note 31) BB (KiE31) - - - (8,800) (8,800)
At 31 March 2020 R_Z_ZTF

=ZA=+—H 6,593 (21) (3,667) 82,525 85,430
2019/20%F %
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B HRRME

28 Trade payables, accruals and other 28 ESENRE EFER
payables H {th FE 3+ K18
2020
—ECEHF
HK$’000
FET
Trade payables 2 5 RIE 5,998 9,323
Accruals and other payables JE T 3R IE N CH Ath FE A 5K IB
Accrued expenses JERT X 13,869 17,754
Advanced from customers BEFP#X 4,422 4,250
Contract liabilities BHBEE 5,347 6,987
Other payables H b fE T 3B 1,724 2,322
Accruals and other payables JE & 3R IE % H fth FE < 5RIB 25,362 31,313
Less: non-current portion B IERBE D (766) (1,063)
Accruals and other JE &t SR I8 N HL b & 5 5RIE —
payables-current portion Vik2Eia) 24,596 30,250

Payment terms granted by suppliers are mainly on credit. The
credit period ranges from 30 to 90 days.

For the year ended 31 March 2020, HK$6,987,000 (2019:
HK$4,597,000) of revenue recognised was included in the
contract liabilities balance at the beginning of the period.

The ageing analysis of the trade payables based on invoice
date was as follows:

HEFRENNREREZZEAEE-
ZEHNF30H £90H

HE-_T-_ZTF=-A=+—HLHF
BRI 6,987,000 T ( —
LT — N F 4,597,000 L) B 5t A
HyEHaEsRE-

EoRNRBEBENBEZHHOER
DT

2020 2019

—EEHF —ZT-NEF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FTERT FET

0 - 30 days 0&30H 4,091 5,495
31 - 60 days 31260H 1,265 2,330
61 — 90 days 61290H - 763
Over 90 days B E90H 642 735
5,998 9,323

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade payables are
mainly denominated in Hong Kong dollars.
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BB ERRMT

20 B8

29 Borrowings

2020 2019
—EEHF —ET-hnF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FE&xT FHE T

Current mE
Trust receipt loans S BIEE R 1,208 2,022
Bank overdrafts RITEX - 2,998
Bank loans RITER 19,949 20,923
21,157 25,943

The table below analyses the Group’s borrowings into relevant
maturity groups based on the scheduled repayment dates
set out in the loan agreements and ignore the effect of any
repayment on demand clause:

TRAAKEREE K M E
E%&MEH\;@HZ AR B EE
DA A AT IR ERKEE K

B By BB .
/TAE"]E&%-

2020
—EC-EHF
HK$’000
FTET
Within 1 year —FR 2,212 6,001
Between 1 and 2 years —EMF 1,026 1,003
Between 2 and 5 years MEERF 3,220 3,149
Over 5 years AEE 14,699 15,790
21,157 25,943
Bank borrowings contained a repayment on demand clause RITEBEEBSRITUEEST EZ&
which enables the bank to exercise at its sole discretion. EREBERF B 25 &892 H
Accordingly, the entire balance was classified under current AmEIAE-
liabilities.
The carrying amounts of borrowings are denominated in Hong RZZTEZEFR_ZFT—-—NLF=ZA
Kong dollars as at 31 March 2020 and 2019. =+—B EBENREEABITE
(@ o

—_—
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29 Borrowings (continued)

The weighted average effective interest rates per annum were

29 fHE

MEFHERFRNERMT

as follows:

2020 2019

g 323 —T-NF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FExT FHET

Trust receipt loans S IEE R 3.70% 4.07%

Bank overdrafts RITHEX - 4.00%

Bank loans RITER 2.25% 2.25%
The fair values of the borrowings approximate to their carrying RZZEZZEFEFRZZT-NAEFE=A
amounts as at 31 March 2020 and 2019 as all the borrowings =+t—H EEXNA fc (ERERER N

carry interests which are benchmarked against Hong Kong
Dollar prime rate or Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate
(*HIBOR”), where relevant.

The borrowings of the Group are subject to financial
covenants and the Group is in compliance with the financial
covenants as at 31 March 2020 and 2019.

As at 31 March 2020, the borrowings of the Group were
secured by personal guarantees provided by a related party
of the Group (Note 34(c)). Included in bank loans to the extent
of approximately HK$19,949,000 (2019: HK$20,923,000) are
mortgage loans which are secured by properties of the Group
of approximately HK$60,290,000 (2019: HK$62,503,000)
(Note 16).
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CX b e
30 Deferred income tax 30 EEFBB
The analysis of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities BERBEBEEMELEHBEES T
is as follows: XZD Lk
2020 2019
—E-EHF —ZE-NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FHE T
Deferred tax assets BEETIEEE
— Deferred tax assets to be recovered ~ — B+ — {8 B & U@ HY
after more than 12 months BB IREE 2,134 2,313
Deferred tax liabilities BLEHRBEE
— Deferred tax liabilities to be recovered —iBi@+ — 1@ A 1% Y@ &9
after more than 12 months EERIEAE (6,348) (6,901)
Deferred tax liabilities — net FEEFTEE E - F5E (4,214) (4,588)
The gross movements on the deferred income tax account are BIEFMGEHERE NEEENT
as follows:
2020 2019
—E-EHF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FHET
At beginning of year REA) (4,588) (5,366)
Credited to the consolidated ReEfiBERPETA
profit and loss (Note 14) (Bt5E14) 374 778
At end of year RER (4,214) (4,588)
The movements in deferred income tax assets and liabilities BEFEHEERBERFR( ﬂi
for the year, without taking into consideration the offsetting of A:% BR—BHERNEHREE) K
balances with the same tax jurisdiction, are as follows: ER NS

Accelerated tax depreciation

b 3R B 1E I B
2020 2019
—EC-EHF —ZT-NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTET FHT
Deferred tax liabilities BETRIARE
At beginning of year NG (7,992) (9,397)
Credited to the consolidated REHEREPFA A
profit and loss 1,201 1,405

At end of year RER (6,791) (7,992)
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30 Deferred income tax continueq)

30 JEEFTFB 0

Tax losses
RIEEHE
2020
—E-EF
HK$’000
FTET
Deferred tax assets RIEHIBE E
At beginning of year REH] 3,404 4,031
Charged to the consolidated RaftBEmP R
profit and loss (827) (627)
At end of year RER 2,577 3,404
Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax losses EEFTS M EET AN IR

carry-forwards to the extent that the realisation of the
related tax benefit through future taxable profits is probable.
The Group did not recognise deferred income tax asset of
HK$2,998,000 (2019: HK$3,394,000) in respect of tax losses
amounting to HK$13,212,000 (2019: HK$16,050,000). These
unrecognised tax losses can be carried forward to offset
against future assessable profits and have no expiry date in
2020 (2019: Nil).

31 Dividends

The dividends paid in 2020 amounted to approximately
HK$8,800,000 (2019: HK$13,200,000). At the meeting held

on 24 June 2020, the Board did not recommend the payment
of a final dividend for the year ended 31 March 2020.

31

FMNEMSEBRRKERE &M E
MMt 2 MIEBEEEL R
ReAEEBT EMAERIBEE
13,212,000 T (=& — L &F:

16,050,000/ 7T ) B K IELERTS

& E2,998,0008 T (— T — jL$
3,394,000 L) - M-_TE_Z&F >
%Hﬁwmlﬁgﬂa‘ﬂ%m ﬁ?ﬁﬁ
ARFEZRH M BI &8 mEH
(ZZE—NF &)

R E
RZEZEFRFZ2BRBENA
8,800,000 T (=& — hLF:
13,200,000 L) - RZZE_FF
/\H—-I-IEEI?%’_E’JK@ FEH
eTERRNEE —TF¥=H

=t- EIJJ:iF“ZEE,HHHﬁ,%A

2020
—

2019
—EF-0%
HK$’000
T

HK$’000
FTERT

Proposed final dividend (2019:
HK1.60 cents) per ordinary share

EERARSSREBK

ZE—NF 1.60581) - 8,800
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32 Notes to the consolidated statementof 32 S§4fHRE&KRERM

cash flows

(a) BREMBRE

(@) Cash generated from operations

2020 2019
t- o 323 —T-NF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHx FET
Profit before income tax B P15 %5t B g ) 8,599 19,995
Adjustments for: BRATEEETHAE:
Depreciation of property, ME - BERIEZITE
plant and equipment 16 13,601 18,008
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ~ FREEEZITE 17 21,138 =
Losses on disposals of property, HEWE BERZHED
plant and equipment &8 7 1,325 1,350
Impairment loss on financial assets & Bl & & (B &8 1,117 1,595
Fair value losses/(gains) on financial  EBIBZHR AL BETIEKZ
assets at fair value through CREENAR(ER
profit or loss BB/ () 7 6,922 (648)
Recovery of trade receivables Yo [B 5% BT SH O B 5 e Uk
previously written off #IA 8 (24) (24)
Write off of trade receivables WEHE 5 R M kIR 8 - 109
Interest income from unlisted KEMEHFBHFOFBWA
bond securities 6 (9) (723)
Finance income BB WA 10 (2,902) (1,510)
Finance costs &R 10 2,090 743
Share of (profits)/losses of FE(HEE & N A2
associates Cafl),/EE 12 (249) 2,268
Share of profits of joint ventures EEA B %2 EF 13 (1,648) (2,494)
Release of exchange reserve upon BB — B A B11%
closure of a subsidiary BB N (5 326 =
Changes in working capital BEESEY
— Inventories ~-FE (772) 19
- Trade receivables —-B 5 EGRE 2,026 1,315
- Deposit, prepayments and e BENFEK
other receivables H fth & W FRIR 1,524 3,721
- Amounts due from —EREERRNIEA
related companies 2,549 2,486
- Trade payables -B SR N%E (3,325) (3,563)
- Accruals and other payables — FE 5T RIE K H b e FRIE (5,951) 4,857
- Amounts due to related parties — R BE R FUR (33) (302)
— Amount due to directors -ENEEHE (35) (45)
Cash generated from operations KEMERE 46,269 47,157
N
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32 Notes to the consolidated statementof 32 §HBREFRERM T

cash flows (Continued)

(a) REFMBHRE @)

REHRERERT HEWE K
FERRENMERARE:

(@) Cash generated from operations (continueq)

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, proceeds from
disposal of property, plant and equipment comprise:

2020

—ECEHF

HK$’000

FERT
Net book amount (Note 16) SR FE (MIsE16) 1,634 1,472

Loss on disposal of property, HEME  BEME&EEE

plant and equipment (Note 7) (FF7ET) (1,325) (1,350)
Proceeds from disposal & TS 5B 309 122

(b) Net debt reconciliation

(b) BB FEY R

AEHINEBFERZOMREL/
(B FRREMREE2ES -

This section sets out an analysis of net debt and the
movements in net cash/(debt) for each of the years presented.

Net cash/(debt)

nE (EHK) FHE

2020 2019

—EBC-EHF —E-NF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FExT FET

Cash and cash equivalents RehkBELEFMEER 101,525 123,664
Lease liabilities (2019: obligation HEAB(ZZE—N%F:
under finance lease BMEREBETEE

— repayable within one year) R—FEREE) (20,200) (1,868)
Lease liabilities (2019: obligation HMEAB(ZE—N%F:
under finance lease BMEMEBETTEE

- repayable after one year) MR —FEER) (17,004) (268)

Borrowings — repayable within one year EE —ER—FRNEE (21,157) (25,943)

Net cash ReFE 43,164 95,585
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32 Notes to the consolidated statementof 32 8 BEERERXRMT »
cash flows continueq)

(b) Net debt reconciliation (continueq) (b) EBRFEEER #

Liabilities from
financing activities
REEDELNER

Cash Borrowings
and cash due within

equivalents Leases 1 year Total
RERREE R—FR
EEE HE IHzEN At
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHT FHT FHAT

Net cash/(debt) as at 1 Aprl 2018 ~ RA-Z—\FWA—HZ

Re/ (E%) 38 89,524 (7,045) (24,592) 57,887
Cash flows BenE 34,475 5,169 (1,351) 38,293
Foreign exchange adjustments IMNE FE (335) - - (335)
Other non-cash investments HitFRe®RE - (260) = (260)

Net cash/(debt) as at 31 March 2019 A -Z—AF=ZA=+—H

2B/ (B%)FE 123,664 (2,136) (25,943) 95,585
Changes in accounting policies SHBREE (H52.2)

(Note 2.2) - (44,126) - (44,126)
Cash flows BehE (21,352) 20,634 4,786 4,068
Foreign exchange adjustments INEFE (787) - - (787)
Other non-cash investments HitFRe®kE - (11,576) - (11,576)

Net cash/(debt) as at 31 March 2020 R-Z-F&#=HA=+—H

ZBe/ (B%)FE 101,525 (37,204) (21,157) 43,164
Non-cash transaction: FERER5S:
The Group entered into lease arrangement in respect of BHE-_Z-_ZTF=-H=+—81
machinery with a total capital amount at the inception of the FE - AEENESTIMEN
lease of HK$2,804,000 for the year ended 31 March 2020 ExH HOFTLURNEARES
(2019: HK$260,000). 7’%2 804,000 L (=& — L &F:
260,000 7T ) °
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33 Commitments

(@) Capital commitment

Capital expenditure contracted for at the end of the year but
not yet incurred is as follows:

33 EiE
(a) EAEIE

FREATNERMARELENEARNFX
LI

2020 2019

—EB-EHF ZT-NF

HK$’000 HK$ 000

FHET FET

Property, plant and equipment M- BB KRFE 81 =
Investment in an associate iR /NEI R & 4,100 4,385

(b) Operating lease commitments - Group as lessee

From 1 April 2019, the Group has recognised right-of-use
assets for these leases, except for short-term and low-value
leases, see note 2.2 for further information.

The Group leases various stores and premises under
non-cancellable operating lease agreements. The lease terms
are between 1 and 5 years. The future aggregate minimum
lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases are as
follows:

Not later than 1 year —F AR

(b) REHEERE -—FEBMERE
A

BE-Z-AFOA-HE XA&EHE
EREHEERETRAEEE (&2
HREEBEMEERN) E—FEHR
FE2HME2.2

AEBEREBEIAMHECLEHE R Z
HRZEESREM -HEHRMH
—ERFAF-REIAMBELE
HE RARAZKEHEEMFBBELT

2019
—E-NF

HK$’000
TATT

17,978

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years —FUE-RAFAT 27,471

45,449
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B P SRR M R
33 Commitments continueq) 33 EiEw
(b) Operating lease commitments - Group as lessee (b) B&HERKE - K EBIEB X
(Continued) A

The Group leases machinery, office equipment and billboard
under non-cancellable operating lease agreements. The
lease terms are between 1 to 5 years. The future aggregate
minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating
leases are as follows:

—FUA

Not later than 1 year
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years

AEBRBTABELEHERHZ
ATEEE RAEREMESE -
HNF—ERF - REFATREL
EHE AXENKREREMNTA
BT

2019
—ZE-NF

HK$'000
TAET

718

—FUE-RFUT 2,473

3,191

(c) Operating lease commitments - Group as lessor

The Group leases out machinery and a property under
non-cancellable operating lease. The lease terms are between
1 to 2 years. The future minimum lease payments receivable is

(c) ReHEARE-FTEEER L

HA

AEBERBEIAIMELCEHELH
WBERDX-AHRE-—EMF - RK
Rz ZEREMNZMT :

as follows:
2020 2019
Sl 33 —E-hNF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FHET
Within 1 year —FLA - 216
Between 1 and 2 years —EWF - 216
- 432
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34 EEFRS
ME—F A EEREEEELTE

34 Related party transactions

Parties are considered to be related to the Group if the party

has the ability, directly or indirectly, to exercise control or REERKEBRERPEHAEETEIE
significant influence over the Group in making financial and FlENEATE N AIRZHER
operating decisions, or vice versa. Related parties may be SEERE RZTMA-BEFAIR
individuals (being members of key management personnel, BEABIEEEREAE TERRE
significant shareholders and/or their close family members) &/‘E?&:Wﬁ%ﬁ%fﬁkﬁ)‘i )
or other entities and include entities which are under the TR O BREY = Ef A8 A8 $ & E 7
significant influence of related parties of the Group where BEHEARTZENERB - ZHRAES
those parties are individuals. Parties are also considered to be 8 & 77 N4 %ﬁi\%ﬁ Eﬁ

related if they are subject to common control.

The directors of the Company are of the view that the ARAREERAB TIHEARAFA
following individuals and companies were related parties that REHAEEETRHHNIFLER
had transactions or balances with the Group: HBEET

Relationship with the Group
B 7 55 B B 17

Name of related party

BELER

Mr. Chan Kong Hung Chris
PR B 2 5 A

Non-controlling interests of a subsidiary of the Group

AEBM B AR IHERERTA A

Mr. Foo Pei Pan
EEW A

Non-controlling interests of a subsidiary of the Group

AEBEM B AR IHERERTA A

Mr. Cheng Sze Tok
BRELEE

Non-controlling interests of a subsidiary of the Group

AEBWNBARFFERERFAA

Ms. Wong Man Yee Non-controlling interests of a subsidiary of the Group

THELT REBMEBRREIERER TR A

CTP Limited Controlled by the directors of the Company
CTP Limited HARA B E EEH

e-print Solutions Sdn. Bhd. Joint venture of the subsidiary of the Group
e-print Solutions Sdn. Bhd. REBWHBRARNAEE

eprint Limited Ultimate holding company (Note i)

eprint Limited Sy NEIRQ T

Montana Capital Sdn Bhd
Montana Capital Sdn Bhd

King Profit International Limited

ENBERARAT]
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34 Related party transactions (continueq)

Name of related party
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BB ERRMT

34 BERRS =

Relationship with the Group

BELER

Protoss IT Sdn Bhd
Protoss IT Sdn Bhd

Profit More Rich Limited
RBEZHBRAA

Promise Properties Limited

REFNEARD T

Sakura Japan Property (Hong Kong)
Limited
B2 HE (BE)BRAA

e-post Limited
e-post Limited

Sakura Global Property Limited
BZIRIREEAR AT

VWV Limited
VVV Limited

Notes:

BEAKEER

Controlled by an joint venture of the Group

RAKES 2 XEH

Controlled by the directors of the Company
HARA A EEEH

Controlled by the directors of the Company
HARA A E

Associate of the subsidiary of the Group
REENE QR E QA

Associate of the subsidiary of the Group
RNE BB QR E & A A

Controlled by an associates of the Group

P N 5% [ Bt = 2 A2

Controlled by the directors of the Company
BHAR B EEES

GES

AR ElFfeprint LimitediZfl e AT T F R =

The Company is controlled by eprint Limited, which owns 56.9% of the i

Company’s shares as at 31 March 2020 and 2019, and is beneficially
owned by Mr. She Siu Kee William, Mr. Chong Cheuk Ki, Mr. Lam
Shing Kai, Mr. Leung Wai Ming, and Mr. Leung Yat Pang. The directors
consider eprint Limited, a company incorporated in the BVI, being the
immediate and the ultimate holding company.

T—NAFE=A=+—8 eprint LimitedBEE AR
F]256.9%M1D + WARABETE LA
MARELEE REREERR - BEEERE
- EERBeprint Limited (REBELZH ST
Mz 2 R E)) REEREEERAEF -

2019/20% 3 eprint EEERAT 225



A

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B PS5k

34 Related party transactions (continueq 34 BEEFRG

(a) Transactions with related parties (a) EHEAEFNRS
The following transactions were undertaken by the Group with AEBEEBEEFCETUTRS
related parties. In the opinion of the directors of the Company, ARREERBE BEIRIRIE
the related party transactions were carried out in the normal BEKAETRALEEES@EER
course of business and at terms negotiated between the P2 5E B iR AT ©

Group and the respective related parties.

2020 2019
—E-%F —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Rental expense of plants and NS EMREENRE X
machinery, premises, stores and M2 BT BIE R
carparks in Hong Kong payable FESHEEMAX
or paid
— CTP Limited —CTP Limited 5,263 5,272
— Profit More Rich Limited —RBEZEBERRAF] 720 720
— Promise Properties Limited —RERMERR AR 1,691 1,855
- VWV Limited - VWV Limited 2,220 1,965
— King Profit International Limited —ZEFNBEERER AR 486 486
10,380 10,298
Emolument payable or paid [ ANEASENE A
— Mr. Chan Kong Hung Chris — PR WY 5 A 788 827
— Mr. Foo Pei Pan — (BT E 788 827
— Mr. Cheng Sze Tok — B BEEL L 788 827
2,364 2,481
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34 Related party transactions (continueq 34 BEARS @
(a) Transactions with related parties (continueq) (a) EHEEFNRS ()
2020 2019
S i TN
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FHET
.T. license fee income receivable FE UL S B B SR 5
or received FFRI B WA
— e-print Solutions Sdn. Bhd. —e-print Solutions
Sdn. Bhd. 113 67
Subcontracting fee payable or paid ERzEoBEEA
— e-print Solutions Sdn. Bhd. —e-print Solutions
Sdn. Bhd. - 7
— Protoss IT Sdn. Bhd. —Protoss IT Sdn. Bhd. 20 2
20 9
Revenue from sales of goods and FER S EREEER &
services receivable or received PR 75 W 2
— e-print Solutions Sdn. Bhd. —e-print Solutions
Sdn. Bhd. 1,070 363
— Sakura Japan Property (Hong Kong) — 2T 8E (F8)
Limited BRAFA 9 130
— Sakura Global Property Limited —BIZRIKEEBRAA 56 25
— Protoss IT Sdn. Bhd. —Protoss IT Sdn. Bhd. 625 512
1,760 1,030
Rental income of store in Hong Kong FEU S B WA BB R IE 4
receivable or received el
— Sakura Japan Property B ABE(FH)
(Hong Kong) Limited BRAA] 36 198
Management fee income receivable FEW S B M E IR B WA
or received
— Sakura Japan Property —BZTHE(FE)
(Hong Kong) Limited BRAA]
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34 Related party transactions (continueq 34 BEEFRG

(b) Key management compensation (b) EEEBEAESFHMH
Details of the key management compensation are disclosed in TEEBAEBTM o FBEENN
Note 36. 7136 o

(c) Guarantees and securities provided by a related (c) EBE /5 FTiE LB R MK 7
party

Guarantees and securities provided by related parties for BESTHEER (M2 RHEAE
borrowings (Note 29) and lease liabilities (2019: obligations (ZE-NF mEMEEETAREMT)
under finance leases) were as follows: Frigft ERAMBEHRAOT

2020 2019
—g-8% —T-n%F

HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET TAT

Guarantees provided by a director of HASE—FHfRBAFZ

a subsidiary of the Group EERMER 35,793 47,753
Guarantee provided by a spouse of RASEE—HEHEA A
non-controlling interests of FEREEFAEALZ

a subsidiary of the Group fe B IR B R 13,025 19,025

48,818 66,778
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34 Related party transactions (continueq 34 BEAFRXS =
(d) Balances with related parties (d) EEREE &%

2020 2019
—g-®F —TAF

HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx TR

Amounts due from FEWEEEATRE
related companies

Sakura Japan Property (Hong Kong) BZAHE (BE)BRAA

Limited - 24
e-print Solutions Sdn. Bhd. e-print Solutions Sdn. Bhd. 103 10
Protoss IT Sdn. Bhd. Protoss IT Sdn. Bhd. 56 2,674

159 2,708
Certain directors of the Company and the following related AKARGETEENTAUATHEERTF
companies are in common. Pursuant to the Hong Kong ZEZREBEFBLQAEHIFE383(1)
Companies Ordinance Section 383(1)(d), the maximum O R REERBERT

amount outstanding are as follows:

2020

—g-%f

e —

HK$’000
FEx

Sakura Japan Property (Hong Kong) BZABE (BE)ERAF
Limited 24 24
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34 Related party transactions continueq) 34 BEAFRXE
(d) Balances with related parties (continueq) (d) EEREE R &8k (&)
The amounts due from related parties are unsecured, EREBEIFREAEHRE 2EK
interest-free and are repayable on demand. The fair values of REREE ZEHEHBNAAEA
these balances approximate their carrying values. HERMEMEMRS -
2020
—E-EH —ZE-NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Amounts due to related parties ESBESRE
e-post Limited e-post Limited 200 -
Sakura Japan Property (Hong Kong) BABE (FEB)BRAA
Limited 1 34
201 34
Amounts due to directors ENEERE
Mr. She Siu Kee RBELE 50 50
Mr. Chong Cheuk Ki ATEHAEA 35 35
Mr. Lam Shing Kai MAREL A - 35
Mr. Leung Wai Ming REREE 35 35
Mr. Poon Chun Wai & R B T A 15 15
Mr. Ma Siu Kit BIRREE 15 15
Mr. Fu Chung EREE 15 15
165 200
Lease liabilities HE&E
CTP Limited CTP Limited 11,054 -
Profit More Rich Limited BELZHBRAA 1,517 -
Promise Properties Limited RAEFMERR A A 3,560 -
VVV Limited VWV Limited 4,677 -
King Profit International Limited ZHNER AR AT 1,023 -
21,831 -
The payable balances with related parties and directors BEERMES 2 BNERHE
are denominated in Hong Kong dollars, unsecured, interest TEtE BEAREER RERKEEX
free and are repayable on demand. The fair values of these BE - ZSEHNALEBERAR
balances approximate their carrying values. HEMEE -
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35 Statement of financial position and

reserve movement of the Company

Statement of financial position of the Company

2E

35 ARNAUBMRRKRE FHE

ZNNCI R3O

2020 2019
—ECBE —E—NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
Assets BE
Non-current assets FERBEE
Investments in subsidiaries R B A RKRE 73,897 73,897
73,897 73,897
Current assets REEE
Prepayments and other receivables 8 ZX I8 & £ b & Uk k18 141 81
Financial assets at fair value FERBREAABEIEZ
through profit or loss TREE 25,182 4,145
Amount due from subsidiaries JE U B /B A B 3R IE 19,535 19,533
Amounts due from fellow AR Y DS NGTE
subsidiaries 110,090 121,984
Cash and cash equivalents RekReFHEEH 1,376 9,691
e 156324 155,434
Total assets wEE 230,221 229,331
Equity and liabilities R KkEE
Equity attributable to owners of AR & #A A (LS
the Company
Share capital A& A< 5,500 5,500
Share premium f&1n & & 132,921 132,921
Other reserves B fEE 91,030 90,194
Total equity M ARRE 229,451 228,615
Liabilities af
Current liabilities mEAE
Accruals FEETFIE 474 466
Amounts due to directors BN ZEEFIE 165 200
Current income tax payable FEHE BRFTIB R 131 50
Total liabilities ~®A&® 0N 718
Total equity and liabilities BmkBEBE 230,221 229,331
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35 Statement of financial position and 35 AREB BRI KK HEE
reserve movement of the Company B
(Continued)
Statement of financial position of the Company AATHBEMRRE 2
(Continued)
Note: B 5T
(@)  Reserve movements of the Company (@ ARAFEEED
Capital Retained
reserve earnings Total
BARGEE REBEA et
HK$’'000 HK$’000 HK$’'000
F#T FHIT FHIT
At 1 April 2018 WZZE—/\FMA—H 73,508 14,152 87,660
Profit for the year F R - 15,734 15,734
Dividends (Note 31) iR 8 (M15E31) - (13,200) (13,200)
At 31 March 2019 RZE—-NFE=A=+—H 73,508 16,686 90,194
Profit for the year F R - 9,636 9,636
Dividends (Note 31) &8 (PitEE31) - (8,800) (8,800)
At 31 March 2020 RZE-ZTF=RA=+—H 73,508 17,5622 91,030
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BB ERRMT

36 Benefits and interests of directors 36 ESFERER
(a) Directors’ emoluments (a) E =% A
Mr. She Siu Kee William is the chief executive officer of the RBEEEBEAEBENITHRAE -
Group. The emoluments of each director of the Company for AARBE_ZT_FTF=A=+—
the year ended 31 March 2020 is set out as below. HIEFESES2HMEINBAT -
Other
emoluments
paid or
receivable
in respect
of director’s
other services
in connection
with the
management
Estimated Employer's of the affairs of
money value of  contribution to the Company
Performance other benefits a retirement Share-based  or its subsidiary
Salaries bonuses (Notei)  benefit scheme payments undertaking
HEZEE
VNG ]
At ERIN AAEBBEM
FHRLEE EENRAER HtRBERS
FRIA (G RS BEAR ERRHEHS
Executive Directors H17E8
M. She Siu Kee Willam RBERE 600 282 868 102 18 - - 4,408
Mr. Lam Shing Kai (Note i) WAE L& (M) 158 - - - - - - 158
Mr. Chong Cheuk Ki (Note i) Fegi i (HsHi) 420 - - - - - - 420
Non-executive Directors FH7ES
Mr. Deng Xiaen (Note iv) BERLE (M) - - - - - - - -
M. Leung Wai Ming 2EREE 420 - - - - - - 420
Mr. Cai Qiang (Note v) 25 (M) - - - - - - - -

Independent Non-executive ~ BUFHTES

Directors

Mr. Poon Chun Wai BRELE 180 - - - - - - 180
Mr. Ma Siu Kit 3 Yk 180 - - - - - - 180
Mr. Fu Chung BRLE 180 - - - - - - 180

2,138 2,820 868 102 18 - - 5,946
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B HRRME

36 Benefits and interests of directors coninesy 36 BB RS R EZS @

(a) Directors’ emoluments (continueq) (a) EZHFM =)
Mr. She Siu Kee Wiliam is the chief executive officer of the RBEEERAEENITHRAR -
Group. The emoluments of each director of the Company for ARRBE-_F-NF=A=+—
the year ended 31 March 2019 is set out as below. BIEFESES2HMEIN DT

Other emoluments

paid or receivable

in respect of

director's other

Services in

connection with

the management

Employer's of the affairs of

Estimated money contribution the Company

Performance value of other to a retirement Share-based  or its subsidiary
Salaries bonuses  benefits (Note i)~ benefit scheme payments

Executive Directors HiTES

Mr. She Siu Kee Willam KBERE 600 2,820 1,102 R 18 - - 4,632

Mr. Lam Shing Kai RERE 420 960 0661 - 18 - - 2,059

Non-executive Directors FifES

Mr. Chong Cheuk Ki fegnE 40 - - - - - - 420

Mr. Deng Xiaen YERhE - - - - - - - -

Mr. Leung Wai Ming 2EREE 40 - - - - - - 420

Independent Non-executive ~ BIUFHTES

Directors

M. Poon Chun Wei ERAALE 180 - - - - - - 180

Mr. Ma Siu Ki SEAEE 180 - - - - - - 180

Mr. Fu Chung Bhis 180 > o = = = - 180

2,400 3,780 1,763 2 36 - - 8,071

Notes: ks

() Other benefits include insurance premium and medical allowances. 0] EMAReIERE RBEEM-

(i)~ Mr. Lam Shing Kai had resigned as an executive director with effect iy MEEEXEEHIHNTESFT B-F
from 16 August 2019. —NENA+BREEN-

(iily ~ Mr. Chong Cheuk Ki had re-designed from non-executive director to (iy FHERLECHIFRTEFHITRNT
executive director with effect from 16 August 2019. EE BT NFNATBREN-

(v)  Mr. Deng Xiaen had resigned as a non-executive director with effect vy HEBELECEBHINFATEE A-F
from 16 August 2019. —NENA+NBRER-

(v Mr. Cai Qiang was appointed as a non-executive director with effect v BRATRZERFHTERE B-F
from 16 August 2019. —NFENATRBERER

No Directors waived or agreed to waive any emoluments in  E_T_TFRT-NF=A

any of the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019. =+—BLEENEFE BEEEK

RHIREBERERTAME -
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(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Benefits and interests of directors coninueq)

Directors’ retirement benefits and termination
benefits

No Directors’ retirement benefits or termination benefits were
paid during the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019.

Consideration provided to third parties for
making available Directors’ services

The Company did not pay consideration to any third parties
for making available Directors’ services during the years ended
31 March 2020 and 31 March 2019.

Information about loans, quasi-loans and other
dealings in favour of Directors, controlled bodies
corporate by and connected entities with such
Directors

Save as disclosed in Note 34(d), no loans, quasi-loans and
other dealings were made available in favour of Directors,
body corporates controlled by and connected entities with
such Directors subsisted at the end of the year or at any time
during the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019.

Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in
relation to the Group’s business to which the Company was a
party and in which a director of the Company had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of
the year or at any time during the year (2019: Nil).

36

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

B H R

EENmRER

ESRARBARESRILERS
& 7

BE_ZT_ZTFR_ZF-NAF=H
St HALEFE - HEINEME
ERNRBHREZTRIERBREN -

RRUEERBAF =AM
KR E

2R T _TF=-_A=+—HRZ
E-NF=ZA=+—-HLFEE XK
NEVERRBEHRESTRERAE=T]
SAHEATARE ©

EE ZZSEESEFNEAN
EERZSEENHEETR 2
%% BERREMXRF &

BRB IS4 MBEE I BE-F
—EER-_T-NF=ZR=+—H
TFEREMERXFER IE
MEE XZFEFEHNEAR
BLZEZEENHETE hf =20}
EFCEERMELEMR

B
EERXRE REIEHNPH

EXER

AN BV RT S F RS F Rl B
B A2 I8 R AN SR 2 R A A
NAEFEEERYAMEEETHEEE
AEBZEARG THREH(Z
T-NF E)-

N
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Five-year Financial Summary

A FPBEE

2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
—EZEF —T-NEF ZE-N\F ZT—+tF ZT—RF
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$ 000
FET FATT TABTT TAETT FAETT
Result E
Year ended 31 March ®BZ=HA=+—H
IHEE
Profit attributable to ViN/NEIP Ess S TN
equity holders of JEAS 5 A
the Company 5,688 17,353 22,032 17,321 26,053

Assets and liabilites ZBERA®S

As at 31 March MR=A=+—H

Total assets WEE 327,602 310,673 311,157 312,829 299,158
Total liabilities BwaE (97,597) (76,155) (79,491)  (105,309) (92,327)
Net assets FEE 230,005 234,518 231,666 207,520 206,831
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